
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Sustainable Development Select Committee 
Agenda 

 
Tuesday, 24 January 2017 
7.00 pm, 
 
Committee room 3 
Civic Suite 
Lewisham Town Hall 
London SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact:  Timothy Andrew (02083147916) 
 
This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio recorded 
and/or filmed. 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2016 

 
1 - 8 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

9 - 12 

3.   Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 
 

13 - 18 

4.   Work and skills strategy implementation 
 

19 - 74 

5.   Animal welfare charter 
 

75 - 84 

6.   Catford Town Centre update 
 

85 - 124 

7.   Waste and recycling services update 
 

125 - 136 

8.   Select Committee work programme 
 

137 - 154 

9.   Items to be referred to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 



 

Sustainable Development Select Committee 
Members 

 
 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Tuesday, 24 January 2017.   
 
Barry Quirk, Chief Executive 
Thursday, 12 January 2017 
 
  

Councillor Liam Curran (Chair) 
 

Councillor Suzannah Clarke (Vice-Chair)  
Councillor Bill Brown  
Councillor Amanda De Ryk  
Councillor James-J Walsh  
Councillor Mark Ingleby  
Councillor Pauline Morrison  
Councillor Eva Stamirowski  
Councillor Pat Raven  
Councillor Paul Upex  
Councillor Alan Hall (ex-Officio)  
Councillor Gareth Siddorn (ex-Officio)  
  

   



 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT SELECT COMMITTEE 

Tuesday, 29 November 2016 at 7.00 pm 
 
PRESENT:  Councillors Liam Curran (Chair), Suzannah Clarke (Vice-Chair), 
Amanda De Ryk, James-J Walsh, Mark Ingleby, Pauline Morrison and Paul Upex  
 
APOLOGIES: Councillors Bill Brown and Eva Stamirowski 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Timothy Andrew (Scrutiny Manager), Kevin Chadd (Senior 
Planning Lawyer), Janet Senior (Executive Director for Resources & 
Regeneration) and Emma Talbot (Head of Planning) 
 
1. Minutes of the meeting held on 25 October 2016 
 
Resolved: that the minutes of the meeting held on 25 October be agreed as an 
accurate record.  
 
2. Declarations of interest 
 
2.1 Councillor Upex declared a non-prejudicial interest as a member of CAMRA 

(the campaign for real ale) in relation to item three. 
2.2 Councillor Curran declared a non-prejudicial interest as a member of CAMRA 

(the campaign for real ale) in relation to item three. 
 
3. Planning key policies and procedures 
 
3.1 Emma Talbot (Head of Planning) introduced the report. The following key 

points were noted:  
 

 There had been a number of recent changes to planning policy at the national 
and regional level. 

 Officers in Lewisham had started the process of preparing the new overarching 
Lewisham local plan. The Plan would replace the existing adopted Planning 
Policy documents – Core Strategy (2011); Site Allocations Local Plan (2013); 
Development Management Local Plan (2014); and Lewisham Town Centre Local 
Plan (2014). 

 Currently, the proposed timetable for the development of the new local plan 
was not being met. This was because of the work taking place on other 
planning documents and the wait for the Governmental guidance on the 
implementation of the provisions of the Housing and Planning Act. The earliest 
the new plan would be ready would be in 2018. 

 The Housing and Planning Act (2016) could have a significant impact on the 
planning regime and in particular on housing-led development.  

 The Mayor of London was in the process of issuing new guidance on his 
interpretation of the London Plan (2016). 

 It was likely that there would be changes to the provisions in the London Plan 
relating to affordable housing. The changes would also have an impact on the 
rules around density of new developments. 

 The draft supplementary planning guidance on viability indicated that new 
developments that committed to delivering 35 per cent affordable housing 
would not be required to produce a viability assessment. 



 
 
 

2 

 The Chancellor's Autumn statement also introduced an element of uncertainty 
for planning going forward. 

 In terms of pubs policy in Lewisham, officers believed that Lewisham’s 
development planning document for pubs had been successful in promoting 
delivery of new pubs and protecting Lewisham's existing establishments. 

 There had been recent planning applications for A4 (drinking establishment) 
usage and nine pubs were now listed as assets of community value. Adding 
pubs to the register of community assets removed the permitted rights of 
owners to change the usage of buildings with pubs in them without applying for 
planning permission. 

 
3.2 Emma Talbot (Head of Planning) and Janet Senior (Executive Director for 

Regeneration and Resources) responded to questions from the Committee. 
The following key points were noted: 

 

 Lewisham's previous plans would be subsumed into the single new local plan. 

 Officers would set out the key stages for the development of the Lewisham 
local plan for councillors. The explanation of the stages would also highlight the 
points at which councillors could become involved in local consultation and 
engagement activities. The likely next stage of the development of the Plan 
would be in summer 2017. 

 It was likely there would also be opportunities for councillors to be involved in 
the consultation on the new London Plan in autumn of 2017. 

 Officers would also provide the Committee with information about the key 
stages for regional planning documents. 

 Consultation on the Mayor of London's supplementary planning guidance for 
viability had just started.  

 Planning managers kept a log of issues that arose at planning committees to 
identify recurring issues and to improve future plan making. 

 The only issues that could be considered at planning committees were material 
planning considerations. Decisions had to be made in accordance with the 
planning policy framework (including national guidance), the London Plan and 
the Council’s planning policies (unless material planning considerations 
indicated otherwise). 

 The Council was going through a period of substantial and sustained change. 
Managers recognised that this presented challenges in terms of the capacity of 
some teams. There was currently a lot of policy work to be carried out and 
managers were considering the capacity, workload, resourcing and staffing 
distributions of teams across the Council. 

 There was a general shortage of planners in London so recruitment and 
retention of staff was difficult. The planning department were trying to send out 
the message that Lewisham was an attractive place to work. The Department 
had developed a career pathway to ensure that the borough was attractive to 
planning professionals. Managers also sought to attract planners to join 
Lewisham who had recently qualified. However, it was recognised that the 
recruitment of junior staff placed additional pressure on management. 

 Despite current challenges, the department consistently met its performance 
targets – and it had won awards for the quality of its work. The department also 
had a good level of success at defending appeals. 



 
 
 

3 

 Most of the department’s savings had been produced by increasing income 
rather than by reducing numbers of staff. Managers were aware that they 
needed to ensure that the right capacity was in place in the right teams. 

 Officers were considering the implications of new legislation, however, the 
provisions of the Housing and Planning Act had not been set out in detail. 

 The Act included proposals to force authorities to speed up planning 
permissions for ‘brownfield’ sites and to grant automatic planning permissions 
in some circumstances, which might have significant resource implications for 
the borough. 

 The Council had to show that it could deliver a five year housing supply. 
Without a sufficiently developed plan for delivering housing, the Council might 
lose the ability to decide where housing should be approved in the borough. 

 The Council’s strategic land assessment showed that sufficient housing could 
be delivered in the borough up until 2029 but plans for delivery needed to be 
set out in detail. 

 Planning officers were looking at new opportunity sites across the borough, 
beyond the current regeneration schemes in Deptford, Lewisham and Catford. 

 Officers were also looking closely at the implications of the Government’s 
proposals for business rate retention. Businesses and housing developments 
both provided a source of income for the Council. Business rate income had to 
be balanced against council tax income. 

 Planning officers looked at applications relating to employment land in terms of 
job density as well as in terms of square meters. Large areas of employment 
land (such as that used for storage or distribution) might provide very few jobs. 

 The Council had a strong policy against the subdivision of large houses into 
smaller units. However, there had been a number of decisions that had been 
appealed and won by developers. Officers were continuing to review the 
outcome and evidence base to provide a robust defence.  

 Unfortunately, there were not any applications being put forward for large 
homes so once large units were lost, they were gone forever. 

 There was currently a reprieve for a year on the monitoring of planning 
appeals. From next year, appeals would be monitored by Government. 
Authorities that lost many appeals would be forced into special measures. 

 There were no proposals for changes to the rules around development on land 
designated as open space.   

 The planning department was considering new methods of communication and 
the use of new technology. Changes to the Council’s IT would allow a greater 
level of information sharing between officers. 

 Officers believed that the pubs policy was working well and there were 
examples of new developments that included pubs. 

 Removing development rights with article four directions for pubs could be 
problematic because current guidance meant that there had to be a two year 
period before the direction could come into force, during which time a 
developer could exercise their rights to change a building with a pub in it to an 
alternative usage without applying for permission. 

 It might be possible to remove permitted rights for new pub developments 
when granting planning permission to prevent future change of use. 

 
3.3 In the Committee's discussions, the following key points were noted:  

 Members were concerned that there were issues of officer capacity in the 
planning department. 



 
 
 

4 

 There was apprehension about the high level of demand for housing in London 
and the possible pressure that local authorities might face to build on open 
spaces, such as parks and playing fields. 

 The Committee expressed its support for the retention of pubs in the borough. 

 The Committee was concerned about reports of a recent assault on an 
enforcement officer in the planning service. It was reported that the officer had 
now recovered and returned to work but that as a result of the attack, policies 
around safety and lone working had been reviewed. 

 The Committee recommended that officers introduce a planning condition for 
recent and future applications for developments with A4 (drinking 
establishment) usage in order to remove permitted development rights. 

 
Resolved: that the Committee’s views be referred to Mayor and Cabinet, as 
follows: 
 
3.4 The Committee recommends that officers review the effectiveness of the 

Council's policy on the protection of pubs. 
 
3.5 The Committee requests a diagram, which sets out all of the current local 

and regional planning policy documents. It asks that the key opportunities 
and dates for engagement with Councillors on the development of these 
plans be included. The Committee intends to actively participate in 
consultations and engagement activities for all key planning policies and 
procedures at a local level and, it wants to ensure that local views are 
represented in regional consultations as those opportunities arise. 

 
4. Planning enforcement 
 
4.1 Emma Talbot (Head of Planning) and Janet Senior (Executive Director for 

Resources and Regeneration) answered questions from the Committee; the 
following key points were noted: 

 

 Planning enforcement had not been integrated into the Council’s enforcement 
hub as part of the review of enforcement services across the Council. 

 The Council's enforcement activities and the work of the enforcement hub was 
regularly reviewed. It was recognised that there were some issues with the new 
hub in terms of the allocation of specialist and generic roles. 

 The review of enforcement activities had streamlined the exchange of 
information between teams inside and outside of the hub, as well as enabling 
greater levels of joint working. 

 An officer had been seconded between teams and joint work had taken place 
to deliver enforcement action against rogue landlords and brothels. 

 
Councillor Curran temporarily left the room at 20:35 (for approximately five 
minutes) and Councillor Clarke assumed the Chair. 
 

 There were no proposals to include building control services in the 
enforcement hub. 
 

4.2 In the Committee's discussions, the following key points were noted: 
  



 
 
 

5 

 The Committee was concerned about the absence of an effective customer 
relations management system, which it thought might enable members of the 
public to speak to any Council officer and have their case transferred to the 
correct service. 

 The Committee highlighted the problems that some service users experienced 
when the concerns they wished to report fell between the planning 
enforcement, building control and other enforcement services. 

 Members reiterated their concerns about the IT system being used by the 
planning department, which it was felt was unstable and unsuitable for users in 
the Council and for members of the public (this was also the subject of a 
referral by the Committee to Mayor and Cabinet in September 2016). 

 Officers were asked to ensure any future changes to the building control 
service would be reviewed by the Committee. 

 
Resolved: that the Committee’s views be referred to Mayor and Cabinet, as 
follows: 
 
4.3 The Committee recommends that further work be carried out to develop a 

customer relations management system for the Council's enforcement 
activities. The Committee is concerned that there is not a clear and 
collaborative approach, between teams dealing with enforcement activities at 
the Council, for dealing with reports of activities from residents that may 
require enforcement action. The Committee believes that a single, universally 
accessible management system for officers would help to manage the flow of 
information and complaints as well as improving the reputation of the Council 
in dealing with residents' concerns. 

 
4.4 The Committee believes that further clarity should be provided to residents 

for those cases in which building control and planning activities overlap. In 
particular, the Committee recommends that any letters issued to residents by 
either service include guidance about contacting the Council's other 
enforcement teams. 

 
5. Planning - use of S106 and CIL 
 
5.1 Emma Talbot (Head of Planning) and Janet Senior (Executive Director of 

Resources and Regeneration) responded to questions from the Committee. 
The following key points were noted: 

 

 Improvements had been made to the decision making process for the 
distribution of section 106 and CIL (community infrastructure levy) monies. The 
intention was to align the process with the Council’s capital programme 
priorities. 

 Work was also taking place with neighbourhood groups on the development of 
their neighbourhood plans. Local assemblies would also be asked for their 
input, in the interests of transparency and openness. 

 There would always be a need to make difficult decisions about spending but 
the current proposal, to create a single, annual process for the agreement of 
capital and S106/CIL funds for the following year would ensure the involvement 
of members and improve transparency with community.  



 
 
 

6 

 It was intended that there would be more detail in the budget report about 
capital funding, which would make the Council’s plans for allocation of CIL 
funding more up-front and transparent. 

 There were representatives from different directorates on the regeneration 
board. However, Mayor and Cabinet took the ultimate decision on major 
spending proposals. There was delegated authority to the Head of Planning to 
allocate smaller amounts of funding. 

 There were legal tests applied to section 106 funding to ensure it was fair and 
related to the development providing the funding. CIL funding was not ring-
fenced in the same way. There were less restrictions. 

 There was a commitment from the planning department to ensure that the 
Council spent all of the pots of money collected and to move projects along 
that were not meeting their principal aims. 

 Some London Boroughs defined their whole area as a ‘local area’ for the 
purposes of distributing CIL funding. In Lewisham, the allocation of spending 
was proposed to be localised to wards. However, the new system of allocating 
funding would allow for some joined up allocation of spending between wards, 
where there was agreement by stakeholders. 
 

5.2 In the Committee's discussions, the following key points were noted:  
 

 The Committee was concerned that neighbourhood forums might not be 
representative of their local populations. Members asked whether a pro-forma 
constitution could be provided to groups planning to establish neighbourhood 
forums in order to ensure that they included councillors in their membership. 

 There were also concerns about whether local CIL spend should be decided by 
ward assemblies. The Committee indicated that it would review the issue again 
in future.   

 There was concern about the sustainability of neighbourhood forums. Members 
noted the large sums of CIL funding that would be allocated to these groups. 
The Committee asked whether there were mechanisms in place to return 
funding to the Council in the case that a neighbourhood forum failed. 

 The Committee asked whether a process could be put in place to distribute 
funding from areas with high levels of funding to those with less. 

 The Committee wanted to better understand the decision making process in 
relation to the allocation of funding. It was not clear whether funding decisions 
were for the Executive or full Council or whether they were delegated to 
officers or to Strategic Planning. 
 

Resolved: that the Committee’s views be referred to Mayor and Cabinet, as 
follows: 
 
5.3 The Committee is concerned about the sustainability of neighbourhood 

forums. It is also concerned that neighbourhood forums might not be 
representative of their local populations.  

 
5.4 The Committee recommends that the Council produce guidance for groups 

establishing neighbourhood forums, to encourage the inclusion of local 
councillors in their membership.  

 



 
 
 

7 

5.5 The Committee also recommends that conditions be placed on funding 
allocated to neighbourhood forums to ensure that, should a forum fail, any 
funding it has been allocated will be returned to the Council for reallocation. 

 
6. Planning - annual monitoring report 
 
Resolved: that the report be noted. 
 
7. Information item: annual parking report 
 
Resolved: that the information item be noted. 
 
8. Select Committee work programme 
 
8.1 Timothy Andrew (Scrutiny Manager) introduced the report. The Committee 

agreed the following changes to the work programme:  
 

 An update on the animal welfare charter would be added to the agenda of the 
Committee’s January meeting, in order to consider the content before a 
decision is taken by Mayor and Cabinet. 

 The item on sustainable energy; the update on the modern roads review and 
the update on the high streets review would all be moved to the Committee’s 
meeting in March.  

 
Resolved: that the changes to the agenda for the meeting on 24 January be 
agreed. 
 
9. Items to be referred to Mayor and Cabinet 
 
9.1 The Committee resolved to advise Mayor and Cabinet of the following: 
 

 The Committee commends the new Head of Planning. The Committee places 
on record its thanks for the work officers undertake to engage with elected 
members. 

 
Resolved: that the Committee’s views under items three, four and five be referred 
to Mayor and Cabinet. 
 
The meeting ended at 9.30 pm 
 
Chair:  
 ---------------------------------------------------- 
 
Date: 
 ---------------------------------------------------- 





Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Title Declaration of interests 

Contributor Chief Executive Item 2 

Class Part 1 (open) 24 January 2017 

 
Declaration of interests 
 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda. 
 
1. Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member 
Code of Conduct: 
 
(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2) Other registerable interests 
(3) Non-registerable interests 

 
2. Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or 
gain 

 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 

by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the 
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a 
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial 
benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they 

are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the 
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, 
services or works. 

 
(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f) Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 

Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest.   

 
(g)  Beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
 

(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land 
in the borough;  



(b) and either 
 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
3.  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 

were appointed or nominated by the Council 
(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 

purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25 

 
4. Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely 
to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more 
than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is 
not required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

  
5.  Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation 

 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 

present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any 
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw 
from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest 
which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’ 
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to 
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the 
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before 
the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in 



consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below 
applies. 

 
(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 

disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a 
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think 
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the 
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to 
influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a 

member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect 
those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to the 
declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable 
interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s 

personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the 
advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
6. Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not 
be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and 
advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

 
7. Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. 
These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 

relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 
(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 

or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless 
the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which 
you are a governor;  

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e) Ceremonial honours for members 
(f) Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 





Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Title Responses to referrals 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 3 

Class Part 1 (open) 24 January 2017 

 
1. Purpose 
 

To advise the Committee of responses to its referrals. 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 The Committee is recommended to receive the response to its referral, as set out 

below. 
 
3. Responses to referrals 
 
3.1 At its meeting on 11 January 2017, Mayor and Cabinet considered a response to a 

Committee referral on Catford. This response is appended to the report. 
 
4. Financial implications 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from the implementation of the 

recommendations in this report.  
 

5. Legal implications 
 
5.1 The Constitution provides for Select Committees to refer reports to the Mayor and 

Cabinet, who are obliged to consider the report and the proposed response from 
the relevant Executive Director; and report back to the Committee within two 
months (not including recess). 
 
Background documents 

 
Minutes of the meeting of Mayor and Cabinet on 11 January 2017 (link) 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=4352&Ver=4




Mayor and Cabinet 

Title Response to Sustainable Development 
Committee - Catford Regeneration – 
Referral 2 

Item No  

Contributors Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration 

Class Part 1 Date 11 January 2017 

 
1. Purpose of paper:  
 
1.1 At its meeting on 12 May 2016, the Sustainable Development Select Committee 

held discussions on the Catford Regeneration Programme update and resolved 
to advise Mayor and Cabinet of their views.  

 
1.2 Mayor and Cabinet was advised of the views of Sustainable Development 

Select Committee on 1 June 2016 and a response was requested from the 
Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration to the issues raised. This 
paper sets out the response. 

 
 
2.  Recommendations:   
 

The Mayor is asked to:  

2.1 approve the officer response to the referral by the Sustainable Development 
Select Committee on the Catford Regeneration Programme, and 

 
2.2 agree that this report should be forwarded to the Select Committee. 
 
3. Referral from Sustainable Development Select Committee: 
 
3.1 The Committee were pleased with the funding being made available by the GLA 

in its designation of Catford town centre as a Housing Zone. The Committee 
felt a clear vision for the future of Catford Town Centre should be developed 
instead of a fragmented approach, and that the feel and attraction of the centre 
of Catford to its residents, workers, pedestrians, cyclists and its visitors 
depended on establishing places where everybody feels accepted, relaxed and 
excited to be. The town centre should be designed to feel loveable, liveable, 
joyful and iconic.  

 
3.2 The Committee felt strongly that the local community should be involved in and 

consulted on their vision for Catford and that such consultation should happen 
before the appointment of developers. The Committee urged that the 
consultation be used an opportunity for the Council to engage closely with the 
local community in future plans for the town centre and innovative consultation 
methods should be considered. The aim should be to identify the reasons 
people chose to live or spend time in Catford and to develop a shared vision for 
the lifestyle that Catford should offer its residents and visitors. 



 
3.3 The Committee also noted the strength of feeling from local residents that had 

been expressed previously on planning applications for developments in 
Catford. It was recognised that the level of interest in the future of Catford was 
a significant asset for any future consultations on plans for the area.  

 
3.4 The Committee was concerned that piecemeal development had already begun 

when a planning application for Former Catford Greyhound Stadium, Adenmore 
Road SE6 4RH was considered at a recent meeting of the Strategic Planning 
Committee. 

 
3.5 The Committee felt that any decision on realignment of the South Circular 

through Catford would have major impacts, both for the traffic flow for buses 
and cars as well as for the quality of public space in the town centre. The 
Committee noted that Transport for London had previously presented their 
designs for the South Circular to the Committee, and hopes that Transport for 
London will weigh their concerns around the quality of the environment for 
pedestrians accordingly. While appreciating that progress depended on a 
decision by Transport for London on whether to realign the South Circular 
(A205), the Committee requested that a clear timeline be established for the 
regeneration programme outlining the order of any key decisions, and that this 
should be shared with the Committee. The committee strongly felt that the 
South Circular should be relocated as originally planned in order to achieve the 
town centre vision built around the theatre and a central piazza. 

 
 

4.0 Executive Director’s response: 
 
4.1 Officers note the Committees’ aspirations for Catford Town Centre to feel 

loveable, liveable, joyful and iconic, and agree with them. The decision taken 
by the Mayor to approve the master-plan approach to development in Catford 
supports the delivery of a clear and holistic vision for the town centre and any 
future development, instead of a fragmented approach. 

 
4.2 Officers have been working on producing an engagement strategy for the 

Catford Regeneration Programme, specifically looking at how the local 
community can be involved and engaged in the regeneration of Catford. 
Officers have attended and presented updates on the regeneration programme 
at both Rushey Green and Catford South Ward Assemblies. Urban Narrative 
have been appointed to assist in engagement, and the ‘Catford Conversations’ 
are planned to be held with Ward Members in January and with the local 
community in Spring 2017. Innovative consultation and engagement methods 
are being considered, and officers intend to utilise an online engagement tool 
that will enable an on-going ‘conversation’ between the Council and the local 
community throughout the development of the masterplan and the regeneration 
process. 

 
4.3 Officers are aware of the need to guard against a piecemeal approach to 

development and this is one of the reasons why a masterplanning approach 
has been recommended. 

 



4.4 Officers agree that the realignment of the South Circular through Catford will 
have major impacts. Officers have been working closely and productively with 
TfL, to ensure that their designs for re-alignment maximise improvements for 
pedestrians, cyclists and public realm and do not just focus on improved traffic 
flow. Lewisham officers and TfL recognise that the Catford scheme is about 
place-making and town centre regeneration, not just about highways 
infrastructure improvements. TfL are currently completing traffic modelling on 
some options for the road re-alignment, while Lewisham officers are 
undertaking a comprehensive options analysis process of TfL’s suggested 
options. The aspiration at this point in time is to brief Sustainable Development 
Select Committee on 8th March 2017, prior to a report going to Mayor and 
Cabinet on the 22nd March. These timescales are subject to TfL completing their 
modelling in time, and Lewisham officers being comfortable that the options 
have been fully analysed from a technical perspective. 

 
4.5 The vision for Catford is being built around the central heart of the theatre, and 

the options that TfL are suggesting all increase public realm around the 
theatre.  Officers recognise the need to enhance public realm, create better 
spaces, and celebrate the theatre as an attractive destination and an iconic 
feature of Catford Town Centre. 
 
For further information please contact Kplom Lotsu, SGM Capital Programme 
Delivery 0208 3149283 





Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Title Work and Skills Strategy 2016 - 2018: update on Progress 

Contributors 
Head of Strategy; Executive Director for Resources and 

Regeneration 
Item 4 

Class Part 1 (open) 24 January 2017 

 
 
1.  Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1 This report presents and updates the committee on the progress of implementing the 

Work and Skills Strategy: 2016-2018. 
 
 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the Committee note the progress to date on the Work and Skills Strategy 2016 

- 2018. 
 
 
3.  Policy context 
 
3.1 The Mayor acknowledged his continued commitment to issues around  employment 

in his AGM speech in March 2015:  
 

“[Lewisham] is a place where people want to live – somewhere that offers 
proximity to employment in Central London or Docklands, somewhere that has 
good links to the transport network within the city and beyond, somewhere that 
offers a great quality of life with good schools, parks and public services. 
Lewisham isn’t an employment hub but as technology makes it possible to 
work differently and the success of London creates new demands we can see 
our residents and local businesses seizing the opportunities which are opening 
up. Cultural and Media businesses are growing and the presence of a 
successful University with a worldwide profile furthers strengthens the offer that 
Lewisham has.” 

 
3.2 This vision ties in with Shaping Our Future: Lewisham’s Sustainable Community 

Strategy, and in particular with two priorities:  
 

 dynamic and prosperous - where people are part of vibrant communities and 
town centres, well connected to London and beyond and  

 ambitious and achieving - where people are inspired and supported to fulfil their 
potential.  

 
 
 
 



4.  Background 
 
4.1 The original 2013 – 2015 work and skills strategy was developed following the Work 

and Skills Summit Meeting held in April 2013 and agreed by Mayor and Cabinet on 
8th June 2013. It was developed by officers in conjunction with partners including 
Jobcentre Plus, Work Programme providers, Lewisham and Lewisham Southwark 
College and the four main housing providers. The objectives of the strategy were: 

 

 To enable more excluded residents to access and benefit from services; 

 To enable more excluded residents into sustained employment; 

 To increase opportunities for progression in employment; 

 To derive greater value from existing employment-related expenditure and 
services. 

 
4.2 The 2013 – 2015 strategy was revised in the autumn of 2015. The refreshed Strategy, 

(now 2016-18) went to Sustainable Development Select Committee on 22nd October 
2015. 

 
4.3 The refreshed Work and Skills strategy for 2016 – 2018 has been attached to this 

report as Appendix A. 
 
 The strategy includes an update of the evidence provided in the 2013 – 15 strategy 

and a number of actions under the following 6 headings: 

 Develop strong partnerships across all sectors 

 Develop improved labour market intelligence 

 Maximise social value opportunities with employers and enterprise 

 Improving local skills training to equip adults for work opportunities 

 Deliver employment support for those with the most complex needs 

 Encourage residents in employment to progress 
 
4.4 At the time of the Committee meeting in October 2015, the residents of Lewisham 

were starting to see signs of the economic recovery that was being reported across 
London following the economic recession of 2008 with 74.8% of residents reported 
as in employment (i.e. those who have done some paid work in the reference week 
(employee or self-employed); those on government-supported training and 
employment programmes; and those doing unpaid family work in the period from 
January 2014 – December 2014. This had risen from 70.3% in the same period of 
2012 and it was above the London average of 71.2% at the time.1  

 
4.5 The number of residents on Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) had dropped steadily from 

5% of the working age population (10,047 residents) to 2.9% (5,762 residents) over 
the period of the previous Work and Skills Strategy. However this was still above the 
London and national averages of 2.1 and 2% respectively.2 

 
4.6 The most recent employment figures available (November 2016) shows that there 

continues to be a downward trend in the claimant count across all age groups over 
the last year except for the 50plus which has been creeping up. In addition there 

                                            
1 https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157254/report.aspx?town=lewisham 
2 ibid 



continues to be more men claiming JSA but the figures for women are higher for 
ESA, Carers allowances etc. 

 
4.7 Welfare reform continues to have a transformative and profound impact upon 

Lewisham residents. Universal Credit roll out started in December 2016 in Lewisham 
 
4.8 As confidence returns and the number of job opportunities across London continues 

to rise, Lewisham needs an appropriately skilled labour force to compete for these 
opportunities. We will continue to target our most vulnerable residents to ensure that 
they are able to benefit from growth and opportunities in Lewisham and across 
London.  

 
 
5 Reflections of progress made during 2016 
 
5.1 A great deal of progress has been made in implementing the actions set out in the 

Work and Skills Strategy Action Plan 2016-18. Our main success over the last year 
has been the Pathways to Employment Programme. 

 
 
5.2 The Pathways to Employment programme is run jointly with London Boroughs of 

Lambeth and Southwark. Now in its second phase, the success of the first pilot and 
our continued work has meant that Pathways is now seen as the accepted model of 
good practice in providing employment support with individuals with complex needs. 
The Work and Pensions Select Committee’s 2015 welfare-to-work report highlighted 
Pathways as a model of excellent practice, recommending its key principles be 
adopted on a national scale, and the Work and Health programme starting in 2018 
currently being commissioned by DWP is based on its principles.  

 
5.3 Over the next year we will continue to work on our long-term ambition of a joined up 

locally co-commissioned employment, skills and welfare system. We will be working 
with DWP and the successful provider for Work and Health Programme to make sure 
that the programme works for Lewisham residents. 

 
5.4 We will also be working with the GLA to implement a devolved skills system and we 

will be working together on construction skills as well as pursuing new opportunities 
to join-up employment support and mental health.  

 
5.5 The Partnership we have established through delivering the Lewisham Work and 

Skills Strategy with Jobcentre Plus, GLA, DWP, housing providers especially Phoenix 
and Lewisham Homes, employment support organisations, neighbouring boroughs 
and others gives us strength to tackle future challenges and a platform to take on 
devolved responsibilities. 

 
5.6 A summary of the progress made against the specific actions in the Work and Skills 

Strategy 2016 – 18 Action Plan can be found attached as Appendix B 
 
 
 
 



6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 Under S1 of the Localism Act 2011 the Council has a general power of competence 

to do anything which an individual may do unless it is expressly prohibited. 
 
6.2 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty     

(the equality duty or the duty).  It covers the following protected  
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil  
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and  
sexual orientation. 

 
6.3 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 

need to: 
 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 
6.4  It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, 

victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or 
foster good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals 
listed above.  

 
6.5  The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision 

and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in 
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must understand the 
impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who 
are potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary 
from case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the 
circumstances. 

 
6.6  The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on the 

Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council 
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention 
is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical 
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This 
includes steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The 
guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, 
as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The 
statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-
practice 

 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-
technical-guidance  

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance


 
6.7 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five 

guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:  

 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 
 Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making 
 Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities 
 Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities 
 Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities 

6.8 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including 
the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what 
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, 
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed 
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and 
resources are available at:  
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-
equality-duty-guidance#h1 

 
 
 
7. Financial Implications 
 
7.1  The projects outlined in this report are being funded from the existing Revenue 

Budget or by the named partners. 
 
7.2 Where appropriate and possible, additional funding will be sought from the European 

Social Fund, the Job Centre’s Flexible Support Fund or other grant funding sources 
to implement the aims of the strategy. 

 
8.  Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
8.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 
9.  Environmental Implications 
 
9.1 There are no immediate environmental implications arising from this report.  
 
10.  Equalities Implications 
 
10.1 Our vision and ambition for our borough is that:  
 

“Together we will make Lewisham the best place in London to live work and 
learn.” 

 
This is underpinned by hard-edged principles for: 

 

 reducing inequality – narrowing the gap in outcomes for citizens 
 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/691
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/562
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/820
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/1461
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/838
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1


 delivering together efficiently, effectively and equitably -  ensuring that all 
citizens have appropriate access to and choice of high quality local services 

 
10.2 The Council’s Comprehensive Equality Scheme (CES) for 2012-16 provides an 

overarching framework and focus for the Council's work on equalities and helps ensure 
compliance with the Equality Act 2010. 

 
10.3 The Council equality objectives through the CES include: 
 

 improve access to services; 
Take reasonable steps to ensure that services are inclusive; responsive to risk; 
physically accessible and provided through the most efficient and effective 
channels available.  

 

 close the gap in outcomes for citizens; 
Take reasonable steps to improve life chances for citizens by reducing outcome 
gaps that may exist within the borough as well as those that may exist between the 
borough and elsewhere. 

 

 increase participation and engagement. 
Take reasonable steps to remove barriers that may exist to engagement and help 
residents (especially those who are under-represented) to participate in local 
decision making and influence local decisions. 

 
10.4 The strategy addresses the Council’s equality objectives as it includes measures to 

improve access to services for our most vulnerable residents particularly through the 
implementation of the Local Services Support Framework. The core aim of the 
strategy is to provide a framework for DWP/the Council and other partners to work to 
reduce the number of residents on the JSA register, this supports our equality 
objectives as increased number of residents will participating in work related activity. 

  



 
11. Background Papers 
 

Short Title of 
Document 

Date File Location Contact Officer 

Mayor’s 
Annual 
Report, 2013 

20th March 2013 Online at: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.
gov.uk/documents/s23617/Work
%20and%20Skills%20Strategy%
20Appendix.pdf 

Fenella Beckman 

Sustainable 
Development 
Select 
Committee 
 

22nd October 2015 Online at: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.g
ov.uk/documents/s39194/03Work
AndSkillsCoverReport221015.pdf 
 

Fenella Beckman 

Mayor and 
Cabinet  
 

09th December 
2015 

Online at: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.g
ov.uk/documents/s40224/Works
%20and%20Skills%20Strategy.p
df 
 

Fenella Beckman 

 
 
11.1 If you would like further information on this report please contact Robyn Fairman, 

Head of Strategy, on 020 314 6635. 
 
Appendix A – Work and Skills Strategy 2016 – 2018 
 
Appendix B – Work and Skills Strategy action plan 
 
 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s23617/Work%20and%20Skills%20Strategy%20Appendix.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s23617/Work%20and%20Skills%20Strategy%20Appendix.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s23617/Work%20and%20Skills%20Strategy%20Appendix.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s23617/Work%20and%20Skills%20Strategy%20Appendix.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s39194/03WorkAndSkillsCoverReport221015.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s39194/03WorkAndSkillsCoverReport221015.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s39194/03WorkAndSkillsCoverReport221015.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s40224/Works%20and%20Skills%20Strategy.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s40224/Works%20and%20Skills%20Strategy.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s40224/Works%20and%20Skills%20Strategy.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s40224/Works%20and%20Skills%20Strategy.pdf




Work and Skills Strategy

2016 - 2018

1



Contents

2

Work and Skills Strategy

Chapter Title Page

Aspirations 3

Policy Context 4

London and the Changing Labour Market 6

Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark and the Changing 

Labour Market

13

Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market 18

Work Strands 29



Aspirations

3

London is changing – the city is experiencing rapid population and economic 

growth that is outstripping the rest of the UK. This is attracting people from all 

over the UK, and the world, to come to our city to live, work and learn. This 

Work and Skills strategy sets out how Lewisham and our partners plan to 

inspire and support our residents to fulfil their potential  and  ensure that 

Lewisham residents have access to new and future opportunities across the 

Capital.

Ambition

Economic growth is key to generating opportunities, but the economy is 

changing with large scale public sector job losses, a  hollowing out of the labour 

market and ongoing welfare reforms . This strategy describes how we can 

influence the market to allow our residents to share in the benefits that a 

burgeoning London economy can bring including accessing employment paid at 

the London Living Wage. This means upskilling all our residents and ensuring 

they are accessing the jobs market and/or are ready to progress in their current 

employment. This means providing dynamic employment support services that 

are focused on the wider London jobs market, constantly horizon scanning and 

offering the best possible return for local taxpayers. This means ensuring fair 

access to the opportunities on offer.

Growth

Lewisham is changing. Large scale construction projects are underway across 

the borough focussing on the ‘Regeneration and Growth areas‘ in Deptford, 

New Cross  and Lewisham and Catford town centres. Provision has been made 

for 17,100 new homes and at least 66,000 m2 of additional retail and leisure 

space. This will see economic growth providing opportunities for local 

residents, and population growth that will increase the competitiveness in the 

local jobs market. This Work and Skills strategy outlines how Lewisham and our 

partners will work together to enable our residents  to take advantage of the 

opportunities that come with growth.

Fairness

Work and Skills Strategy

This document supports Lewisham's wider regeneration strategy - “People, Prosperity, Place” – and outlines how 

the Council is working to drive growth and transformation in the borough. It sets out to align these priorities with 

the skills and employment requirements of our residents in a changing borough. It is underpinned by three key 

themes :

- Inspiring and supporting the ambition of our residents

- Lewisham and London have seen a rapid economic and population growth

- Creating a fair society where the benefits of growth are felt by all

In practice this means working with partners from across the health, business, education and government sectors 

to ensure that our residents have fair access to the best possible opportunities and are supported to achieve their 

ambitions. Our key partners in the delivery of this strategy will be:

- Job Centre Plus

- Local Housing Partners including Lewisham Homes and Phoenix Community Housing

- Local skills training providers including Lewisham and Southwark College

- Adult Learning Lewisham

- Lewisham businesses and third sector organisations

- Our neighbouring boroughs of Lambeth and Southwark



Lewisham Policy Context

4

Sustainable Community Strategy

Shaping our future is based upon a thorough analysis of the borough and its needs. It outlines 6 strategic priorities for 

the Council going forward to 2020:

Ambitious and achieving – where people are inspired and supported to fulfil their potential. 

Safer – where people feel safe and live free from crime, antisocial behaviour and abuse. 

Empowered and responsible – where people are actively involved in their local area and contribute to supportive 

communities.

Clean, green and liveable – where people live in high quality housing and can care for and enjoy their environment. 

Healthy, active and enjoyable – where people can actively participate in maintaining and improving their health and 

well-being.

Dynamic and prosperous – where people are part of vibrant communities and town centres, well connected to London 

and beyond. 

This Work and Skills Strategy will draw on these themes and focus in particular on helping build an ambitious and 

achieving  borough and take advantage of the opportunities on offer through the on-going investment in the Borough.

Lewisham Regeneration Strategy: People, Prosperity, Place

The updated regeneration strategy outlines the ongoing and upcoming investment in the borough and the 

opportunities that this presents. The Delivery Programme includes new and improved Housing, additional school 

places and improved transport infrastructure. This Work and Skills Strategy will aims to ensure our residents are 

suitably equipped to take full advantage of this investment.

Lewisham Business Growth Strategy 2013 - 2023

Lewisham’s Business Growth Strategy outlines three aims:

-To boost Lewisham’s contribution to the London economy by enhancing the ability of new and existing businesses to 

thrive and grow.

-To accelerate the expansion of the Lewisham economy by capitalising on major physical regeneration in the borough 

to create the right environment for business growth. 

-To diversify and expand the Lewisham economy by inspiring, nurturing and promoting the creativity and 

entrepreneurism of Lewisham residents.

Regeneration in the borough will support the aims of the business growth strategy and this Work and Skills Strategy 

will outline how we will equip our residents to develop the skills required by employers in the borough.

Lewisham Job Centre District Priorities

Local Job Centre Plus flexible support fund priorities include the following three strands that are supported by the 

evidence presented in this strategy and the actions being taken across the partnership.

-reducing 50+ unemployment

-reducing unemployment rates for women and young people where they are disproportionately high 

-continuing to address the Social Justice agenda including tackling Mental Health, Gangs, Drug & Alcohol

Achieving a healthier and happier future for all – Lewisham's Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2013

Health and Wellbeing has been defined by locally as:

“as a state of complete physical, mental and social wellbeing and chosen an approach to wellbeing as having the 

capability to do and be what you want in your life”

There are clear links with the Work and Skills agenda and given the importance of upskilling and employment in 

improving mental and physical wellbeing.

Work and Skills Strategy



Policy Context

5

London Enterprise Panel (LEP)

The Jobs and Growth Plan for London (GLA, April 2013) sets out the LEP’s approach to promoting growth and jobs. It 

outlines four priority areas: 

-Skills and employment – to ensure Londoners have the skills to compete for and sustain London’s jobs

-Micro, small and medium enterprises – to support and grow London’s businesses

-Science and technology – for the capital to be recognised globally as a world-leading hub 

-Infrastructure – to keep London moving and functioning. 

These priority areas align with Lewisham’s vision for growth in the borough. 

Raising Participation Age

As of the 2015/15 academic year all young people born after 1st September 1997 will be required to stay in work or in 

training until the age of 18. These changes are designed to give all young people the opportunity to develop the skills 

they need for adult life and to achieve their full potential. The legislation places a duty on Local Authorities and 

Providers promote and measure local participation. The government have also announced a series of area reviews of 

post 16 education and training institutions that Lewisham will also be participating in.

London Devolution Proposition

Devolution is top of the political agenda at the moment nationally and in London. London Councils  and the Greater 

London Authority have agreed a broad territory for negotiation in pursuit of a London devolution and public service 

reform agreement. This  document sets out proposals for devolution and reform of which the following are key 

elements: 

-Skills, business support and innovation 

-Tackling structural long term unemployment in the capital

-A self –financing growth and reform model to help finance the transition costs and provide a mechanism for London 

to capture the upside of growth.

Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark

Lewisham is working with our neighbouring boroughs of Lambeth and Southwark on a Community Budget pilot 

project. We have a range of projects, ranging from employment support though to construction skills development, 

and are levering in funding though a range of external sources.

The three councils’ intention was always to explore, through the pilot, the possibilities for greater integration and 

joint commissioning in order to achieve savings to the public purse, better outcomes for priority residents and 

demonstrate to central government that devolving responsibility to local areas can achieve better results. It has been 

agreed that the boroughs’ intention for joint working in the future are:

•The three boroughs have started a journey of transformation and want to see that continue;

•A section 101 joint committee provides the  with sharper governance and leadership 

•Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark should be prepared to respond proactively to the devolution agenda;

•Joint work must be grounded in tangible and practical action.

This strategy will focus on Lewisham but it will also present evidence from our neighbouring boroughs to reflect this 

joined up approach.

Work and Skills Strategy



6

Work and Skills Strategy

London and the Changing Labour Market: summary

London has seen growth that has far outstripped the rest of the UK since the recession and the Lewisham economy 

needs to be considered in the context of its place within one of the worlds most competitive labour markets. 

This section gives an overview of the wider London economy – key points to note are:

-London’s economy continues to hollow out with concentrations of growth in opportunities for those with very high or 

very low skill levels and a paucity of intermediate level jobs. This means that we need to be ambitious for our residents 

in gaining the highest skill levels possible and entry into the professions.

-Growth in London, both population and economic, is outstripping growth across the rest of the UK. This creates 

opportunities but also increases competition for jobs. Lewisham and our partners need to ensure that our skills training 

offer is ambitious to enable our residents to take advantage o f these opportunities. 

-London is an attractive destination for high skilled labour from across the UK and the world.

-Internal migration increases competition for higher skilled jobs in London

-Destitution and exploitation of migrants remains a key challenge for Local Authorities in London

-Unemployment is falling in London but it remains above the UK average.

-There is a high concentration of JSA claimants in the East and South East inner London boroughs

-Earnings in London outstrip the rest of the UK making it an attractive place to work for internal migrants despite the 

higher costs of living.

-The majority of Inner London residents are highly skilled

-The nature of employment is changing so our training offer and ambition for our residents must be flexible to reflect 

this. Residents who wish to enter self employment may require a different support offer.



7

London and the Changing Labour Market: More jobs but an hourglass economy

Work and Skills Strategy

Lewisham residents have access to one of the largest labour markets in the world with over three-quarters of a million 

enterprises (ranging from micro businesses to global companies) across London and the South East region. This strategy 

aims to support our residents in this competitive race labour market. The graph below shows that over the five years 2010-

2014, London grew by nearly 12% and the UK excluding London grew by just over 4% – London jobs grew almost 3 times 

faster than the rest of the UK.

Chart 1 – Regional jobs 

growth growth, 2010-2014 

Source: ONS

“Hourglass” Economy

The chart below shows the changing nature of the London Labour Market. It shows the percentage shift in the number of 

people working across the Office of National Statistics: Standard Occupational Classification groups between March 2010 

and March 2015. This helps to evidence the hourglass economy that is continuing to take shape across the capital with an 

increase in senior and elementary roles (i.e. very high and very low skilled roles) and a drop off in administrative and 

secretarial roles (i.e. intermediate skilled roles).

Key Point

- London’s economy continues to hollow out with concentrations of growth in opportunities for those with very high or 

very low skill levels and a paucity of intermediate level jobs. This means that we need to be ambitious for our residents 

in gaining the highest skill levels possible and entry into the professions.



8

London and the Changing Labour Market: London’s growing workforce 

Work and Skills Strategy

London’s Changing Workforce

The rapid population growth in London shows no signs of this slowing - current projections show it reaching 10 million by 

2033. This rapid growth will mean increased competition for jobs across the capital. London draws skilled labour from 

across the UK, Europe and the world. 

Chart 4: Projected 

population growth 

areas across London 

(Source: London Data 

Store)

Chart 3: Projected population growth areas across London (Source: London Data Store)

Much of this projected growth is set to be concentrated in East and South East London presenting a particular challenge for 

Lewisham and neighbouring boroughs:

Key Point

- Growth in London, both population and economic, is outstripping growth across the rest of the UK. This creates 

opportunities but also increases competition for jobs. Lewisham and our partners need to ensure that our skills training 

offer is ambitious to enable our residents to take advantage of these opportunities. 



9

London and the Changing Labour Market: London’s economy is part of the attraction of London for 

international migrants and young people though internal migration 

Work and Skills Strategy

International Migration

London has a larger migrant population than the rest of the UK: 34 per cent of London’s resident population. In general the 

overwhelming majority of these migrants are of working age and are both younger and longer established than the migrant 

population in the rest of the UK. Some of the most deprived migrants in the country reside in London, and some of the most 

privileged too. This partly reflects the polarity of London’s hourglass labour market as a whole – as will be demonstrated later in 

this strategy. 

At the top end of the scale, the skills level of London’s working age population is higher than in other international cities and the 

availability of well qualified staff is a key factor in global businesses located here. This high-skilled workforce is produced by both 

internal and international migration to the capital, and London is a major destination for highly-skilled workers from within the 

UK and from abroad (GLA Economics 2010). 

Construction, hospitality, retail, contract cleaning and residential care – all major sectors in London – have been identified as the 

main migrant labour sectors. These are also the sectors most vulnerable to poor working conditions and violations of 

employment law (Low Pay Commission 2009). 

Internal Migration 

Internal Migration and outward migration to the rest of the UK tends to even itself out – in 2014 Office of National Statistics 

(ONS) figures show a net outflow of 55,000. However the inward migration is young and working age:

- Young people move out of London for education

For people aged 19, outflow was 2,500 higher than inflow for females and 2,800 higher for males. This is likely to be driven by 

young adults moving in and out of London for higher education.

- London is likely to be the top destination for graduates moving for work

For most ages in the 20s the number of people moving into London outnumbered the number of people moving out of London 

for both sexes. The peak occurred at age 23 and is likely to be driven by young adults seeking work in London, potentially after

they graduated from university.

In 2012, London had the highest concentration of graduates of any region in the UK. An estimated 60% of the residents of inner 

London were graduates and 45% of the residents of outer London were graduates (graduates is defined here as everyone with 

qualifications above A level standard), compared with a national average of only 38%. (Graduates in the UK Labour Market ONS,

2013)

.

London may be appealing to young adults following graduation due to more job opportunities, a higher salary and also the 

perception of a better social life when compared with the rest of the UK.

The concentration of young adults in London is demonstrated by ONS Regional Labour Market Statistics (2013: Table HI07, Tab 

2) , which shows that there were a total of 3.88 million people aged 16 and over in employment in London in June 2013, of whom 

32% were in the 25 to 34 age group. This is a substantially higher proportion than in any other region or country within Great 

Britain (the statistics do not include equivalent data for Northern Ireland).

House prices do not appear to have had a dampening effect in the period reported upon, but then recent 30% increase in house 

prices in London are widely expected to dampen internal migration. The impact on international migration is  not known.

Key Points

- London is an attractive destination for high skilled labour from across the UK and the world.

- Internal migration increases competition for higher skilled jobs in London

- Destitution and exploitation of migrants remains a key challenge for Local Authorities in London



10

Work and Skills Strategy

Unemployment Rate

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

Great Britain

London

Modelled unemployment rates (developed by the ONS) 

attempt to provide a more a more accurate 

unemployment rate than simply looking at Job Seekers 

Allowance claimants. This shows that the London 

average remains stubbornly above the national average.

The map below demonstrates that JSA rates across East 

and South East London are still  significantly above other 

London boroughs.  This shows that we still  have work to 

do in support of all our residents.

Chart 5 – ONS modelled unemployment rate (%)

London and the Changing Labour Market: Unemployment in London 

Chart 6 – All JSA claimants – London (%)

Key Points

- Unemployment is falling in London but it remains above the UK average.

- There is a high concentration of JSA claimants in the East and South East inner London boroughs



London and the Changing Labour Market : Earnings and skills in London

11

Skills Base

The skills base across inner London broadly reflects the “hourglass” economy with concentrations at both the top end (level 4 and 

above) and the lower end (no qualifications). This pattern is broadly similar in Inner London although it is notable that there are a 

higher percentage of residents with qualifications at level 4 and above. 

Qualification

Inner 

London
London

No qualifications 15.8% 17.6%

Level 1 8.5% 10.7%

Level 2 9.4% 11.8%

Apprenticeship 1.0% 1.6%

Level 3 10.1% 10.5%

Level 4 and above 44.7% 37.7%

Other 10.5% 10.0%

Table 1. Qualifications in 

Lewisham (NOMIS)

Work and Skills Strategy

Average earnings for full-time workers have increased by 2% in London between 2010 and 2014. The London average 

remains well above the wider UK average despite a slight convergence with in 2013. This will ensure that London remains 

an attractive place to work, despite the higher cost of living.  

Earnings 

Chart 7. Average earnings by region 2014 (ONS) 

Key Point

- Earnings in London outstrip the rest of the UK making it an attractive place to work for internal migrants despite the 

higher costs of living.

Key Point

- The majority of Inner London residents are highly skilled



London and the Changing Labour Market: Self employment in London

12

Work and Skills Strategy

Self Employment

There has been a 22% rise in self employees across London between 2011 and 2014. This is part of a general trend across 

all regions but the growth in London has been particularly dramatic and we must consider this in along with the areas 

identified by Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion later in this strategy are areas where there will be low number of 

employment opportunities in 2020  - many of these are in industries with a high prevalence of self employment (i.e. 

construction). However the data below does show  a trend towards self employment is evident across all major 

occupational groups:

Major Occupation Group
20094 2014 Change from 2009 to 2014

Thousands Per Cent Thousands Per Cent Thousands Per Cent

Managers, Directors And Senior Officials 502 13.3 739 16.1 237 47.2

Professional Occupations 627 16.6 748 16.3 121 19.2

Associate Professional And Technical Occupations 570 15.0 674 14.8 104 18.3

Administrative And Secretarial Occupations 122 3.2 143 3.1 20 16.7

Skilled Trades Occupations 1,111 29.3 1,221 26.7 110 9.9

Caring, Leisure And Other Service Occupations 243 6.4 311 6.8 68 28.1

Sales And Customer Service Occupations 81 2.1 105 2.3 24 29.3

Process, Plant And Machine Operatives 326 8.6 342 7.5 16 5.0

Elementary Occupations 206 5.4 286 6.3 80 38.6

Total 3,790 100.0 4,573 100.0 783 20.7

Table 3. Number of people self-employed by major occupational group in 2009 and  2014 and the change from 2009 to 2014 (ONS)

Region

Growth in self-

employment

North East 10%

North West 14%

Yorkshire and The Humber 3%

East Midlands 3%

West Midlands 12%

East 7%

London 22%

South East 16%

South West 11%

Table 2. Growth in Self Employment between 2011 and 2014 

(ONS)

Key Point

- The nature of employment is changing so our training offer and ambition for our residents must be flexible to reflect 

this. Residents who wish to enter self employment may require a different support offer.



13

Work and Skills Strategy

Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark and the Changing Labour Market

Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark are three Boroughs with very similar demographics and populations. We are very 

different in relation to the strength of out local economies. As can be seen on page 8, the percentages of people 

receiving  JSA are similar in the three Boroughs and higher than the rest of London. Our residents do not recognise the 

Borough boundaries. In the South of the Borough residents might be dealt with by the Bromley Job Centre, in the North 

by the London Bridge or Peckham Job centres. The devolution proposition and the increasing role of the Greater 

London Authority make it sensible for Lewisham to work with Lambeth and Southwark councils in order to be more 

efficient and effective in commissioning employment and skills support work, and have a larger geographical base to 

conduct work and skills activity. 

Key points:

-We need to work across Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark to ensure we are in the strongest possible position to 

influence and shape the local skills training offer and meet labour market demand.

-The jobs market in South East London is set to change rapidly and we need to ensure that we future proof our skills 

and support offer through the use of quality Labour Market Intelligence

-There are a high number of “Preparation for work and foundations for learning and life” courses on offer across the 3 

boroughs. While these courses are important we need to question whether they are providing the right preparation for 

our residents i.e. are they a stepping stone to higher level qualifications because they will not get people into jobs in 

the present job market. We need to ensure they are giving residents basic English levels, customer and public 

interaction skills and some initial confidence to begin their career journey.

-Outside these there is a mismatch with subjects needed for a better chance of job outcomes meaning we may be 

failing to meet future demand.

-There is a dissonance between the supply of skills in the region and those sought by the employer base. Improving and 

adapting the local skills training offer is vital to close this gap. 



14

GLA Economics have forecast that by 2036 the predominant sectors in London will be: professional, real estate, scientific 

and technical activities; administrative and support service activities; information and communication; and accommodation 

and food service activities. Conversely, the sectors set to experience the greatest decline are: manufacturing; wholesale; 

transportation and storage; and public administration and defence. Whilst construction as a whole is projected to undergo a 

small decline London-wide, the scale of current and upcoming major works in and around Lewisham and neighbouring 

boroughs (£10.7bn worth of construction works to be completed across Southwark, Lambeth and Lewisham between 2014 

and 2017) underscores an urgent need to supply skilled local labour.

Comparing these growth sectors against the sectors in which Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark residents were employed 

in (as at the 2011 Census) shows that the proportion of residents working in health, education and the arts far outstrips the

projected proportion these sectors are expected to comprise of 2036 London economy. The proportion working in 

professional/scientific/technical activities, administrative/support, accommodation/food service and 

information/communication all lag behind the levels of the projected 2036 London economy – highlighting the need to 

equip and upskill residents in order to enable them to adequately compete for the jobs being created in these sectors. It 

also need to be noted that the figures above relate to proportions- Lewisham has a very low job density so  we have low 

numbers of predominately public sector and lower skilled jobs within the Borough.

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

18.0%

20.0%

Chart 8: Employment by sector in Lambeth / Lewisham / Southwark (2011) vs projected 

growth sectors across London (2036)

Lambeth

Lewisham

Southwark

London 2036

Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark and employment

Work and Skills Strategy

Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark

Our cross borough work with Lambeth and Southwark was a key achievement of the 2013-15 Work and Skills Strategy. The 

three boroughs came together as they had remarkably similar residents, similar levels of unemployment, shared work 

programme providers, issues with youth employment and residents needing better skills to access employment. 



15

Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark and employment

Work and Skills Strategy

Employee jobs growth across Lewisham, Lambeth and 

Southwark

As mentioned above Lewisham are working with 

Lambeth and Southwark to develop integrated 

pathways into work across the three boroughs where 

there is significant crossover in the barriers faced by 

residents. In 2012 - 2013 the fastest growing sector in 

terms of employee jobs across the 3 boroughs was the 

Information and Communication Sector which grew by 

28.6% (from 1400 to 1800 jobs). This was followed by, 

‘Other Services’ (which includes creative, arts and 

entertainment jobs as well as gambling and betting) 

which grew by 20.8% (2400 to 2900 jobs). Third largest 

growth was the Accommodation and Food Sector 

which grew by 12.5% (from 3200 to 3600 jobs). In the 

same period Information and Communication was the 

largest growing sector in Inner London (9.6%).

In the 2009 – 2013 period three of Lewisham’s top five 

fastest growing sectors in terms of employee jobs 

matched three of the top 5 fastest growing sectors in 

Inner London. These sectors were Information and 

Communication,  Accommodation and Food Services, 

and Financial and Other Business Services. The similar 

growth in job sectors suggest that Lewisham’s 

economy is closely linked to the wider London 

economy.

The analysis in table 4 shows the growth sectors across 

Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark by 2020 – the 

trend is towards growth in high skilled jobs (teachers, 

managers, IT professionals) and sectors that require 

high levels of customer interaction (sales, caring).

Table 4: Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion 

(CESI) growth sectors in Lewisham, Lambeth and 

Southwark

Key Points

- We need to work across Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark to ensure we are in the strongest possible position to 

influence and shape the local skills training offer and meet labour market demand.

- The jobs market in South East London is set to change rapidly and we need to ensure that we future proof our skills and 

support offer through the use of quality Labour Market Intelligence



Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark: Matching skills and work

16

Skills and Work

The table below links shows subjects on offer in colleges across Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark matched to occupations 

in 2013 and against projections for 2020 that have been highlighted earlier in this strategy. Further work on Construction 

skills gaps across the three boroughs carried out by MACE show specific trade skills gaps in wood trades and interior fit out; 

bricklaying and building envelope specialists.

Table 5. Occupations matched to subjects (CESI)

Work and Skills Strategy

Key Points

- There are a high number of “Preparation for work and foundations for learning and life” courses on offer across the 3 

boroughs. While these courses are important we need to question whether they are providing the right preparation for 

our residents i.e. are they a stepping stone to higher level qualifications because they will not get people into jobs in the

present job market. We need to ensure they are giving residents basic English levels, customer and public interaction 

skills and some initial confidence to begin their career journey.

- Outside these there is a mismatch with subjects needed for a better chance of job outcomes meaning we may be failing 

to meet future demand.



Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark: Matching skills and work

17

Table 6. Count of 

courses by level 

(CESI)

Table 7. Count of 

course starters by 

level (CESI)

As part of a research project undertaken for the South London Construction Training Network QTS Ltd gathered data 

pertaining to the number and types of workers required to complete the construction projects up to November 2018 across 

Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark (and including nearby Nine Elms, Vauxhall). This data determined that the labour 

requirement for the entire area is 32,579. The training requirement (those who need to be in competency-based training) 

would be 6,515 (5% of the 32,579). The current number needed to be in training is 1,629. The competency-based training 

deficit (the numbers of workers who should be in training but are not) is therefore 4,889 workers or, calculated as a 

percentage of the deficit, 75%. This deficit demonstrates that there is a particular problem in Lewisham, Lambeth and 

Southwark, compared to the London region deficit of 51%.

Research commissioned by Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark, and delivered by the Centre for Economic and Social 

Inclusion (CESI) in 2013 on the supply and demand of skills across the three boroughs (as shown in the tables above) 

highlighted a proliferation of short courses at Level 1 and a number of courses covering subjects that did not match those 

needed for current and future occupations. Furthermore, there was a paucity of starters for the types of higher level 

courses employers look to for workers. 

Work and Skills Strategy

Key Point

- There is a dissonance between the supply of skills in the region and those sought by the employer base. Improving and 

adapting the local skills training offer is vital to close this gap. 



18

Work and Skills Strategy

Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market

This section applies the learning from the changing London Labour Market to the local Lewisham context and 

highlights some of the key differences and opportunities that exist:

- Lewisham’s labour market needs to be viewed in the context of the London labour market  given the number 

of residents who already travel outside the borough to work 

- An improving London economy means better opportunities for Lewisham residents who are able , and can 

afford, to travel to work

- There is a need to ensure that more of our residents are in the position to compete for higher level roles if 

they are to take advantage of the opportunities available across London.

- Employment is not the only route into work and we need to ensure our local support offer is flexible enough to 

support residents who wish to become self – employed

- JSA numbers are dropping but the rate is not even across all age groups – young people have seen a much 

quicker improvement than the over 50s.

- There is a need to ensure that we are providing support to those furthest from the jobs market

- Despite improvements across the borough significant areas of deprivation remain and there is  still a significant 

amount of work to do in order to support our residents into employment

- Earnings in Lewisham remain below the London average and there is a need to focus on upskilling residents in 

work so they can compete for higher skilled roles as well as those not currently in work

- Significant income inequality remains across the borough

- A continuing focus on the London Living Wage across the borough is required to help tackle income inequality 

across all sectors

- The Lewisham skills base does not match the needs of the wider London economy with a concentration of 

residents with intermediate level skills

- There are a growing number of residents who lack basic English language and digital skills – this highlights 

specific areas of need going forward



19

Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market

Work and Skills Strategy

Transient workforce

The 2011 Census shows that a large majority of Lewisham residents (85%) travel out of the borough for work. Whilst 

Lewisham provides employment for only 1.2% of London’s 4 million strong workforce. This means we need to view the 

Lewisham labour market in the context of the wider London labour market.

Place of Work (by borough)

% of workforce

from LB 

Lewisham

Westminster & City of 

London 16.7%

Lewisham 15.1%

No fixed place 10.5%

Southwark 8.6%

Mainly work at or from home 8.4%

Bromley 4.7%

Tower Hamlets 4.6%

Camden 4.4%

Lambeth 4.4%

Greenwich 3.9%

Islington 2.5%

South East of England Region 2.2%

Croydon 1.6%

Wandsworth 1.4%

Kensington and Chelsea 1.4%

Hackney 1.2%

Hammersmith and Fulham 1.2%

Bexley 0.9%

Newham 0.9%

East of England Region 0.7%

Table 9 above shows where Lewisham residents are travelling to for work – it is unsurprising that the majority of residents 

who leave the borough go either to Central London or toward the East and South East. Conversely  table X shows that the 

those who travel into the borough come overwhelmingly from  South East London.

Table 8. Workplace of LB Lewisham Residents (ONS: 

2011 Census)

Place of Residence 

(by borough)

% of Lewisham 

Workforce

Lewisham 43.03%

Greenwich 12.04%

Bromley 11.32%

Southwark 7.09%

Bexley 6.44%

Croydon 4.01%

Lambeth 3.14%

Newham 1.44%

Wandsworth 1.36%

Tower Hamlets 1.15%

Table 9. Residence of LB Lewisham Workforce (ONS: 

2011 Census)



20

Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market

Work and Skills Strategy

Access to Greater London

Lewisham has 20 mainline stations, 3 DLR 

Stations, and 42 bus routes. The borough’s 

location makes it attractive to people 

working in central London and other 

financial and commercial centres such as 

Canary Wharf. This connectivity drives the 

net daily migration of residents working 

outside the borough but also, through 

London’s transport infrastructure, links 

Lewisham to the rest of the UK and beyond.

The proposed extension of the Bakerloo Line 

through the borough will enhance these links 

still further and increases the imperative to 

equip our residents to work across the 

Capital.

Key Points

- Lewisham’s labour market should be viewed in the context of the London labour market  given the number of residents 

who already travel outside the borough to work 

- An improving London economy means better opportunities for Lewisham residents who are able , and can afford, to 

travel to work

Lewisham Labour Market

As detailed earlier in this strategy the growing London is hollowing out but this is not a pattern that is repeated in 

Lewisham. The chart below demonstrates a drop in those employed in both elementary and senior roles and a significant 

increase in sales and customer service occupations in Lewisham – this is likely to be lower skilled and lower payed 

employment. Residents with experience in these roles are unlikely to be those who can afford to travel .

-5 -4 -3 -2 -1 0 1 2 3 4 5 6

Managers, directors and senior officials (SOC2010)

Professional occupations (SOC2010)

Associate prof & tech occupations (SOC2010)

Administrative and secretarial occupations (SOC2010)

Skilled trades occupations (SOC2010)

Process, plant and machine operatives (SOC2010)

Caring, leisure and other service occupations (SOC2010)

Sales and customer service occupations (SOC2010)

Elementary occupations (SOC2010)

Chart 9: Occupational Class Change - March 2010 - March 2015: Lewisham (Source: ONS)

Key Point

- There is a need to ensure that more of our residents are in the position to compete for higher level roles if they are to 

take advantage of the opportunities available across London.



21

JSA claimant rates

Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market: Unemployment in Lewisham

Work and Skills Strategy

Chart 10 – JSA claimant rates by age in Lewisham (%)

The chart above demonstrates a significant drop in in total JSA claimant rates across all age ranges from a peak in 2012. 

However, as demonstrated in the table below, the drop has been higher amongst 16 – 24 year olds than the over 50s. This 

demonstrates that there is still work to do across all cohorts however our support needs to be flexible to ensure we are 

meeting a wide range of needs.

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

July

2005

July

2006

July

2007

July

2008

July

2009

July

2010

July

2011

July

2012

July

2013

July

2014

July

2015

Aged 50-64

Aged 25-49

Aged 16-24

Date Aged 16-24 Aged 25-49 Aged 50-64

July 2013 5.5 4.4 4.1

July 2015 2.7 2.3 3.0

Difference -2.8 -2.1 -1.1

Table 10 – Drop in JSA claimant rates by age (2013 – 2015) in Lewisham (%)

Key Point

- JSA numbers are dropping but the rate is not even across all age groups – young people have seen a much quicker 

improvement than the over 50s.

Self Employment

Self employment levels in Lewisham have begun to fall behind the London levels again having been slightly higher in 2009 

and 2012. The increasing availability of employment is likely to have  made self employment a less attractive option for 

many residents. However the fact remains that  self employment is a growing employment norm across all industries  and 

this is a challenge for Lewisham and our partners as it means providing a different type of support to residents who are 

seeking to enter growth industries or take the next step in their career.

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

Jan-06 Jan-09 Jan-12 Jan-15

Chart 11: total % aged 16-64 who are self 

employed

Lewisham London

Key Point

- Employment is not the only route into work and we need to ensure our local support offer is flexible enough to support 

residents who wish to become self - employed



22

Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market: Unemployment in Lewisham

Work and Skills Strategy

Employment Support Allowance / Income Support claimant rates

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

February

2007

February

2009

February

2011

February

2013

February

2015

Lewisham

London

Chart 12 – ESA and IB claimant rates in Lewisham and London

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

February

2007

February

2009

February

2011

February

2013

February

2015

Lewisham

London

Chart 13 –Income Support and Pension Credit claimant rates in Lewisham 

and London

The charts above show a sharp increase in the Employment Support Allowance claimant rates in Lewisham and London 

with the Lewisham rate worryingly diverging upwards away from the London average. This represents some of the most 

hard to reach unemployed residents in the Borough and it is vital that we try to reach out and offer support to those with 

the most complex needs. 

Key Point

- There is a need to ensure that we are providing support to those furthest from the jobs market often with the 



23

Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market: Deprivation and earnings in Lewisham

Work and Skills Strategy

2015

2010

The maps below use indices of multiple deprivation (IMD) employment data to show that the number of we have more of 

the most deprived areas in England in 2015 than 2010 despite the improvements that have been made. This will be a 

reflection of the impact of continuing welfare reforms and the benefits cap on our inner city borough and it indicates that 

there is a significant amount of work to do – especially in the South of the borough.

2015

Key Point

- Despite improvements across the borough significant areas of deprivation remain and there is  still a significant amount 

of work to do in order to support our residents into employment



Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market: Earnings in Lewisham

24

Work and Skills Strategy

Earnings for full-time workers have increased by 6% in Lewisham from 2010 to 2014, eclipsing the growth of 2% in London 

over the same period.  Full-time earnings are now just £14 below the London average, having been £42 below in 2010, and 

are well above the national average of £521.  A gender pay gap remains with male full-time workers paid an average of 

£632 a week in 2014, whilst female full-time workers were paid £579 – equating to a gap of 8%.  The gender pay gap is 

higher in London where male full-time workers are paid £661, whilst females are paid £575 – a gap of 13%. Closing this gap 

will be key in ensuring that the benefits of growth are shared fairly across all Lewisham residents.

However median hourly wage (excluding overtime) did decrease by 2.8% to £14.67 in 2014 having risen by 7.1% to £15.09 

in 2013. (ONS: Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, 2014).

Earnings 

Lewisham London Great Britain

2010 £564 £606 £502

2011 £561 £608 £500

2012 £594 £613 £508

2013 £619 £613 £518

2014 £604 £618 £521

Table 11.  Earnings from 2010-2014, £ (gross weekly pay, all full-time workers) Source: ONS Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings 

2010

The IMD maps showing income deprivation show that significant areas of the borough remaining in the bottom 20% in 

England despite the growing signs of an economic recovery in London.



Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market: Earnings in Lewisham

25

Work and Skills Strategy

The two Lewisham wards of Evelyn and Downham are in the bottom decile of median household income in London, 

and are ranked 45th and 53rd respectively out of London’s 625 wards. There are no Lewisham wards in the top two 

deciles, Blackheath is the highest at 500th in the 70-80% decile. 

Neighbouring Southwark and Lambeth have greater levels of income inequality than Lewisham, with four wards in 

the bottom decile, three in the top two, and a ranking range of 17-615. Lambeth has a concentration of wards around 

the mid income deciles (11 from 40-60% out of 21, and 18 from 30-70%). Notably there is only one Lambeth ward in 

the lowest two deciles, whereas there are four in Lewisham. 

Table 12. Median income by ward (source GLA)

Key Points

- Earnings in Lewisham remain below the London average and there is a need to focus on upskilling residents in work so 

they can compete for higher skilled roles as well as those not currently in work

- Significant income inequality remains across the borough



Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market: Earnings in Lewisham

London Living Wage stood at £8.80 in 2014 - rising to £9.40 in 2015. The percentage of jobs in Lewisham paying below the 

London Living Wage (LLW) is below the London average - almost a quarter of the jobs in Lewisham pay less than the LLW, 

increasing from 22.3% in 2012, to 24.5% in 2013. (ONS: Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, 2013). 

In contrast the percentage of Lewisham resident’s earning the LLW or more, is higher than the London average but the 

percentage of Lewisham residents who are earning less than the LLW has increased slightly from 19.6% to 20.9%.

London Living Wage 

Table 12. Jobs in Lewisham paying less 

than the London Living Wage, 2012-2013 

(workplace based)

2012 2013

London 17.5% 18.8 %

Lewisham 22.3 % 24.5 %

26

2012 2013

London 20.8 % 22.3 %

Lewisham 19.6  % 20.9 %

Table 13. Residents of Lewisham earning 

less than the London Living Wage, 2012-

2013 (residence based)

The difference between the workplace and residence measure suggests that a large proportion of Lewisham’s higher 

earning residents work outside of borough.

Research by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (The effect of occupation on poverty among ethnic minority groups, Joseph 

Rowntree Foundation, 2015) has found that ethnic minorities are less likely to be earning the living wage than their white 

counterparts. Ethnic minorities in low-paying jobs were also paid less compared to white employees.

The jobs with the highest percentage of employees not receiving the LLW are mainly in the Accommodation and Food, and 

Retail sectors – for example a report published by KPMG found that 90% of bar staff were paid less than the Living wage. 

(Living Wage Research 2014, KPMG, 2014) Other jobs in the accommodation and food, and retail sectors also have similar 

percentages of their workforce being paid below the Living Wage. Whilst other sectors do not have as high proportion of its 

workforce earning below the living wage, professions such as care workers and home carers, as well as teaching assistants 

contribute large numbers of people who are paid below the London Living Wage nationally. 

Work and Skills Strategy

Key Point

- A continuing focus on the London Living Wage across the borough is required to help tackle income inequality across all 

sectors



Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market: Skills

27

A ward-level analysis highlights the impact of geographical location upon attainment; the majority of the wards with the 

highest proportion of 16-24 year olds with no qualifications are towards the south of the borough – a situation that is 

reversed when looking at those level 4 or above. It is crucial to ensure the further education (FE) offer across Lewisham 

takes these place-based factors into account, so that those furthest away from the jobs market – both in terms of 

attainment and geography – are not at risk of further disenfranchisement. With large-scale local developments in the 

pipeline, the reshaping of the local FE offer must focus on ensuring a consistent flow of talented, skilled local labour 

towards these opportunities. 

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

No

qualifications

(aged 16 - 24)

Level 4 or

above (aged

16 - 24)

Chart 14. Level 4 or above and No Qualifications by ward (Nomis)

Lewisham Skills Base

Lewisham has a significant number of residents with level 1, 2 or 3 qualifications however if we refer back to the evidence above it 

is clear that the growth areas in the labour market are not at these intermediate level jobs. The challenge presented by this data is 

to support the ambition of our residents and ensure they have access to higher level skills training that will lead to sustainable 

work outcomes in the changing London jobs market.

Qualification
Lewisham

Inner 

London

No qualifications 17.7% 15.8%

Level 1 11.1% 8.5%

Level 2 12.5% 9.4%

Apprenticeship 1.4% 1.0%

Level 3 10.8% 10.1%

Level 4 and above 38.0% 44.7%

Other 8.5% 10.5%

Table 14. Qualifications in Lewisham (NOMIS)

Work and Skills Strategy



Lewisham and the Changing Labour Market: Skills

28

Work and Skills Strategy

Digital Skills

A lack of digital skills have been identified as a key barrier to employment by partners as one of the key barriers to 

employment locally and the most recent data on internet usage from the ONS Annual Population Survey shows a worrying 

increase in the number of residents who have never used the internet:

English Language Skills

The table below shows that London lags well behind the rest of England in terms of households where the main language 

spoken in not English. Lewisham compares relatively favourably to London neighbours but the graph below shows a rising 

prevalence amongst both primary and secondary school pupils.

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

2011 2012 2013 2014

Chart 15: % or residents who have never used the internet 

(Source: ONS APS) 

Lewisham London

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

Primary School Secondary School

Chart 16: Lewisham school pupils whose first 

language is known or believed to be other than 

English (Source ONS)

2011 2013 2015

Region

% of households where 

main language spoken is 

English

North East 97%

North West 95%

Yorkshire and The 

Humber 94%

East Midlands 94%

West Midlands 93%

East 94%

London 78%

South East 94%

South West 97%

Table 15. % of households where main language 

spoken is English (ONS in 2011)

Key Points

- The Lewisham skills base does not match the needs of the wider London economy with a concentration of residents 

with intermediate level skills

- There are a growing number of residents who lack basic English language and digital skills – this highlights specific areas 

of need going forward



Work strands

29

1. Develop strong 

partnerships across 

all sectors

2. Improving local 

skills training to 

equip adults for 

work opportunities 

and self employment 

This strategy will deliver against six key work strands designed to ensure that we are:

- Inspiring and supporting the ambition of our residents

- Lewisham and London have seen a rapid economic and population growth

- Creating a fair society where the benefits of growth are felt by all

Work and Skills Strategy

3. Deliver 

employment support 

for those with the 

most complex needs

4. Encourage 

residents in 

employment to 

progress

5. Maximise social 

value opportunities 

with employers and 

enterprise

6. Develop improved 

Labour market 

Intelligence



1. Develop strong partnerships across all sectors

30

The evidence at the front of this document presents a strong challenge to Lewisham and our partners around the 

support required to help our most vulnerable residents to upskill and get into work. This cannot be achieved in silos 

and we will need to continue to develop our partnerships with neighbouring boroughs, schools, central government, 

further and higher education providers, training providers, housing associations, employers, trade bodies and third 

sector organisations. Notably this will include a Memorandum of Understanding with Goldsmiths, University of 

London.

What we will do:

- Develop links with partners across London to ensure our residents have access to the best 

possible employment opportunities

- Work with regional partners to ensure we are maximising our ability to leverage funding 

and influence the work and skills agenda as it develops in London.

- Build on links with training and skills providers across London to ensure residents are 

accessing a training and skills offer meets employer demand.

- Work with the  Local Labour and Business Scheme to develop links with employers across 

all sectors – particularly in the construction industry

Work and Skills Strategy

2. Improving local skills training to equip adults for work opportunities 

and self employment

The CESI data on skills presented in this strategy presents a challenge to Lewisham and to local skills training 

providers across the borough. The local authority will need to work with partners to ensure their curricula is aligned 

with the needs of the local jobs market and/or the needs of the local economy. Where there are gaps the local 

authority will need to consider how these can be filled and where possible devise solutions.

What we will do:

- Local colleges and training providers will have a curricula and training offer that fits with 

the needs of the London labour market.

- Identify skills training gaps and work to fill these through targeted spending and joint 

funding opportunities such as the  Understanding the Language of Work pilot and the 

Building Lives Construction Skills Centre.

- Devise a Digital Skills & Inclusion Strategy for tenants to provide access, build confidence 

and ignite an interest in emerging technologies.



3. Deliver employment support for those with the most complex 

needs

31

This strategy wants to move away from identifying specific groups who may require employment support but we do 

recognise that there are still a significant amount of residents who with complex needs who are far from the jobs 

market. The data around employment deprivation evidences the need to continue to offer employment support for 

those with the most complex needs.

What we will do:

- Work with Lambeth and Southwark to deliver the expanded Pathways to Employment 

programme to deliver employment support to those with the most complex needs

- Through the Support for Families Programme we will deliver, in partnership with the JCP, 

employment support to our most vulnerable residents.

- Maximise the support on offer though the European Social Fund to deliver employment 

support to vulnerable residents – with a focus on ESOL provision and support around 

Mental Health.

- Maintain links with Housing Partners and Voluntary and Community Sector organisations 

and support them in their work with vulnerable residents

Work and Skills Strategy

4. Encourage residents in employment to progress

Income inequality remains an issue in Lewisham and our average wage is below the London average. The local 

authority has taken a lead on talking this by becoming a flagship living wage employer but there is more that we can 

do to help promote this agenda and upskill our residents so they are able to progress in employment. 

What we will do:

- Explore with partners how to widen access to upskilling opportunities

- Once Universal Credit is implemented, in and out of work benefits will be merged and we 

will explore how best to identify those who would benefit from support with upskilling.



5. Maximise social value opportunities with employers and enterprise

32

What we will do:

- Continue to embed Social Value targets, including jobs, skills and business support, in all 

LBL procurement processes and monitor the Social Value  Outcomes.

- Provide local small businesses with access to tailored professional business support

- Work with local businesses to support London Living Wage employment

- Support partner organisations to ensure they deliver social value outcomes through their 

procurement processes

Work and Skills Strategy

6. Develop improved Labour Market Intelligence

The updated evidence at the front of this document presents a strong challenge to Lewisham and our partners 

around the support required to help our most vulnerable residents to upskill and get into work. This cannot be 

achieved in silos and we will need to continue to develop our partnerships with neighbouring boroughs, schools, 

central government, further and higher education providers, training providers, housing associations, employers, 

trade bodies and third sector organisations.

What we will do:

- Establish an intelligence product – prediction of labour demand on construction sites, and 

the requisite skills needs as part of the construction skills command centre.

- Create and share annual updates on business and labour market intelligence in Lewisham 

and London

- Sharing and promoting quality job opportunities  in partner organisations with residents

- Work with the FE colleges to share labour market intelligence, and destination data to 

better shape curricula 

The world of work is changing rapidly and we cannot assume that all residents are looking for a traditional career. The rise 

in self employment across some of the key local growth industries is just one example of this change. In this context it is 

vital that Lewisham and our partners continue to use our supply chain  and local labour initiatives. We also need to 

strengthen our support for enterprise, entrepreneurship and self employment opportunities in recognition of the changing 

local labour market.



Work and Skills Strategy 2016-2018 – Update January 2017 
 

Priority 1: Develop strong partnerships across all sectors 

 

No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

1 Work with Lambeth and Southwark 
to further develop a focused 
employment support offer for our 
residents. 

LBL There have been two main areas of activity over the last year:- 
 

 Together the three boroughs have commissioned an employment support 
programme called Pathways to Employment. Pathways to Employment (PtE) offers 
person centred employment support to Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark 
residents  to ensure that those with complex needs do not end becoming, or staying 
long-term unemployed and cycling in and out of different employment support 
programmes. Pathways has been delivered in two phases. Phase 1 was a pilot from 
October 2014 to October 2015. Phase 2 is an expansion of phase 1 and which 
started in May 2016 and will run for two years. The programme is delivered in 
partnership with Jobcentre Plus (JCP) and runs out of one Jobcentre in each of the 
three boroughs (Lewisham, Streatham and Peckham). The three boroughs with JCP 
have designed a triage tool which recognises that those with complex needs require 
support with a broad range of issues if they are to get back into work. Using the key 
worker model, the individual has a single point of contact who works with them to 
address the individual’s barriers to work, including acquiring new skills or upskilling, 
housing, debt, family, childcare as well as other more specific barriers to work, and 
set them on a pathway to employment. Participation on the programme is entirely 
voluntary. Pathways will support at least 1200 residents over two years and has a 
target of 625 moving into work. Since May 2016, 110 residents across the three 
boroughs have been helped into work, 67 of these being Lewisham residents. 

 

 The Southwark Skills Centre was established during 2016 using NHB. The Centre 
forms part of the tri-borough “Transforming Construction Skills project” and is based 
on the Elephant Park regeneration site. It started working with residents in June 
2016 and has supported residents, from all three boroughs through construction 
training. To date a total of 22 Lewisham residents have been through their pre-
employability programme. 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

2 Work with Lewisham and 
Southwark College, local colleges, 
local schools and all local training 
providers to further develop a work 
focused skills offer for our 
residents. This is particularly 
relevant for the Areas Based 
Review of post 16 provision. 

LBL, Lewisham 
and Southwark 
College and 
local training 
providers 

We work closely with the Lewisham and Southwark College on their curriculum design, and 
have been involved in developing the offer from the College to resident for both 14-19 and 
post 19 provision. 
 
Lewisham has been involved in the Area review of post 16 provision, both through the 
London wide review of Adult and Community Learning, and the Central London region area 
review process chaired by Cllr Peter John. The area review process was a DFE run process 
and focussed exclusively on the financial position of Colleges, recommending a number of 
mergers for Colleges across London and beyond. The final report Is not published at the 
time of writing this report, but Lewisham is engaged in implementation system for the 
review, and more importantly the wider skills devolution discussion that are on-going.  
 

3 Build on existing links with Job 
Centre Plus to ensure support for 
local residents is aligned, 
opportunities are shared and any 
gaps are quickly identified and 
acted upon. 

LBL and JCP LBL and Jobcentre Plus have continued to work closely together to support residents gain 
skills and training and to access employment opportunities. Some specific examples of 
initiatives that have been developed include:- 
 

 The Lewisham Local Business Scheme worked in partnership with JCP and 
employers to design and deliver the Logistics Training Programme. JCP worked 
collaboratively with LBL and the training provider to recruit programme participants 
and support them through every stage. 

 

 The Disability Confidence & Transition strategy group was developed by Adult 
Learning Lewisham in partnership with Economic Development and JCP, to bring 
together services across the council who are working to create pathways for 
residents with a learning disability, or health condition, into employment and away 
from social care or benefits. This strategy group have proposed the creation of a 
role, funded initially by ALL (applying for funding elsewhere) to co-ordinate this 
project over the next two years 

 

 The Council and JCP have discussions about priorities when commissioning or 
introducing new programmes. We try to ensure that anything we commission 
directly is complementary to the Pathways Programme and the other existing 
programmes funded by JCP through Flexible Support Fun does not replicate it or 
detract from it. We have had discussions about how LBL can commission 
programmes through the Flexible Support Fund. These discussions are on-going. 
We have also had discussions between the 14-19 team and the JCP. JCP attend 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

meetings where they give Council officers advice on how they can work with us to 
support vulnerable residents’ access support from DWP and they are able to 
signpost council officers to organisations and providers who they work with. 

 

4 Continue links with London 
Councils, Central London Forward 
and other pan-London agencies to 
ensure that Lewisham residents 
have access to the best possible 
opportunities around work and 
skills. 

LBL Lewisham is working in partnership with Lambeth and Southwark Councils on areas of joint 
interest around employment and skills, through the Better Placed partnership – this includes 
the jointly commissioned employment support programme Pathways to Employment and 
joint work on construction skills. The three boroughs are also part of the Work and Health 
Programme that the Central London Forward sub-region will be responsible for and have 
been working together to ensure that this programme benefits residents. The three 
boroughs are also working closely with London Councils to ensure European Social Fund 
and other funding opportunities are maximised. 
 

5 Strengthen links with the Skills 
Funding Agency and other national 
bodies to ensure we are at the 
forefront of changes and funding 
opportunities. 

LBL Lewisham has an increasingly strong relationship with SFA officials both as a partner-  
through both the case conference process for Lewisham Southwark College, and as a 
provider through the work of Adult Learning Lewisham whose work in SFA funded. 
 
Skills devolution to London has been announced in both the Budget 2016, and the Autumn 
statement 2016, and Lewisham is engaged through Central London Forward with the GLA, 
BIS and DFE on how devolution might work in the future. 
 

6 Develop links with Housing 
Partners to ensure there is a co-
ordinated approach to Work and 
Skills in the Borough. 

LBL and 
Housing 
Partners 

The Council works closely with the community development and employment support teams 
for all housing partners operating in the borough to support the delivery of range of 
employability support for our residents/tenants. An example is “Love London Working” which 
is an ESF three -year London-wide programme led by housing association Affinity Sutton, in 
partnership with 15 other housing associations. Hyde Housing are the lead for the Love 
London Working programme in Lewisham. 
 
The Council is represented on the Phoenix Employment Board and on the Lewisham 
Homes Community Development Officer group. The Council is working through these 
strategic multi agency groups to develop initiatives such as the Construction Skills Centre in 
Bellingham, working to create apprenticeship opportunities with housing partners and within 
their supply chain as well as creating traineeships for looked after children and work 
placement opportunities especially for residents who have been unemployed for a long time. 
A new area of work that will be progressed during 2017 is capitalizing on the redevelopment 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

of the Fellowship Inn in Bellingham. Here the Council will be working with the Fellowship 
Project Team to secure apprenticeships and work experience 
 

7 Strengthen links with employment 
support providers and work 
programme providers. 

LBL The Council facilitates the “Lewisham Service Providers Forum” (LSPF) which brings 
together 40 employment support providers including the work programme providers. 
Through the LSPF, the Council has developed a page on the Council website which sets out 
the key services that residents can access from each provider across the borough. 
Providers get an opportunity to receive information about new policy developments from 
DWP (through JCP), funding opportunities from GLA, National Lottery, DWP and others as 
well as keeping up to date with Council priorities on work and skills 
 
The Council works closely with big pre-employment support providers such as CDG on 
DWP programmes such as the ESF Families with multiple disadvantage, a range of ESF 
programmes aimed at young people, NEETs, looked after children and so on. 
 

8 Work with LB Lewisham to provide 
specialist NEET advice with the 
Youth Service. 

JCP Following a review of service structures in the CYP Directorate, the Access, Inclusion and 
Participation service now has responsibility for Baseline and supporting NEET young 
people. Through Baseline, this service works closely with jobcentre plus to make help 
available for individual claimants, there are case conferencing meetings as well as meetings 
held between young people’s advisers from Jobcentre and staff at baseline to improve 
liaison. 
 

9 Develop links with the National 
Careers Service to support work 
with residents aged 50 and over. 

JCP Job Centre Plus have run Fifty Plus sessions in partnership with the National Careers 
Service during 2016. They also have other bespoke provision for the Over 50’s such as 
Bouncing Back run together with Phoenix at the Green Man, and through Wise Age. The 
first phase of the tri-borough Pathways to Employment project prioritised the over 50’s for 
support. This second phase triages all JSA claimants at week 12 and so over 50’s are able 
to access support from this programme. 
 

10 Work closely with Pathways to 
Employment to ensure vulnerable 
residents are receiving appropriate 
support. 

JCP The aim of Pathways is to ensure that vulnerable residents through their keyworker can 
access a range of support and that support is integrated. The team has been working 
closely with Lewisham Council to ensure that support with a range of issues – such as 
housing –from both the Council and wider partners and the Voluntary and Community 
Sector is joined up and Pathways keyworkers are able to access it and are aware of the 
wider support on offer. In addition, Jobcentre Plus have regularly meetings with the 
Pathways coordinator, (this is because the individual remains a client of JCP even whilst 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

they are with Pathways). There has been very good interaction between St Giles (the 
Provider) JCP staff and Lewisham council. To date, (11/01/17) there have been over 110 job 
starts across the three boroughs with over 80 being Lewisham residents. This has exceeded 
targets. 
 

11 Develop links with Adult Learning 
Lewisham to deliver ESOL 
provision. 

JCP Through its Flexible Support Fund JCP and the Strategy and Partnerships team have 
continued to support the Understanding The Language of Work programme delivered by 
ALL (connecting ESOL with work, and coming off JSA/ESA) during 2016. This project has 
now ended but participants had in addition to the ESOL course, opportunities to undertake 
work experience and other pre-employment support. London Councils is commissioning an 
ESF ESOL course based on the Lewisham project and rolling out across London. 

 

Priority 2: Develop improved labour market intelligence 

 

No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

12 Working with partners in Job 
Centre Plus and across central 
government to ensure Lewisham 
are offering the best possible 
support to residents who are going 
to be affected by continuing 
Welfare Reform. 

LBL and JCP Once again Jobcentre Plus have worked very closely with the Council on the Lewisham 
Jobs Fair in October 2016. The Jobcentre have also run Benefit Cap Events for affected 
residents in liaison with the council and Housing Associations. The Council through its multi-
agency steering group for the Go On Digital Project has been working to improve Digital 
Inclusion and access to Benefits for vulnerable residents. 
 
Other activities that have taken place over the year to ensure Lewisham residents including 
those who are going to be affected by welfare reform are identified and supported include:- 

 Engaging with residents and providers through forums such as the homelessness 
forum, the Pensioners Forums etc 

 Helping support organisations such as Lewisham Homes address individual cases 

 Working with JCP to provide training and advice sessions for organisations 
supporting our residents on the introduction of Universal Credit. This has been 
mainly through the Lewisham Service Providers Forum 

 The Local Labour and Business Scheme have set up and delivered bespoke 
projects with JCP that aim to help residents in to work such as the Traffic Marshal 
training programme and programmes that enable residents to get CSCS cards 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

 Phoenix Community Housing and Jobcentre Plus have hosted a Benefit cap 
info/job fair November 2016 which was attended by over 250 people seeking advice 
on Discretionary Housing Payment, training and job opportunities 

13 Lewisham Housing Association 
Group (LEWHAG) to lead on 
information sharing across the 
Housing Partnership. 

Lewisham 
Housing 
Association 
Group 
(LEWHAG) 

The Council continues to engage housing partners through the LEWHAG group and 
information on the initiatives that we are delivering or where we are seeking input from them 
as partners will continue to be coordinated through this partnership.  
 

14 Transforming Construction Skills 
(TCS) – Develop an intelligence 
product – prediction of labour 
demand on sites, and the requisite 
skills needs as part of the 
command centre capable of 
providing construction related skills 
demand and training delivery data 
on an on-going basis. 

LBL It is anticipated that the Lewisham Construction Skills Hub will be established and 
commence delivery in April 2017. The data gathering exercise to feed into the updated 
labour forecast will commence in April/May 2017. 

15 Provide at least annual updates on 
business data and intelligence in 
Lewisham and London wide 

LBL The Council will continue to engage start-ups and other SME’s in order to provide 
information or signpost to support that may be required. We will also be continuing to use 
the business data and intelligence to enable start-ups and SME’s to identify opportunities for 
them to grow 
 

16 Maintain business directory of local 
companies employing over five 
employees. 

LBL The Business team currently maintain a list of 102 businesses who employ 20 or more 
people. This list was updated over the last year. We have recently received new business 
data on micro businesses based in Lewisham. The team will continue working to keep these 
databases up to date. The list is used to contact businesses to inform them of events taking 
place such as the Living Wage event held in March 2016 in the Civic Suite. 
 

17 Develop and refine the job alerts 
system that targets residents and 
partners. 

LBL There has been a lot of progress made in the last year. There are now two Local Labour and 
Business Scheme job alert registers. One which targets those residents and partners which 
have an interest in work and training in the construction industry and the other which 
features jobs in all other non-construction related sectors. The procurement of Lewisham 
Construction Hub service providers is underway, the service specification includes a more 
refined construction focussed job alert system. The contract award is due in March 2017. 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

This is in addition to the job alerts that the Council sends out linked to the roles that are 
being advertised at the Council. 
 
Jobcentre Plus, Work Programme providers and organisations that are members of the 
Lewisham Service Providers Forum are able to access job alerts from member 
organisations thereby improving access to information about the vacancies that our 
residents could apply for within the borough as well as in the surrounding region. 
 

18 Sharing and promoting quality job 
opportunities in partner 
organisations with residents. 

Housing 
Associations 
 

As set out above, quality job opportunities in partner organisations are shared and promoted 
through the Lewisham Service Providers Forum webpage or regular ezines. In addition, the 
Council works with partners to identify apprenticeship opportunities for our residents and 
these opportunities are promoted to our residents through JCP, our website, through the Job 
Fairs, partner websites and new media eg tweets and Young Mayors various 
communication channels. At the time of this update, Phoenix Community Housing is working 
closely with L&Q to identify job opportunities on Excalibur estate in Downham for residents. 
 

19 Work with the FE colleges to share 
labour market intelligence, and 
destination data to better shape 
curricula. 

Lewisham and 
Southwark 
College and 
other local FE 
providers 

We share labour market intelligence with Lewisham Southwark College on a regular basis, 
and have been involved in curriculum design at the College. 
 
ALL managers attended a curriculum planning event in Spring 2016, and a pilot was set up 
between LS College and Adult Learning Lewisham for the Summer Term of 2015-16 
 

 

Priority 3: Further develop supporting links to employers and enterprise 

 

No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

20 Continue to use the procurement 
supply chain and the opportunities 
on offer through the enterprise hub 
to leverage employment and 
apprenticeship opportunities. 

LBL and 
Housing 
Associations 

The Council has continued to seek opportunities for our residents through our supply chain. 
Social Value is a core part of all procurement in the council and input has been provided to 
the procurement processes for all contracts including the Highways, Footpaths, Catering, 
Security, FM and Cleaning contracts.  As a result social value targets, including 
apprenticeships, have been embedded in the contracts let to date.  
 
Our partners, particularly Lewisham Homes and Phoenix have also been using their 
procurement processes to gain additional social value for tenants and residents including 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

employment opportunities, training on writing CV and other pre-employability from 
contractors, work experience and apprenticeships opportunities 
 
To date, ten jobs and one apprenticeship have been created through the Enterprise Hubs 
and we are anticipating more to come as the Hubs become more established. 
 

21 Work with the Local Labour and 
Business Scheme to develop links 
with employers across all sectors – 
particularly in the construction 
industry. 

LBL Through the Council’s regeneration/development projects and using S106 obligations as a 
tool, the LLBS is and continues to work with key developers/employers in the borough to 
deliver benefits to local residents.  
 
We have advertised jobs to local residents and employment and training partners on behalf 
of employers such as Ardmore Construction, Carers Lewisham, Chartwells, Crossrail, 
Tideway, Compass Group, Potentsis, HSS Hire and The Albany. To date 314 partner jobs 
have been advertised since March 2016. 
 

22 Provide local small businesses with 
access to tailored professional 
business support for growth and 
establish a network of Enterprise 
Hubs to support growth amongst 
small businesses. 

LBL The Enterprise Hubs (Dek) opened in August 2016. The 4th floor of the Old Town Hall is 
nearly fully occupied with creative businesses, whilst the 5th floor is slowly building up with 
people looking for flexible co-working space. There are regular business workshops being 
ran for members as well as other Lewisham businesses on how to gain skills in order to 
grow and expand their business.  
 
 

23 Provide tailored support for local 
residents who wish to start up in 
business or become self-employed. 

LBL / JCP The Jobcentre are working with Ixion to deliver the New Enterprise allowance. Phase 2 of 
the programme introduced March 2016 provides a greater degree of support for those 
considering setting up a new business. Also provides an increased period of run on support. 
 
The Council is continuing to provide a Business Advice Service for residents who are 
interested in setting up businesses and need support or advice plus the Enterprise Hubs 
managed by the London Small Business Centre also provides tailored support for residents 
who wish to start up or expand their businesses 
 

24 Ensure Social Value targets, 
including jobs, skills and business 
support, are embedded in all LBL 
procurement processes and 

LBL The LLBS provided input to the procurement processes for the highways, footpaths, 
catering, security, FM and cleaning contracts.  As a result social value targets have been 
embedded in the contracts let to date. The highways, footpaths and catering contracts are 
currently being monitored by LLBS with commencement meetings for security, FM and 
cleaning planned for early 2017. 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

monitor the Social Value 
Outcomes. 

 
Since March 2016, the highways contract has supported the continuation of 4 
apprenticeships, advertised 10 jobs locally, 33% of the workforce employed to deliver this 
contract are Lewisham residents and £75K of contract spend has been with Lewisham 
businesses. 
 

25 Supporting enterprise, 
entrepreneurship and self-
employment opportunities through 
our enterprise hubs and other 
initiatives. 

LBL In addition to the Enterprise Hubs (see above), Adult Learning Lewisham learners have 
established a number of small enterprises eg (Quaggy Printers, Quirky Jewellers, Brockley 
Potters, Q-Glass) aimed at selling the works of learners and tutors – these have had 
successful sales at exhibitions, festivals and stalls across the borough. 
 

26 Work with key partners to deliver 
the community investment 
programme. 

Lewisham 
Homes 

Lewisham Homes’ Community Investment Programme continues to deliver opportunities for 
Lewisham borough residents in the areas of Employability, Health & Wellbeing, Digital and 
Financial Inclusion. Lewisham Homes will continue to deliver its Community Investment 
Programme in collaboration with key partners, and to date, has invested over £200k. 
 

27 Providing funding through Phoenix 
Community Chest to organisations 
that deliver employability/training 
programmes. 

Phoenix 
Community 
Housing 

Phoenix Community Chest programme continues to support local organisations working 
with tenants/residents. A new round will be opened this year and organisations that supply 
employability training have been encouraged to submit bids for 2017. 
 

28 Use planning intelligence to 
establish relationships with end 
user employers to develop and 
offer bespoke training programmes 
to enable unemployed residents to 
access new job opportunities. 

LBL Working with developers and with end user employers continues to be a priority for the 
Council and additional capacity has been created to further our work in this area during 
2017.  
 

29 Continue to work with employers to 
develop a skills training offer in line 
with labour market requirements. 

Adult Learning 
Lewisham 

Adult Learning Lewisham remains focussed on filling gaps in the labour market for childcare 
providers in Lewisham. ALL is running vocational qualifications, at different levels, in this 
area in partnership with childcare providers across the borough. Accredited courses in 
English, Maths and ESOL (including the Understanding the Language of Work course) 
boost essential work-place skills for Lewisham’s employers.  
 
In addition, the LLBS team and the Lewisham Construction Hub when established will work 
with employers to develop a skills training offer in line with labour market requirements. The 
2016 Logistics Training Programme, which is currently underway, was developed in direct 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

response to the outcome of employer market testing. We have already secured job 
outcomes as result of the programme and will carry out a full assessment on completion. 
 

 

Priority 4: Improving local skills training to equip adults for work opportunities 

 

No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

30 Work with local colleges to develop 
their curricula and training offer to 
ensure it fits with the needs of the 
local labour market. 

LBL and Local 
Further 
Education 
Colleges 

See comment for action 29 and 19 above 
 

31 Identify skills training gaps and 
work to fill these through targeted 
spending and joint funding 
opportunities such as the 
Understanding the Language of 
Work pilot and the Building Lives 
Construction Skills Centre. 

LBL During 2016, the Council through Adult Learning Lewisham delivered two cohorts of the 
Understanding the Language of Work programme – with funding coming from the Flexible 
Support Fund (from Jobcentre Plus, previously it was a project funded by ESF). The project 
had a total of twenty five participants all of whom were unemployed. 64% of these achieved 
a positive outcome, as defined in the project (that is no longer claiming benefits, moving into 
work or further learning). As a result of our success and good practice, our model has been 
adopted by London Councils who have used it as the basis for the commissioning of the new 
London wide ESF ESOL programme. 
 

32 Expand the apprenticeship training 
offer to include opportunities for the 
over 25s. 

LBL From Cohort 8, which began recruitment in April 2016, apprenticeship roles through the 
Lewisham Apprenticeship Programme have been opened to applications from Lewisham 
residents aged 16 and up to 64. To date applications from candidates over the age of 25 
account for 30% of applications received and account for 20% of successful candidates. 
 

33 Use individual profiles in schools to 
deliver targeted support to 
Lewisham Young people who will 
transition into work or further/higher 
education. 

LBL This is ongoing through the Participation Team in the Council 

34 Devise a Digital Skills & Inclusion 
Strategy for tenants to provide 
access, build confidence and ignite 

Phoenix 
Community 
Housing 

The following is the progress that has been made during 2016 

 Phoenix have developed an approach to embed digital inclusion support via the 
customer facing operations in the Green Man (now an Online centre). Access to 
touch screens have been installed in the Green Man for visitor use 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

an interest in emerging 
technologies. 

 Phoenix have collaborated with Go-ON partners LBL, Community Connections & 
Lewisham homes to create a volunteer digital network which was a Lewisham techy 
team objective to  support and resource digital inclusion activities in the borough 

 Twenty active members of the Lewisham techy team are now linked to Lewisham 
Local 

 Phoenix have rolled out weekly & monthly drop-in sessions to support offline 
community to access internet and support. 

 Monthly Techy tea parties @ The Green Man launched in May, these have seen 
145 visits over the last six months on average 16 attendees to each event with a 
further 130 visits to the a weekly digital drop-in 

 

35 Supporting residents to close 
identified skills gaps through 
bespoke 1:1 training and 
mentoring. 

Lewisham 
Homes /LBL 

Pathways to Employment provides person centred 1:1 support. Residents that are referred 
on to the programme start with a detailed action planning session which identify skills gaps 
as well as wider barriers to employment. Pathways keyworkers use a combination of 1:1 
support and bespoke training and mentoring to tackle skills gaps – typically these are around 
English, Maths, IT and obtain construction skills and qualifications. 
 

 Lewisham Homes piloted an employability programme targeted at residents in 
receipt of Universal Credit by providing bespoke 1:1 training and mentoring 
opportunities. These residents embarked on a 6 month pathway to employment 

 Lewisham Homes developed, in partnership with the Albany and Adult Learning 
Lewisham, a training programme targeted at residents with learning difficulties to 
gain basic gardening skills to secure employment with Lewisham Homes’ Grounds 
Maintenance team. 

 Lewisham Homes is now working in partnership with Hyde Housing to provide 
beneficiaries for the ESF funded Love London Working programme which provides 
1:1 coaching and support for residents into employment 

 
The Lewisham Construction Hub service provider procurement process is in progress, this 
will secure a construction specific Information Advice and Guidance offer for residents. The 
provider is expected to be appointed in March 2017. 
 

36 Providing support for the Building 
Lives Academy Careership 
programme. 

Phoenix 
Community 
Housing and 
LBL 

The number of Job outcomes gained via the Building Lives programmes in 2015/16 was  
  68 students started the course 
  87% of those who started the course completed the whole qualification 
  68% of these went into work or Further learning 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

 
The Traineeship programme being offered at the Meadows Centre has now been refreshed 
and a new model is being developed by Barking & Dagenham College/Saint-Gobain & 
Barnardo’s. The new course will start in April 17 
 

 

Priority 5: Deliver employment support for those with the most complex needs 

 

No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

37 Work with Lambeth and Southwark 
to deliver the expanded Pathways 
to Employment programme to 
deliver employment support to 
those with the most complex needs. 

LBL Phase 1 was a pilot from October 2014 to October 2015. Phase 2 is an expansion of phase 
1 and which started in May 2016 and will run for two years.  The programme is delivered in 
partnership with Jobcentre Plus (JCP) and runs out of one Jobcentre in each of the three 
boroughs (Lewisham, Streatham and Peckham). The three boroughs with JCP have 
designed a triage tool which recognises that those with complex needs require support with 
a broad range of issues if they are to get back into work. Using the key worker model, the 
individual has a single point of contact who works with them to address a person’s barriers 
to work, including skills, housing, debt, family, childcare as well as more specific barriers to 
work, and set them on a pathway to employment. We learnt from phase 1 that effective 
triage and assessment of customer’s individual needs is more important than choosing 
particular cohorts. We found that the focus on cohorts meant that some clients were being 
offered or were involved in multiple programmes, which was difficult to manage and we 
were not necessarily supporting the clients with the most complex needs. We developed a 
triage that was more employment focused and looked identifies wider barriers to 
employment and assigns a score for this. This triage provides an assessment of the 
person’s needs and allows us to identify clients with the most complex needs. For phase 2 it 
is carried out exclusively by work coaches in the three jobcentres at the following points in a 
person’s benefit claim, points at which evidence shows they are vulnerable to becoming 
long-term unemployed or need additional support. These are: new ESA claimants, JSA 
claimants at 13 weeks, ESA- JSA transitions, IS – JSA transitions and full service UC 
claimants 7 weeks into their claim. This also reduced the risks of duplicating services and 
support. Pathways phase2 will support at least 1200 residents over two years with 625 
moving into work. Since May over 110 residents across the three boroughs have been 
helped into work, with over 67 being Lewisham residents. 
 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

38 Through the Troubled Families 
Programme we will deliver, in 
partnership with the JCP, 
employment support to those who 
meet the Troubled Families Criteria. 

LBL and JCP The Council continues to coordinate the Troubled Families Programme in Lewisham. 
Jobcentre Plus have seconded two Troubled Families Employment Advisors (TFEAs) to the 
Lewisham Team and their role is to help us identify individuals who meet the Troubled 
Families criteria. Once identified the TFEAs act as key workers for those families, helping 
families to access support needed to address individual barriers to employment and 
signposting to relevant provision. The TFEAs continue to support families once they have 
started working to ensure that the transition goes well. 
 
The Council through its early intervention services works, YOS, Children’s Centres, 
Attendance and Welfare services, Domestic Violence teams and with health partners etc 
support families who meet the Troubled Families criteria. We will continue to work with 
these families through our early intervention programmes to support them to move from 
dependence to independence and to move closer to the labour market. 
 
Finally, the Government has recently appointed a provider to deliver the ESF Support for 
Families with Multiple Disadvantage programme from April 2017. This programme is 
specifically aimed at families who meet the Troubled Families criteria. The new provider will 
be providing a person centred service to each individual with the aim of moving participants 
into the labour market. The Council is working with the recently appointed provider and 
Jobcentre Plus to set the programme up in Lewisham 
 

39 Maximise the support on offer 
though the European Social Fund 
to deliver employment support to 
vulnerable residents – with a focus 
on ESOL provision and support 
around Mental Health. 

LBL The Council is keen to work with organisations delivering the ESF ESOL programme and 
programmes that support residents with mental health issues once these programmes come 
on stream.  

40 Explore the introduction of work 
placements for residents. 

Lewisham 
Homes / 
Partners 

There has been considerable progress made over the last year on this aim:- 

 Lewisham Homes introduced a formal in-house Work Placement programme within 
its organisation 

 Lewisham Homes is also working with the following partner organisations to support 
its tenants/residents access opportunities for work experience, work placements 
and volunteering: the Albany, Elevating Success and Eco Communities 

 Phoenix has continued with its work placement scheme for tenants looking for short 
term work experience 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 
 

 The Council through its Memorandum of Understanding with Goldsmiths, University 
of London will be supporting students to access work experience placements that 
relate to their course of study 

 

41 Continue to provide basic skills 
training for residents and explore 
the introduction of tenancy 
statements to get residents to 
commit to employment. 

Phoenix 
Community 
Housing 

Phoenix have set up a “Roots into Work” programme that offers tenants and leaseholders 
access to training with local FE partners. The introduction of tenancy statements is being 
considered. 
 

 

Priority 6: Encourage residents in employment to progress 

 

No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 

42 Work with local businesses to 
support London Living Wage 
employment. 

LBL The Council has held two Living Wage events for local businesses. There was a conference 
in March 2016 and a business breakfast in November 2016. At the March event the Council 
launched a new initiative offering a discount worth up to £5000 on NNDR to all businesses 
who sign up to become London Living Wage accredited employer during 2016/17. The 
Business Breakfast was held during Living Wage week and was part of our programme of 
activity to promote Living Wage employment. The Council will continue to work with local 
businesses to support London Living Wage employment during this year. 
 

43 Explore with partners how to widen 
access to upskilling opportunities. 

LBL and 
Partners 

We have identified that this needs to be the focus on work we do through 2017. We have 
worked with partners this years to understand the changing nature to the Lewisham labour 
market, and the wider London Labour market, and have identified people cycling in and out 
of work, those with low skills and unable to progress, and the increasing precarious nature of 
work with part-time work increasing and zero hour contracts.  
This is a structural change to the labour market and we are exploring what actions we can 
take to improve this position. 
 
The move to all age apprenticeships has been an important first step in this issue- allowing 
post 24s to retrain and gain different experience. 
 



No. Action Owner Progress since November 2015 

44 Explore how to identify residents 
who would benefit from support 
with progression and working with 
providers to commission and 
provide this support. 

All Partners We have been working with partners, specifically JCP on how the local flexible support fund 
could be used to assist with those that cycle in and out of employment. 
 
We are currently developing a Phase 3 of Pathways to Employment and are likely to focus 
on the target group. 
 

 





Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Title Animal welfare charter and consultation results 

Contributor Executive Director for Customer Services Item 5 

Class Part 1 (open) 24 January 2017 

 
 
1. Summary 
 
This paper reports back on the results of the consultation on the proposed changes to the 
London Borough of Lewisham’s Animal Welfare Charter.  

 
 

2. Purpose 
 
The purpose of the report details the findings of the ‘Animal Welfare Charter’ consultation and 
informs on the updated Animal Welfare Charter including changes in the Councils policies with 
regards to Animal Welfare. 
  
 
3. Recommendations 

 
3.1. The Sustainable Development Select Committee is recommended to: 

 
o Note the results of the Animal Welfare Charter consultation; 
o Comment and / or note the updated Animal Welfare Charter. 

 
 
4. Policy Context 

 
4.1. Adopting an Animal Welfare Charter is considered good practice and should outline 

the Council’s commitment to animals and their welfare, serve as a guide to aid policy 
making and decisions. 

 
4.2. The findings of the Animal Welfare Charter consultation and the Animal Welfare 

Charter contribute towards delivering the Council’s corporate and sustainable 
community priorities, especially in respect of ‘clean, green and liveable’ and ‘safety, 
security and visible presence’. 

 
 
5. Background 

 
5.1. In 1983 Lewisham Council adopted an Animal Welfare Charter to ensure that the needs 

of animals were taken into consideration when the Council carried out its duties. Since 
then there have been many changes to animal legislation and best practice, making the 
current Charter out of date. Lewisham Council is proposing to update its Charter to ensure 
that high standards of animal welfare are maintained and shared throughout the borough. 
Details of the proposed changes are outlined in the next section. 

 
 
 



6. Draft Animal Welfare Charter 
 

6.1. The Charter adopted in 1983 covered companion animals, experiments on animals, 
factory farms and slaughtering, wildlife, performing animals and education. Many of the 
views contained within the original charter are now outdated and are no longer reflected 
by animal welfare professionals. 
 

6.2. Guidance issued by the RSPCA suggests that an Animal Welfare Charter need not cover 
every aspect of animal welfare, but should address the main areas of the Council’s 
responsibility for animal welfare. It may also include statements about issues on which 
they have no direct responsibility. An effective charter should look at each issue in turn, 
setting out the Council’s policy and then addressing how that policy can be turned into 
action. 
 

6.3. To reflect the changes in current legislation and to bring it in line with best practice the 
draft Animal Welfare Charter has been broken down into the following categories: 

 
• Statutory Responsibilities 
• Enforceable Legislation 
• Responsible Animal Ownership 
• Deceased Animals 
• Performing Animals 
• Procurement 
• Wildlife and Habitat Conservation 
• Emergency Planning 
• Council Pledges 

 
6.4. These categories best reflect the Councils statutory and legislative responsibilities and 

best reflect its continued commitment to ensuring that high standards of animal welfare 
are maintained throughout the borough.  
 

6.5. A copy of the new Animal Welfare Charter is attached as Appendix 1. 
 
 

7. Animal Welfare Charter Consultation 
 

7.1. Consultation on the Animal Welfare Charter commenced on 24th October 2016 and ran 
until 2nd December 2016. The aim of the consultation was to garner resident’s views about 
the proposed changes to the current Animal Welfare Charter.  
 

7.2. Consultation was carried out via an online survey using uEngage. Participants were asked 
to read the Draft Animal Welfare Charter and then answer the questions relating to 
specific sections of the Charter. 
 

7.3. The online survey was promoted via a variety of means including Lewisham Life e-zine 
and Twitter. To ensure that particular groups were targeted, 270 organisations were 
contacted inviting them to participate in the survey. These included all Primary and 
Secondary Schools, nurseries, businesses and charities involved in animal welfare and 
community groups.  For a full list see Appendix 2. 
 

7.4. The draft Animal Welfare Charter was also promoted at the Young Advisors Forum. 
 

 
 
 



8. Animal Welfare Charter Consultation Results 
 

8.1. The results of the online consultation and the Young Advisors Forum are detailed below. 
The full results of the consultation can be found in Appendix 3. 
 

8.2. Animal Welfare Charter Online Survey 
 

8.3. The online survey was completed by 119 people, these included 11 that responded on 
behalf of a business or organisation and there were 41 additional comments in the free 
text box of the survey. Of those that responded to the survey and provided the relevant 
information: 
 

• 83% of respondents were of White ethnicity (70.59% were White British) 
• 62% were female 
• 55% were 50 years and older 
• 8% consider themselves disabled 
• 90% of people responded as an individual and 6.72% responded on behalf of 

a business or organisation 
 

8.4. The results of this survey are not representative of Lewisham’s demographic as per the 
2011 census. According to the census 54% of the population are white (42% White British) 
and 15% consider themselves to be disabled. 
 

8.5. The main findings of the online survey are summarised below and are broken down into 
the 9 main sections of the charter.  
 

8.6. Updating the Animal Welfare Charter – 86% of respondents agreed with the Council 
regarding updating the Animal Welfare Charter to bring it in line with current legislation 
and best practice. 
 

8.7. Promoting responsible animal ownership – The Council promotes responsible animal 
ownership in a variety of ways including through partnership working, the Borough Action 
for Responsible K9’s (BARK) project and the Green Dog Walkers Scheme. 92% of 
respondents agree with this approach to promoting responsible animal ownership. This 
section received the largest number of free comments with individuals taking the 
opportunity to highlight issues and concerns. 
 

8.8. Discouraging the keeping of animals in a classroom – Over half (55%) of respondents 
agreed with the Councils proposal to discouraging the keeping of animals in classroom, 
including hatching egg projects. However respondents were keen to point out the 
educative value of animals and suggested alternative ways in which children could still 
experience animals in a classroom environment.  
 

8.9. Deceased animals – The Council has a policy to scan all deceased domestic animals to 
check for a microchip, and 96% of respondents agreed with this policy. 
 

8.10. The banning of caged or performing animals for the purposes of entertainment – 94% 
of respondents agreed to the proposal to ban the use of caged or performing animals for 
the purposes with permitted exceptions, which are detailed in the Charter.  
 

8.11. Performances being allowed following such considerations regarding banning of caged 
or performing animals – 70% of respondents agreed to performances being allowed once 
the additional checks and considerations had been carried out. 
 



8.12. Sustainable Procurement Code of Practice – 83% of respondents agreed with the 
Councils current procurement code.  
 

8.13. Sky lanterns and balloons – 43% of the organisations that responded disagreed with 
a ban on the use of sky lanterns on land and premises either owned or managed by the 
Council. The three respondents to this question were a faith group, a school and user 
group for green space. However these results do not correlate with the views of 
individual’s that responded. 76% of respondents supported the proposed ban on the use 
of sky lanterns and 68% of respondents supported the proposed ban on the use balloons 
on land and premises either owned or managed by the Council.  
 

8.14. Emergency Planning - To minimise the stress caused during emergencies the Animal 
Welfare Service works alongside the Emergency Planning Service to ensure that such 
situations are handled compassionately and efficiently. 86% of respondents agreed with 
the Councils approach to emergency planning.  
 

8.15. Free Text Comments 
 

8.16. In total there were 41 free text comments regarding the Animal Welfare Charter. After 
analysis 35 of them were broken down into the following main categories of the 
consultation. 

 

 The charter update – Four comments were received about the charter update with 
75% of those supporting the Councils decision to review and update it. 
 

 Responsible animal ownership 1 – The twelve comments regarding this expressed 
opinions on greater enforcement of existing legislation, licensing of pet shops and 
neutering and microchipping.  

 

 Responsible animal ownership 2 – There were six comments on the 
discouragement of keeping animals in the classroom. Five of these expressed 
concern regarding a ban on keeping animals in the classroom as they felt there 
was reduced potential for a child’s opportunity to be exposed to animals and to 
learn about animals. 

 

 Performing Animals – the two comments received regarding performing animals 
questioned the specific criteria of the ban and whether there was scope for it to be 
extended.  

 

 Procurement – the comment on procurement suggested that the Council commit 
to the purchasing of free range eggs and that meat was offered as a choice less 
frequently at catered events as a cost saving measure. 

 

 Wildlife and conservation – there were ten comments regarding wildlife and 
conservation and included comments in support and in opposition to a ban on sky 
lanterns and balloons, issues regarding foxes, bees and the creation of wildlife 
areas. Two individuals also raised concerns regarding the use of fireworks and 
their impact on wildlife. 

 
8.17. Young Advisors Meeting 

 
8.18. During the consultation it was noted that all of the respondents were aged 25 years or 

older. Therefore a meeting was arranged with the Young Advisors to explain the Charter 



and to garner their views. The Young Advisors were encouraged to complete the 
consultation.  
 
 

9. Amendments to draft Animal Welfare Charter 
 

9.1. Following analysis of the results there were no amendments to the draft Animal Welfare 
Charter. However, the Animal Welfare Service will provide additional guidance and 
assistance to schools, nurseries and community groups regarding the keeping of animals 
in classrooms if requested.  

 
 
10. Financial Implications 

 
10.1. There are no direct Financial Implications with regards to this report. 
 
 
11. Legal Implications 
 
11.1. Pursuant to sections 149 and 150 of the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 

2005 (“2005 Act”.) the Council has responsibility for the collection and detention of stray 
dogs.  The Lewisham Dog Control Order (s. 75 of the 2005 Act is currently in force 
across the Borough. (Dog Control Order will be superseded by Public Space Protection 
Orders created under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 by the end 
of 2017.) 

  
11.2. The Council also has numerous and relevant licensing responsibilities pursuant to the 

Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963, Breeding of Dogs Acts, (1973 and 1991,) the 
Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999 and the Pet Animals Act 1951.  

 
11.3 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality 

duty or the duty).  It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or 
belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 
11.4 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 

need to: 
 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

• advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

• foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
11.5 It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, 

victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster 
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who do 
not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed above.  
 

11.6 The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision 
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in 
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must understand the impact 
or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who are potentially 



affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from case to case 
and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances. 

  
11.6 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on the 

Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, 
Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have 
regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn to 
Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance also 
covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory 
force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling 
reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical guidance can 
be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-
act-codes-practice and https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-
guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance. 

 
11.7 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides 

for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:  

 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 
 Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making 
 Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities 
 Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities 
 Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities 

11.8 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the 
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public 
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well 
as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on 
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available 
at:  

 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-
duty-guidance#h1 

 
 
12. Equalities Implications 

 
12.1. An Equalities Analysis Assessment has been conducted relating to the proposed 

changes to the Animal Welfare Charter. 
 

12.2. The protected characteristics that are most affected by the changes to the Animal 
Welfare Charter are Age and Ethnicity. 

 
12.3. In analysing the data, research and equalities monitoring from the uEngage Survey 

and having due regard to the Equality Duty, the following plan has been developed. A 
copy of the Equalities Analysis Assessment is attached as Appendix 4. 

 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/691
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/562
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/820
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/1461
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/838
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1


Possible Issues Protected 
Characteristic 
Affected 

Assessment of 
Potential 
Impact (+/-): 
High, 
Medium, Low, 
Neutral 

Actions to be Taken Expected 
Outcome 

Reduced opportunity to 
learn about animals, 
their environment and 
their welfare. 
 
 

Age 
 

High (+) Develop and maintain a 
schools education program 
with an emphasis on Animal 
Welfare. 
 
Develop and strengthen 
partnerships with other 
animal welfare organisations 
and assist them in the 
delivery of their outreach 
programs. 

Increased 
awareness of 
animals, their 
environment and 
their welfare 
needs by young 
people. 
 
Strengthened 
links between the 
Animal Welfare 
Service and 
schools and 
nurseries. 

Reduced opportunity to 
learn about responsible 
animal ownership 

Age 
 

High (+) Develop and maintain a 
schools education program 
with an emphasis on 
responsible animal 
ownership. 
 
Develop and strengthen 
partnerships with other 
animal welfare organisations 
and assist them in the 
delivery of their outreach 
programs. 
 
Liaise with schools and 
nurseries to develop 
potential wildlife areas and 
identify areas where schools 
can keep animals such as 
bees and chickens. 
 
Responsible dog ownership 
days to be delivered with the 
assistance of Housing 
Associations and Animal 
Welfare partners. These will 
enable residents the 
opportunity to participate in 
free microchipping scheme 
and learn about how to care 
for their animals. 

Strengthened 
links between the 
Animal Welfare 
Service and 
schools and 
nurseries. 
 
Increased 
partnership 
working with 
external 
organisations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Increase in the 
number of people 
attending 
responsible 
animal ownership 
days and increase 
in the number of 
dogs 
microchipped. 

Ability to access the 
Animal Welfare Charter 
may affect the ability to 
comply with the 
recommendations set 
out in it.  

Ethnicity and 
Religion 

Medium (-) Ensure communications are 
in plain English and use 
images where possible. 
 
Engage with amenity groups 
and target organisations who 

Residents will 
have the 
opportunity to be 
informed about 
the animal 
welfare charter.  



Possible Issues Protected 
Characteristic 
Affected 

Assessment of 
Potential 
Impact (+/-): 
High, 
Medium, Low, 
Neutral 

Actions to be Taken Expected 
Outcome 

can communicate service 
changes with their 
communities. 

 
13. Environmental Implications 

 
13.1. There are no direct Environmental Implications relating to this report. 

 
14. Crime & Disorder Implications 

 
14.1. There are no direct crime and disorder implications. 

 
15. Conclusion 

 
15.1. Although Animal Welfare is a small service area it can be an emotive subject area and 

have an impact on a significant number of Lewisham residents, business and 
organisations. 
 

15.2. The aim of the consultation was to find out the views of residents, businesses and 
organisations, on the proposed changes to the Animal Welfare Charter which outlines the 
Council’s commitment to animal welfare and the way in which the Council delivers the 
Animal Welfare Service. 
 

15.3. Respondents were supportive of the proposal to update the Charter and of the changes 
contained within it. The proposal to ban performances of caged or performing animals for 
the purposes of entertainment was strongly supported as was the ban on the use of both 
sky lanterns and balloons.  
 

15.4. The proposal to discourage the keeping of animals in classroom also received strong 
support. However, concerns were raised regarding whether this would limit children’s 
access to animals and therefore affect their ability to learn about animals, their needs and 
their environment.  
 

15.5. It is therefore recommended to adopt the Animal Welfare Charter, that is both in 
keeping with the views of the respondents to this survey and with the Councils statutory 
and legislative obligations.  

 
 
16. Background Papers and Further Information 
 
16.1. For further information relating to the report, please contact Kay Foley, Animal Welfare 

Officer on 020 8314 3602 or email kay.foley@lewisham.gov.uk. 
 
  

mailto:kay.foley@lewisham.gov.uk


Appendix 1 – Animal Welfare Charter 
 

 
 
Appendix 2 – List of Consultees 
 

 
 
Appendix 3 – Consultation Results 
 

 
 
Appendix 4 – Equalities Analysis Assessment 
 

 





Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Title Catford Regeneration Programme - Update 

Contributor Kplom Lotsu – SGM Capital Programme Delivery Item 6 

Class Part 1 (open) 24 January 2017 

 
1. Purpose of paper  
 

1.1. SDSC has requested quarterly updates on the progress of the Catford 
Regeneration Programme. This report sets out key achievements in the 
last quarter. 

 
2. Recommendations   
 

2.1. The Select Committee is asked to note the contents of the report 
 
 
3. Background: 

 
3.1. The most recent update on the Catford Regeneration Programme to the 

Sustainable Development Committee was given on 14 September 2016 
and covered an update on a series of practical issues that needed to be 
resolved in order to progress the scheme. These included: progress on 
options to realign the A205; Housing Zone and vision and planning 
guidance for the regeneration programme.  
 

3.2. Since the report to SDSC on 14 September, an update report on the 
Catford Regeneration Programme was also given to Mayor & Cabinet on 
9th November. The report also recommended a new planning approach 
to regenerating the Town Centre. This was preceded in September by a 
report on the Housing Zone grant offer for the scheme. Both reports are 
attached as appendices to this update report. Other developments since 
the update to the Mayor are provided in the following section.   

 
 
4. Update:  

 
4.1. TfL  - Road Options 

 
4.1.1. The programme team continue to work closely with TfL’s team on the 

options appraisal looking at the potential re-alignment options for the 
South Circular, as per previous updates. A number of high level criteria 
have been identified to help the teams properly assess the different 
options against all relevant areas. A table detailing these criteria can 
be found in Appendix 3. The Select Committee’s comments and input 
on these criteria would be welcomed by the Programme Team, to 



ensure that officers have covered all relevant and necessary areas of 
assessment. 
 

4.1.2. An architect has been engaged as part of the assessment process to 
provide site studies of the affected land, to gain an understanding of 
how the different options impact on development capacity and urban 
design considerations. Property advice is currently being procured to 
provide valuation advice on the basis of these studies. This will help 
provide a full understanding of the different options and their impact 
on, for example, development values, costs, viability and phasing. 
 

4.1.3. The architectural studies and property advice will be completed by the 
end of January and February 2017 respectively. The final stage of the 
detailed TfL traffic modelling of the road options will now be completed 
by mid-March following which they will be able to indicate their 
preferred option for the realignment of the A205. Their preferred option 
will be fed into the overall assessment in appendix 3 in order to arrive 
at an overall preferred option to be recommended to Mayor shortly 
thereafter. 

 
 

4.2. Engagement Strategy 
 

4.2.1. Officers are developing an overarching engagement strategy for the 
programme. The purpose will, among others, be to: 
 

 ensure that engagement is clear, concise, open and two-way, 
ensuring a good understanding of the knowledge, interests and 
concerns of all stakeholders; 

 create realistic expectations with regards to timescales, scope and 
constraints; 

 reduce misunderstanding and misperceptions about the programme 
and its impacts, by providing the right amount of information in 
appropriate detail at the right time; 

 be inclusive by seeking to reach communities and individuals that 
are seldom heard; 

 provide feedback to participants and the wider community on the 
outcomes and decisions taken following engagement; 

 provide positive press coverage for Catford Town Centre; 
 

4.2.2. The engagement strategy is therefore being designed to be pro-active 
in gathering views from a range of stakeholders including Members, 
partners, land owners, service users and local residents. It proposes 
to use a flexible and adaptable online media/portal (CommonPlace) for 
information sharing and an opportunity for people to input their views 
on the regeneration programme on an ongoing basis. This is expected 
to grow and be adapted to suit the different stages of the master-
planning process. 
 
 



 
4.3. Site Studies and Master-planning 

 
4.3.1. As noted above, officers have procured further architectural studies to 

examine development options for the Catford Town Centre and Plassy 
Island sites in relation to the current TfL road options. Further initial site 
studies, focussed on specific elements requiring a more in-depth 
approach (e.g. Catford triangle and stations area, Civic Offices 
requirements) will be procured and used to draw up an Urban 
Framework, ensuring that the basic principles and layout of the 
masterplan design will meet the necessary requirements in Planning 
terms, and in terms of practical deliverability and viability for the 
Council. The Urban Framework will reflect the overall vision and 
principles of the development programme, the responses from the 
Catford Conversations (engagement sessions), feedback from the 
online engagement tool, and from all other forms of engagement, to 
ensure that all stakeholders have the opportunity to input into shaping 
the masterplan. 
 

4.3.2. Officers hope to engage a master-planning architect in Spring 2017 
following resolution of the road situation. The appointed Master-
Planner will use the information provided in the Urban Framework to 
work up a Masterplan for the whole Catford Town Centre.  

 
4.4. Housing Zone:  

 
4.4.1. The Housing Zone designation for the Catford Programme was 

approved by Mayor and Cabinet in September ensuring that officers 
can now enter into the Over-Arching Borough Agreement (OBA) with 
the GLA for the grant. Final documentation from the GLA is now been 
prepared to complete this stage of the process. Sign-off of the OBA by 
both parties indicates formal acceptance of the £30M grant to support 
affordable housing and other interventions detailed in the Housing 
Zone application. Actual drawdown of the grant will be subject to further 
agreements known as the Borough Intervention Agreement (BIA) for 
each specific intervention. 
 

4.4.2. The September 2016 report to Mayor and Cabinet (referred to above 
and attached as appendix 1), also secured the Mayor’s agreement to 
enter into the BIA for the specific interventions related to the stations 
and flood alleviation. The grant award for both interventions amount to 
£2.7M of the £30M total grant (£1.5M flood alleviation and £1.3M 
station improvement works). Details of the agreements are being 
assembled to enable officers access the grant to deliver those 
elements of the Housing Zone programme.   

 
4.5. Meanwhile Use: 

 
4.5.1. The Programme Team continue to work closely with the Directors of 

Catford Regeneration Partnership Ltd (CRPL) in ensuring that their 



assets contribute positively to the regeneration agenda in Catford. To 
that end, specific meanwhile use opportunities within Catford Town 
Centre are currently being explored for a number of their currently 
vacant units namely at Thomas Lane Depot, the Brookdale Club and 
17-18 The Broadway. 
 

4.5.2. The aim is for diverse, creative, commercial and mixed-used 
occupation that will inject a new burst of life and creativity into some of 
CRPL’s vacant and unused spaces, helping to bring new talent, 
opportunities and resources to the local area. The meanwhile use of 
these buildings is expected to act as a catalyst to re-invigorate Catford 
Town Centre, and meet Council’s priorities for local regeneration, 
growth and investment. 
 
 

4.6. Broadway Theatre 
 
4.6.1. The Programme Team have been working closely with the Culture and 

Communities team to deliver the three main workstreams associated 
with the theatre. A brief update on each element is provided below. 

 
4.6.1.1. Café/bar  

 
A successful marketing exercise has resulted in the Council 
progressing negotiations with a specific prospective Licensee to 
operate the Café/bar in the theatre. Terms are in the process of 
being agreed, and the team is aiming to have the Licensee in 
occupation from the end of March. 

 
4.6.1.2. Minor Works Programme 

 
A minor works programme has been prepared to deal with the works 
identified during the recent condition survey and access audit of the 
theatre. The programme will also address some other areas of work 
which are not necessarily condition related but are deemed 
important in enabling the theatre to continue to operate effectively. 
It is expected that works on the minor works will start on site in 
March. 

 
4.6.1.3. Heritage Lottery Fund Bid 

 
A Conservation Management Plan is currently being procured and 
is expected to be completed in May 2017. This is necessary to 
inform the HLF bid, which officers plan to submit in the Summer. 
Meanwhile, officers in Culture & Communities are currently applying 
to the Great Places scheme (funded by the Arts Council, HLF and 
Heritage England), and are hopeful that the theatre will benefit from 
part of this grant, which is focused on revenue and activities, rather 
than capital and building investment. 

 



 
4.7. Programme of Key Dates 

 
A list of key dates for the first quarter of 2017 is set out in the table below. 
 

9th Jan 2017 Catford Programme Board Meeting 

17th Jan 2017 Catford Conversations – Local Ward Member Engagement  

24th Jan 2017 SDSC Catford Town Centre Regeneration  - Quarterly Update  

31st Jan 2017 Catford Conversations – Local Ward Member Engagement 

4th Feb 2017 Catford Conversations – Local Ward Member Engagement 

Feb 2017 Catford Programme Board Meeting 

Feb 2017 Mayor’s Briefing on A205 Re-alignment 

March 2017 SDSC Briefing on A205 Re-alignment 

April 2017 M&C Report – A205 Re-alignment  

April 2017 Catford Programme Board 

 
 
For further information please contact Kplom Lotsu, SGM Capital Programme 
Delivery on 020-8314-9283.  
 
 
Appendices: 
 

Appendix 1 – Catford Regeneration Programme – Update and Housing 
Zone (Sept 2016) 

 
Appendix 2 – Catford Regeneration Programme Update - Mayor and 

Cabinet (Nov 2016) 
 
Appendix 3 – A205 Realignment Top Level Assessment Criteria 

 



 

    

 
APPENDIX 3 
 
A205 Realignment Top Level Assessment Criteria       

          

Criteria: 
TfL 
Perspective 

Urban 
Design, 
Heritage & 
Conservatio
n 

LBL 
Transport & 
Highways Costs 

Development 
Capacity 

Developm
ent 
Viability 

Phasing & 
Deliverability 

Corporate/Regener
ation Objectives Risk 

What is 
being 
assessed? 

Various 
standard TfL 
Criteria 

Performance 
of each 
option 
against a set 
of 15 
standards of 
urban 
design, 
heritage and 
conservation 
criteria 

Performance 
of each 
option 
against LIP 
objectives. 
To include 
scoring on 
traffic flow 
and air 
quality. 

The different 
costs for each 
option: Whole 
Cost of road 
build (incl. 
services 
moves); Land 
acquisition 
costs; Office 
relocation costs 

The differing 
development 
capacity (floor 
areas and unit 
numbers) for 
each option. 

The 
differing 
land/develo
pment 
values as 
applied to 
each option 

The effect of 
each option on 
the development 
programme and 
key milestone 
dates 

Effect on Council 
office 
accommodation and 
workforce; 
Performance against 
objectives outlined in 
previous plans for 
Catford (e.g. 
withdrawn Town 
Centre Plan); 
Performance against 
any other wider 
policy objectives e.g. 
GLA, Housing Zone 
etc. 

The number, 
type and 
severity of 
risk 
applicable to 
each option. 

How will it 
be 
assessed? 

Using TfL's 
own standard 
matrix 

Using LBL 
Planning's 
Placemaking 
Assessment 
Matrix 

Using the list 
of LIP 
objectives 

Using cost 
information from 
TfL, acquisition 
values from 
property advice 
to be procured, 
relocation costs 
from 
comparable 
office market 
evidence 

Performance of 
each option with 
regards to: Total 
floor areas 
provided for 
each option, 
standard % 
splits applied for 
predicted types 
of space 
(residential/non-
residential), 
average unit 
size applied. 

Using 
residual 
valuations 
based on 
the 
Developme
nt Capacity 
studies. 

Using estimated 
development 
programmes 
applied to each 
option, and 
scoring based 
on ability to 
complete 
programmes 
efficiently and 
quickly 

Using a list of 
determined criteria 
from various 
objectives as 
outlined above, and 
scoring each option 
against these criteria 

A list of risks 
will be drawn 
up and each 
option will be 
scored as to 
performance 
against these 
risks. Use 
template risk 
assessment 
matrix. 



MAYOR AND CABINET 

Report Title Catford Regeneration Programme – Update and Housing Zone

Key Decision Yes Item No. 
Contributors Executive Director for Resources & Regeneration, Head of Law

Class Part 1 Date: 28 September2016

1. Purpose of paper 

1.1 This paper provides a short update on progress of the Catford 
Regeneration Programme and set out details of the GLA’s Catford 
Housing Zone funding award and the terms attached to the award.

2. Recommendations  

2.1The Mayor is recommended to:
 

 note the content of the report and accept the Catford Housing Zone 
funding award from the GLA;

 delegate authority to the Executive Director for Resources and 
Regeneration in consultation with the Head of Law, to finalise terms 
and enter into the Overarching Borough Agreement for the Catford 
Housing Zone; and

 delegate authority to the Executive Director for Resources and 
Regeneration in consultation with the Head of Law, to finalise terms 
and enter into the Borough Intervention Agreements for the early 
implementation projects outlined in paragraph 5.3

3. Policy context

3.1 A number of strategies and plans are relevant to this programme.

3.2 Lewisham’s overarching Sustainable Communities Strategy sets out a 
vision for the future of the borough. One of the priorities laid out in the 
strategy is to develop, build and grow communities that are dynamic and 
prosperous – where people are part of vibrant communities and town 
centres, well connected to London and beyond. 

3.3 Lewisham’s latest Strategic Asset Management Plan (2015-2020) is an 
opportunity to optimise the use of assets to maintain the quality of service 
provision while further driving reductions in expenditure and exposure to 
costs; and to reframe the focus across the borough based on the evolving 
picture on housing, regeneration and development. During the life of the 
last Asset Management Plan (2010-2014) the Council made savings of 



over £100m with significant savings achieved through better use of 
assets. The Council now faces further budget pressures with a £45m 
savings target over the three years to 2019/20.  

3.4 The Regeneration Strategy  ‘people, prosperity and place’  is also 
relevant and  links the Council’s corporate priorities to the development 
and regeneration of Lewisham’s communities, the local economy and the 
built environment.

3.5 Lewisham’s new Housing Strategy for 2015-2020 identifies four priorities: 
helping residents at times of housing need; security and quality for private 
renters; improving our residents’ homes; building the homes our residents 
need. The Council’s assets can play a role in this, creating opportunities 
to develop new housing supply of all tenures, making land available for 
the construction of new homes and by using an understanding of the 
borough to improve the way service delivery connects with communities 
at a local level.

4. Background

4.1 On 17th February 2016 the Mayor approved a report which recommended 
that the council should submit a bid to the GLA for Housing Zone support 
for the Catford town centre regeneration plan.

4.2 The bid attached at Appendix 1 was submitted for the GLA’s 
consideration and set out a case for how GLA grant support could help 
stimulate the delivery of housing in the town centre and enhance overall 
deliverability.

4.3 In line with the funding guidelines the bid sought funding of £40 million to 
support three important areas; provision of affordable housing, enhancing 
town centre flood resilience, improvements to the train station 
environment and the Catford arrival experience.

4.4 In March 2016 the GLA announced that Catford had been awarded an 
indicative allocation of £30 million made up of £27.2m affordable housing 
grant, £1.3m for rail station arrival space and £1.5m for flood alleviation. 
Whilst the grant was lower than requested it is a sizeable contribution 
towards delivery of the regeneration programme and will have a marked 
effect on what can be delivered.

4.5 Council officers have been reviewing the funding agreements provided by 
the GLA and have met to discuss protocols and timescales for agreeing 
these. The agreement is split into different sections which are entered 
into sequentially once sufficient information is available on the scheme 
being delivered. Copies of these template agreements are available as 
background documents.



5. Housing Zone Funding Agreements

5.1 The first agreement that the Council must enter into is an Overarching 
Borough Agreement (see background documents). This sets out the 
general principles upon which it has been agreed that Housing Zone 
funding is to be made available by the GLA and is superseded in due 
course by the individual Borough Intervention Agreements that are then 
subsequently entered into between the parties. Whilst many of the terms 
are standard requirements of any GLA funding such as reporting 
arrangements and collaboration over publicity, there are some elements 
in particular that are worth highlighting:

 the GLA reserves the right to adjust or withdraw the sum paid to the 
borough in the event that the borough fails to deliver the expected 
housing outcomes agreed under the individual Borough Intervention 
Agreements. 

 the GLA would be required to give their consent to the disposal of 
any borough owned land included in the Housing Zone if such 
disposal deviates from the agreed use as set out in any individual 
Borough Intervention Agreement.

 The GLA seek guarantees in respect of planning performance and 
determination as Key Performance Indicators of the borough, to 
ensure that planning matters are dealt with expeditiously

5.2 Prior to any funding drawdown the Council must enter into a Borough 
Intervention Agreements (BIA) (see background documents). Each BIA will 
set out the detailed terms and conditions upon which specific amounts of 
funding will be advanced to the Council by the GLA and the outputs which 
we must commit to delivering in return. The Council is not formally bound 
to deliver these outputs until the BIA is entered into and funding advanced.

5.3 The GLA have agreed that quick wins, including work to enhance the 
Catford stations arrival experience and flood alleviation can be carried out 
as soon as possible and do not have to wait until there is greater clarity on 
housing delivery timescales. An officer within the Capital Programme 
Delivery team will be assigned to begin developing the stations project and 
to develop a timetable for delivery with key stakeholders including Network 
Rail, Southeastern and TfL. The work is likely to involve improvements to 
station forecourts, underpasses, information boards and taxi ranks and will 
tie in to ambitions for improved routes between the town centre and the 
stations. Work on the Ravensbourne flood alleviation project is already 
ongoing and the project will substantially reduce the risk of river flooding in 
Catford town centre by creating flood storage in Beckenham Place Park 
and improving defenses at points along the watercourse. The project is 
currently at the detailed design stage and is being led by the Environment 
Agency with the involvement of the Capital Programme Delivery Team. 
Implementation is planned in 2018, and Catford town centre will benefit 
from reduced flood risk from 2019.



5.4 It will be possible to identify the outputs from the quick win projects at an 
early stage, enabling funding to be released for their implementation in the 
2017/18 and 2018/19 financial years. This means that Catford can begin 
to benefit from the Housing Zone investment early on, whilst the longer 
term plans for housing development are progressed.

5.5 Certainty on specific housing outputs from the redevelopment of key sites 
in the town centre will not be known until the design is sufficiently 
advanced. It is likely that subsequent Borough Intervention Agreements 
will not be entered into until planning approval for each development phase 
has been achieved. The terms of these subsequent BIAs will be reported 
to the Mayor for approval at the appropriate time. 

5.6 Discussions on the form of affordable housing to be delivered through the 
grant support will be continued with the GLA as plans for redevelopment 
are advanced and as the housing priorities of the new Mayor of London 
become clear. The Council will continue to seek that new affordable 
housing clearly meets the housing needs identified by the borough. 

6. Other areas of work

6.1 In addition to the Housing Zone activity, work continues in key areas to 
advance the Catford regeneration programme these areas include: 

 agreeing a preferred solution for the road network and public realm 
in Catford town centre with TfL;

 improving development viability of the scheme through a 
combination of approaches including; raising grant funding, 
sharing potential risk and reward, treatment and use of financial 
receipts, mitigating acquisition costs etc.

 putting in place appropriate planning guidance for redevelopment 
sites in the town centre

6.2 A short update on each of these areas follows ahead of a more 
comprehensive update to M&C on programme direction in November. 

Transport for London – road and public realm preferred solution

6.3 TfL have assembled a project team to work with the Council in a 
collaborative way on improvements to the road network in Catford Town 
Centre. The TfL team met with council officers on 28th June and 2nd August 
and is scheduled to meet again on 28th September.

6.4 Previous analysis undertaken by TfL has focussed on the impact of 
different road layouts on traffic flow of the A205 and A21 but without 
consideration of a range of other factors, which are important to the 
success of Catford town centre. The current phase of work uses the 
methodology developed through the Roads Task Force to carry out a more 
holistic assessment of the pros and cons of different approaches. Some of 
the criteria being assessed are included at Appendix 2. 



6.5 In the current phase of work greater emphasis is being given to the 
pedestrian experience in the town centre with a focus on improving 
crossings, narrowing roads where possible, widening footways, giving 
greater priority to pedestrians at side roads on the route to Catford’s 
stations and improving the quality of the public realm, particularly along 
Rushey Green. All options are also looking at creating greater space 
outside the Broadway Theatre.

6.6 Opportunities to improve cycle priority through the area are also being 
evaluated including new cycle lanes and cycle advance areas.

6.7 As each option is developed it will be measured against the assessment 
criteria at Appendix 2 so that an objective analysis of each can be made. 
There are a number of factors which sit outside this assessment and which 
remain material considerations, including cost of implementation and the 
impact on the viability of the various development sites.

6.8 Officers will support this analysis and present a summary of the options for 
the road location, with recommendations for a decision, within the next 3 
months.

Development Viability & Delivery

6.9 Capital Programme Delivery team have appointed development delivery 
advisors Atkins and Aspire Developments Ltd to advise on the most 
appropriate development strategy to take the regeneration programme 
forward. This work includes using their industry knowledge to identify any 
information gaps in the work undertaken by the council to date and to 
develop a programme and timescale for delivery of the regeneration 
scheme, including a timetable for the Compulsory Purchase Order. They 
will also advise on appropriate resource needs and budget for the next 
stage of work. 

6.10 The outline programme, including key target dates for delivery, will be 
completed in October 2016 and this together with an updated budget 
requirement will be reported to Mayor & Cabinet in November.

Catford vision and planning guidance

6.11 At the Sustainable Development Committee meeting in May 2016 there 
was discussion about the need to make sure that the vision for Catford 
town centre was sufficiently ambitious and that councillors and the public 
were fully involved in developing the vision.

6.12 The Programme team together with the Planning Department have 
appointed Urban Narrative who specialise in exploring how people relate 
to the places they inhabit. Urban Narrative are undertaking a series of 



workshops with councillors, officers and the public to explore the most 
important factors necessary for creating a successful town centre in 
Catford.

6.13 The first workshop, with officers, was held on 31st August 2016 and was 
both optimistic and productive. A clear and ambitious vision for Catford was 
discussed, building on the town’s recognised strengths, and potential: 
Excellent quality and desirable housing, the Civic Centre and the heart of 
public sector services in the borough, and a vibrant destination for culture, 
leisure and entertainment, centred on the Broadway Theatre. Workshops 
will also be held with Councillors and the public to develop this further. 

6.14 The workshop highlighted that actions must be taken to prevent the 
Council’s longer-term regeneration plans from blighting the area in the 
meantime. The Capital Programme Delivery Team are currently 
investigating short and medium term plans for the implementation of 
meanwhile uses within the town centre, including pro-active management 
of CRPL assets and a creative approach to empty retail and other units 
within the Catford Centre. Of particular note are imminent plans to use the 
Thomas Lane Depot site for meanwhile use; and to re-enliven the Catford 
Broadway Theatre by opening the café/bar as soon as possible. Work on 
a longer term strategy for the theatre will also be advanced.

6.15 The importance of determining an appropriate, modern and future-proofed 
specification for Catford’s new Council offices was also highlighted in the 
discussion. The new offices will be at the heart of the regeneration scheme, 
and must be fit-for-purpose, provide flexible and healthy work space, and 
an inviting environment for the public, sending a clear message of the 
Council’s high aspirations for its public service delivery.

6.17 The Planning Department and the Capital Programme Delivery Team will 
work together and use the results of Urban Narrative’s work to inform the 
development of the Catford Masterplan for the redevelopment of Catford 
town centre as a whole, as well as the creation of supporting planning 
guidance for individual development sites within the planned area.

7. Legal implications

7.1 The Council has a wide general power of competence under Section 1 of 
the Localism Act 2011 to do anything that individuals generally may do.  
The existence of the general power is not limited by the existence of any 
other power of the Council which (to any extent) overlaps the general 
power.  The Council can therefore rely on this power to accept the GLA 
funding and enter into the proposed agreements in relation to the Catford 
town centre Housing Zone.

7.2 It is proposed that the final terms of the Overarching Borough Agreement 
which sets out the agreed principles and framework upon which the 
Housing Zone funding will be made available will be agreed by the 
Executive Director for Resources & Regeneration, on the advice of the 



Head of Law, in accordance with the authority delegated by this report. It 
is also proposed that the Borough Intervention Agreements (BIAs) for the 
specific quick win projects referred to in this report will be agreed under 
delegated authority. Based on discussions with the GLA, it is not 
anticipated that these BIAs will bind the Council to any specific outputs in 
relation to the expected housing outcomes. This means that the Council 
would not be required to repay funding if these could not be delivered in 
the future. If this position changes following the negotiation of the detailed 
terms with the GLA, a further report will be brought back to Mayor & 
Cabinet for approval.

7.3 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty 
(the equality duty or the duty).  It covers the following protected 
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation.

7.4 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to:

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act.

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not.

7.5 It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote 
equality of opportunity or foster good relations between persons who 
share a protected characteristic and those who do not. It is a duty to have 
due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed above. 

7.6 The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of 
the decision and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter 
for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. 
The Mayor must understand the impact or likely impact of the decision on 
those with protected characteristics who are potentially affected by the 
decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from case to case 
and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances.

7.7 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical 
Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance 
entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations 
Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have regard to the 
statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn to 
Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical 
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. 
This includes steps that are legally required, as well as recommended 
actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless 



regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling reason 
would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical 
guidance can be found at: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-
act-codes-practice

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-
act-technical-guidance 

7.8 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously 
issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the 
equality duty: 

 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
 Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
 Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities
 Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities
 Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities

7.9 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements 
including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply 
to. It covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including 
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other 
four documents provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice 
on good practice. Further information and resources are available at: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-
guidance#h1

8. Financial Implications

8.1 On 17th February 2016 the Mayor approved a report which recommended 
that the council should submit a bid to the GLA for Housing Zone support 
for the Catford town centre regeneration plan. 

8.2 In March 2016, the GLA announced that Catford had been awarded an 
indicative allocation of £30 million made up of £27.2m affordable housing 
grant, £1.3m for rail station arrival space and £1.5m for flood alleviation. 
Council officers have been reviewing the funding agreements provided by 
the GLA and have met to discuss protocols and timescales for agreeing 
these.

9. Equalities Implications

9.1 There are no specific equalities implications arising out of this report. 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/691
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/562
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/820
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/1461
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/838
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1


10. Environmental Implications

10.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising out of this report.

11. Crime and Disorder Implications

11.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising out of this 
report.

12. Human Rights Implications

12.1 There are no specific human rights implications arising out of this report

13. Conclusion

13.1 The award of Housing Zone status for Catford and £30m grant funding will 
give the regeneration scheme much needed assistance. The ability to bring 
forward quick wins could yield tangible results in the near future whilst 
longer term plans are developed. Officers will provide a further update on 
progress on 9 November 2016 detailing progress on the above issues 
together with an updated programme and budget for the scheme.

For further information please contact Kplom Lotsu, SGM Capital 
Programme Delivery on 020-8314-9283. 

Background documents

Template Overarching Borough Agreement
Template Borough Intervention Agreement



APPENDIX 1

GLA - Catford Housing Zone

Outline Proposal

January 2016

Vision and Sites

To achieve the restoration of a fractured Town Centre including the redevelopment of 
five key sites totaling 11.4 hectares to deliver 2,500 new homes and an improved retail, 
office and leisure offer set within an improved public realm

Catford used to be a thriving centre whose growth was spurred by the development of 
the railways in the 19th century. The town centre sat in the middle of a network of high 
quality Victorian streets and was served by excellent transport connections due to the 
presence of two railway stations and a highly effective tram system. In addition to a high 
quality retail offer the centre was a well-known entertainment destination boasting a 
host of attractions including several cinemas, skating rink, dog track and theatre. 

Of those attractions only the listed theatre remains and it sits adjacent to the old town 
hall and civic centre, opposite Laurence House (the Council’s current offices) and near to 
the underwhelming 1970s Catford Centre which disrupts the urban grain. These three 
sites totaling 6.3 hectares, form the core of the redevelopment area and following the 
acquisition of the freehold of the shopping centre in 2011 they are largely in Council 
ownership. The sites have a high level of public transport accessibility with PTALs of 6a 
across all sites. Zone 3 travel from Catford’s rail stations offer journey times to Cannon 
Street, London Bridge, Charing Cross, Blackfriars, Victoria and St Pancras in 17-31 
minutes.

A number of plans are attached at Appendix 1 indicating the extent of the town centre 
and the key sites to be redeveloped under the council’s proposals. A brief description of 
each of these sites together with development potential identified in the recent capacity 
study prepared for the council by Allies and Morrison is set out below.

Catford Centre

The Catford Centre site is largely covered by a 1970s shopping centre with a Tesco store 
acting as the main retail anchor, a considerable number of known high street names 
have left the centre in recent times and relatively poor quality retail now dominates the 
mix. Milford Towers, a 276 unit council estate is built over some parts of the shopping 
centre making redevelopment complex. The remainder of the site includes surface and 
multi-storey car parking, an outlying council office and disused warehouse space. More 
than a decade ago, the Council decided as part of its Decent Homes Strategy that Milford 
Towers should be comprehensively redeveloped rather than investing in what was a 
costly and problematic piece of the housing estate. Bringing about comprehensive 
redevelopment was hampered by other ownerships but the most significant obstacle 



APPENDIX 1

was overcome when the Council acquired the freehold of the shopping centre from St 
Modwen in 2011. Interim management arrangements since then have led to appropriate 
break clauses being put into new leases to ease redevelopment. Most of the secure 
tenants of Milford Towers have been decanted with the Council now buying back 
leaseholder interests on a voluntary basis. The empty properties are being used to house 
local residents on a temporary basis until we are ready to proceed with demolition. The 
leasehold buy backs have commenced ahead of a CPO process which will be 
programmed in to the development timetable to ensure timely vacant possession. 

The site totals 4.3 hectares and our most recent master planning work with Allies and 
Morrison suggests the site could accommodate a mixed use development of around 
980,000 ft2 (approximately 878 homes) together with a new and much improved 
retail/leisure offer.

Laurence House 

The Laurence House site is currently home to the Council’s main office and provides a 
base for up to 1,300 staff. The 13,000 m2 office occupies only a small proportion of the 
1.3 hectare site and was constructed in the 1990s as a temporary building to keep open 
the option of rerouting the A205 south circular across the south of the site. Most of the 
site is used as car parking for council staff and as an overnight lorry park. The site is 
wholly owned by the Council and redevelopment is relatively uncomplicated, but 
replacement office accommodation would have to be provided and the protection 
afforded to sections of the rear of the site for the proposed re-routing of the A205 will 
need to be removed.

Our recent masterplanning work suggests that the 1.3 hectare site could accommodate 
a residential development of around 466,000 ft2 (approximately 417 homes).

Town Hall and Civic Centre

The town hall site is home to our old offices, which we vacated in order to achieve 
efficiency savings, these are in use on an interim basis as creative work spaces and by 
our ALMO Lewisham Homes. The civic centre remains in use and its suite of meeting 
rooms and council chamber, together with office space for elected members are critical 
to the interface between elected members and the public.

The site totals 0.7 hectares and our recent masterplanning work suggests the site could 
accommodate replacement office and civic facilities for the Council totaling 12,500m2 
with public facing ground floor uses. A new office at this scale is a more than 50% 
reduction in floor space for the Council’s Catford complex and reflects efficiencies that 
the Council has already achieved and wishes to continue to pursue in order to enable 
comprehensive redevelopment of the town centre. With construction costs for a 
replacement office somewhere in the region of £40m this is one of the key 
redevelopment burdens, but by rebuilding on our land we believe we can de-risk 
delivery. 



APPENDIX 1

Plassy Island

The Plassy Island site provides a mixture of retail and leisure uses based on an out of 
town retail format, with double height warehouse type stores surrounded by a large 
surface car park, it also contains an outlying Council office leasehold interest. 
Development of the site has been constrained for decades by the potential changes to 
the A205 south circular which runs to the east and south of the site. Freehold ownership 
of the site is in private hands with almost all owners showing an active interest in the 
redevelopment of the site. 

The site totals 3.1 hectares and our recent masterplanning work suggests the site could 
accommodate a mixed use development including 774,000 ft2 of residential space 
(approximately 693 homes), with ground floor retail and leisure uses

Wickes & Halfords

The Wickes & Halfords site also provides retail based on an out of town format, which is 
at odds with its position adjacent to both Catford and Catford Bridge stations. The site 
sits in the middle of a 2 mile long green corridor running through the centre of the 
borough and with the completion of Barratt Homes’ Catford Green development, it is 
the missing link in an important part of the borough’s sustainable transport network.

The site totals 2.0 hectares and our recent masterplanning work suggests the site could 
accommodate a mixed use development including 571,000 ft2 of residential space 
(approximately 512 homes), with ground floor retail and leisure uses. Due to a number 
of local factors the site is considered an appropriate setting for taller buildings.

The site sits in a flood risk area and we are currently working with the Environment 
Agency on detailed design for a major flood alleviation scheme for the River 
Ravensbourne which will significantly reduce the risks to this site and open up new 
development opportunities, including continued potential enhancements to the river 
corridor.

New homes & new jobs

Only two of the five sites currently have residential accommodation on them. Milford 
Towers is comprised of 276 units, 22 of which are leasehold units sold under right to buy. 
Historically the mix of units (80 studios, 131 x 1 bed, 65 x 2 bed) has caused management 
issues and combined with their condition led to a decision to demolish and rebuild.

The Plassy Island sites’ main residential space is Eros House a 63 unit purpose built 1960s 
block. The owner has been in discussions with the Council’s planning department on 
further potential residential opportunities at the site. Six other Victorian properties 
provide a mix of retail and residential space and whilst it is not known exactly how many 
residential units they contain we anticipate it to be no more than 10.



APPENDIX 1

Taking all five sites in total the current level of residential development is 346 units 
across 11.4 hectares equating to around 30 u/ha. We anticipate redevelopment of all 
five sites will deliver 2,500 homes (2,151 net addition) and raise the residential density 
to a more appropriate level of around 230 u/ha. Of this total, some 1,295 homes would 
be delivered on Council land giving a net increase of 1,019 units on our land. The actual 
increase in residential space is greater than the unit numbers might suggest because of 
the unusual number of small units in Milford Towers.

Construction employment opportunities during works will be significant and we estimate 
that complete redevelopment of all sites will create up to 5,000 construction jobs. The 
precise quantum of employment space within the scheme has yet to be determined and 
estimates of permanent jobs created are not yet available.

Delivery timescales

The Council is currently working to develop updated planning guidance for Catford town 
centre based on the new masterplan. We aim to find a development partner to work 
with in 2016 and anticipate that development on the core sites could commence within 
2 years of their selection. Phasing and delivery is complicated for some sites but we 
anticipate that the redevelopment can be completed within 10 years (by 2026). 

Viability and interventions

We have been working with GVA on the outline viability for redevelopment of sites in 
the Council’s ownership, but overcoming the financial obstacles to this £400 million 
redevelopment is challenging. We believe we are approaching a position where the 
scheme could be viable, but the cost of re-providing the Council’s office accommodation 
and acquiring remaining commercial and residential freehold and leasehold interests 
means that it is unlikely that a policy compliant level of affordable housing could be 
delivered. The focus on base viability means that opportunities to tackle problems in the 
public realm caused by the dominance of traffic movement along the A205 or the poor 
arrival spaces and connections at Catford’s stations could be missed. The result could be 
a series of new developments that are not fully integrated with each other or with the 
existing neighbourhood, and do not unlock the full potential of the town centre. Either 
directly or indirectly Housing Zone support for elements of this programme will have a 
knock on effect on our ability to drive the quality of the overall vision, ensuring that new 
homes are linked by well-designed public realm and that dominant infrastructure such 
as the A205 south circular is tackled in line with the aims set out in the Roads Task Force 
vision. 

Housing Zone support totaling £40m is sought to tackle three key areas:

Support for affordable housing – given the loss of 254 social rented units within Milford 
Towers the Council would wish to maximize the level of affordable housing on the 
Catford Centre site. However, this development site is particularly challenging because 
of the cost of the remaining acquisitions and the demolition cost of the centre. Without 



APPENDIX 1

grant funding the shopping centre site is unlikely to deliver any affordable housing, a 
position which would be particularly difficult for the Council to support. 

£37,200,000 is sought as a contribution towards achieving our aspiration of 35% 
affordable provision on this site.

Support towards improvements to Catford’s rail station arrival spaces and to improve 
connectivity between the two totaling £1.3 million is sought. A series of interventions 
were scoped in 2014 which would dramatically improve the feel of the station area and 
aid access and movement.

£1.5 million support is sought towards implementation of a flood alleviation scheme for 
the river Ravensbourne which hampers development of the Wickes & Halfords site and 
will improve the resilience of Catford town centre and in particular the vulnerable 
transport infrastructure which serves it. We have been asked by the Environment Agency 
to raise £2 million in partnership funding towards the implementation of this £15.8m 
infrastructure project. The balance of funds have been committed by the Environment 
Agency and the regional flood defence committee. To date the Council have identified 
£0.5m in funding towards the scheme but are looking for further partnership funding 
towards the total. The principal element of the scheme involves the construction of a 
dry reservoir in parkland upstream from Catford which will hold flood water in the event 
of a major incident. The scheme has a major impact on flood resilience across much of 
central Lewisham including several potential housing development sites adjacent to 
Lewisham Station.

Further Information on proposed plans is available from:

Gavin Plaskitt
Capital Programme Delivery
Regeneration and Resources
4th Floor, Laurence House
1 Catford Road
SE6 4RU

Tel: 020 8314 6398
Email: gavin.plaskitt@lewisham.gov.uk
 
OR

Kplom Lotsu
Tel: 02083149283
Email: Kplom.lotsu@lewisham.gov.uk 

mailto:gavin.plaskitt@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:Kplom.lotsu@lewisham.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

Catford Town Centre red Line



APPENDIX 1

Key Sites Plan



APPENDIX 1

Masterplan – Core sites plan view with indicative building heights

Core sites view from south



APPENDIX 1

Wickes and Halfords Site – showing indicative development scale and relationship to existing and 
proposed development.



APPENDIX 2





1 
 

MAYOR AND CABINET  
 

Report Title 
 

Catford Regeneration Programme – Update 

Key Decision Yes  Item No.  

 
Contributors 

Executive Director for Resources & Regeneration 

Class Part 1 Date: 09 November 2016 

 
1. Purpose of paper  
 
1.1 This paper provides an update on progress of the Catford Regeneration 

Programme since the withdrawal of the Catford Town Area Action Plan at 
the end of 2013. It also recommends the use of a masterplanning approach 
to regenerating the Town Centre together with a timeline covering the next 
year to end of December 2017. 

 
 
2.  Recommendations   
 
The Mayor is recommended to: 
  

2.1 Note the content of the report 
 

2.2 Approve the recommended masterplanning approach for progressing the  
Catford Regeneration Programme 
 

2.3 Approve the programme for delivering the proposed approach 
 
 

3. Policy context 
 

3.1 A number of strategies and plans are relevant to this programme. 
 

3.2 Lewisham’s overarching Sustainable Communities Strategy sets out a 
vision for the future of the borough. One of the priorities laid out in the 
strategy is to develop, build and grow communities that are dynamic and 
prosperous – where people are part of vibrant communities and town 
centres, well connected to London and beyond.  
 

3.3 Lewisham’s latest Strategic Asset Management Plan (2015-2020) is an 
opportunity to optimise the use of assets to maintain the quality of service 
provision while further driving reductions in expenditure and exposure to 
costs; and to reframe the focus across the borough based on the evolving 
picture on housing, regeneration and development. During the life of the 
last Asset Management Plan (2010-2014) the Council made savings of 
over £100m with significant savings achieved through better use of assets. 
The Council now faces further budget pressures with a £45m savings 
target over the three years to 2019/20.   

 



2 
 

3.4 The Regeneration Strategy  ‘people, prosperity and place’  is also relevant 
and  links the Council’s corporate priorities to the development and 
regeneration of Lewisham’s communities, the local economy and the built 
environment. 

 
3.5 Lewisham’s new Housing Strategy for 2015-2020 identifies four priorities: 

helping residents at times of housing need; security and quality for private 
renters; improving our residents’ homes; building the homes our residents 
need. The Council’s assets can play a role in this, creating opportunities to 
develop new housing supply of all tenures, making land available for the 
construction of new homes and by using an understanding of the borough 
to improve the way service delivery connects with communities at a local 
level. 

 
 
4. Background 
 

4.1 The Council has for years led a series of interventions aimed at bringing 
about holistic regeneration of key sites in Catford Town Centre and in 
particular the sites which are in the Council’s ownership. A brief 
background and timeline of some historic events and achievements is set 
out below. 
 

4.2 In 1976, the Council gave 150 year lease to Lancaster Holdings Ltd for the 
newly built Catford Centre while retaining the freehold interest. The 
leasehold for the shopping centre was subsequently acquired by St 
Modwen in 1993. 
 

4.3 In June 2004, Mayor and Cabinet agreed that the evidence from the 
Decent Homes programme showed that the fundamental problems with 
Milford Towers meant it was uneconomic to maintain the 276 homes and 
that major regeneration should instead be pursued. 
 

4.4 In January 2010, the Council set up Catford Regeneration Partnership 
Limited to acquire the leasehold interest in the shopping centre and to help 
bring forward its regeneration plans for the town centre. This led to CRPL’s 
acquisition of the shopping centre in 2010. The acquisition was preceded 
a year earlier by the purchase of the leasehold interest of the Tesco store 
by Petersham Land. 
 

4.5 In July 2010, Mayor and Cabinet agreed regeneration plans for the Town 
centre which included the demolition of Milford Towers, retail development 
of the town centre, provision of new homes, community facilities, 
realignment of the South Circular and provision of new council offices. The 
plans were primarily focused on council controlled assets – the shopping 
centre; Town Hall and Laurence House sites. A feature of the plan was the 
development of a large Tesco store as part of the retail re-provision. 
 

4.6 Decant of Milford Towers commenced immediately and in 2011, Mayor and 
Cabinet agreed that commercial negotiations between Petersham Land 
and Tesco be progressed as part of the regeneration proposals.   
 



3 
 

4.7 Between April 2011 and the end of 2012 negotiations between the principal 
landowning interests (the Council, Petersham Land and Tesco) took place 
to try to agree a commercial deal for the regeneration of the shopping 
centre site. These discussions stalled late in 2012 as Tesco’s investment 
needs and business focus shifted. 
 

4.8 Following consultation on the draft Area Action Plan (AAP) for Catford 
Town Centre at the end of 2013 which proposed retaining the current south 
circular alignment but improving its efficiency, TfL expressed an interest in 
revisiting the relocation option. Progression of the AAP was put on hold. 
 

4.9 TfL commissioned detailed modelling of alternative road options and 
concluded in August 2014 that the benefits to highway movement from 
relocation of the south circular would ease traffic flow through the town 
centre at peak periods. The Council’s views on this were sought to 
determine whether the effect of the road move were of overall benefit to 
town centre plans. 
 

4.10 In December 2014, Allies & Morrison Urban Practitioners were appointed 
to review the ambitions set out in the draft town centre local plan including 
the impact of TfL’s proposed A205 realignment. The A&M review found 
many areas of agreement with the draft policies in the withdrawn guidance 
but also highlighted the potential to achieve more development than 
outlined in the withdrawn local plan. It also commented on the impact of 
implementing the various options of road layout proposed by TfL and their 
impact on the regeneration proposals. 
 

4.11 Further detailed analysis of the overall impact of road relocation and its 
impact on redevelopment of Catford Town Centre, development capacity 
and viability is currently being undertaken in partnership with TfL with the 
aim of resolving this issue. A report on this will be brought to Mayor & 
Cabinet in February 2017. 
 

4.12 In March 2016 the Council’s bid for Housing Zone status for the 
redevelopment of Catford Town Centre was successful and £30m grant 
has been awarded to help enable redevelopment. A significant proportion 
of the grant will be used to help improve the affordable housing element of 
the regeneration programme with the remainder funding improvements to 
Catford and Catford Bridge stations (providing a better sense of arrival and 
sign-posting etc.) as well as the overall flood resilience of the town centre.   

 
 
5. Current Work 
 

5.1 Planning Context and Approach  
 

5.1.1  Nationally, the government reformed the planning system in March 2012 
publishing a National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) to replace all 
previous planning policy statements and guidance. The focus of the 
NPPF is on a presumption in favour of sustainable development and 
positive growth. The NPPF provides a high level planning policy context 
for Catford, setting out the evidence base requirements for town centre 



4 
 

uses and encouraging local authorities to meet town centre needs in full. 
This is particularly relevant for Catford, given the need to maximise 
opportunities for the regeneration of the town centre while responding to 
local needs. 

 
5.1.2 The London Plan has identified opportunity areas across London in order 

to help meet the challenges of economic and population growth. These 
opportunity areas represent London’s largest development opportunities. 
The updated London Plan (2015) expects the opportunity areas to 
accommodate much of the capital’s growth, with capacity for 
approximately 575,000 jobs and 300,000 additional homes. The Plan 
identifies Catford as a Major town centre within the London retail 
hierarchy and as an opportunity area where more intensive development 
is supported. 

 
5.1.3 Locally, the adopted Core Strategy, the principal planning document for 

the borough, in particular, Spatial Policy 2 of the strategy designates 
Catford as a regeneration and growth area. This also provides an up to 
date policy framework to support the regeneration of the town centre. The 
Council is also in the process of developing a new borough wide local 
plan. The local plan will be the key planning document for the borough 
and will set out how the council will deliver new homes and related 
infrastructure needed over the next 15 years (2018 – 2033). These 
together form the basis of the proposed approach for regenerating the 
town centre. It is against this policy background that officers recommend 
the creation of a Masterplan as the most efficient means for delivering the 
Council’s aspirations for the town centre. The proposed Masterplan is not 
intended to have a planning policy status of its own.  

 
5.1.4 The recommended approach is the outcome of joint work between 

officers in the Regeneration and Place Division and the Planning 
Department with the support of an external consultant advising on the 
best means of facilitating the delivery of the programme. The 
recommended Masterplanning approach will involve the following: 

 

 Consultation on a refreshed, vision for Catford to be undertaken via 
a series of workshops with officers, Members and the public. 
Officers are also aware of discussions on the creation of a 
Neighbourhood Plan for Catford and that will form part of the series 
of engagements and consultation with the community.  
 

 An Urban Framework to be drawn up reflecting the outcome of the 
consultation and ensuring that the basic principles and layout of the 
design meet the necessary requirements in Planning terms, and in 
terms of practical deliverability and viability for the Council. 

 

 An external Masterplanner will be appointed to draw up the official 
Masterplan for Catford Town Centre, using the Urban Framework 
as its basis. The redline plan showing the extent of the Masterplan 
is attached as Appendix 1 – Catford Town Centre Masterplanning 
Redline Plan.  

 



5 
 

 The Masterplan will require Mayor and Cabinet approval, thereby 
giving the public, Members, landowners, developers and investors 
a much needed degree of certainty about the Council’s regeneration 
plans. 

 

 Following the approval of the Masterplan, it will be possible to agree 
a phased development plan, with some sites coming forward for 
development earlier than others. This is on the basis that not all the 
sites included in the Masterplan will be under direct council control. 

 

 Based on the phasing plan, site specific Planning Briefs can be 
created as each site comes forward for development. The Planning 
Briefs will inform each site’s planning application, ensuring that each 
individual site conforms to the Masterplan as well as all relevant 
Planning Policy. 

 

 Statutory consultation will be undertaken on each development site 
when planning applications are submitted.  

 
5.2 Governance and Programme Delivery Arrangements: 
  

5.2.1 Key decisions related to the development and delivery of the programme 
will be made in the usual way by Mayor and Cabinet. The programme 
currently provides quarterly updates to the Sustainable Development 
Select Committee on progress on the delivery of the programme. It is 
expected that this will continue. 

 
5.2.2 Executive oversight and accountability for the delivery of the regeneration 

programme is provided by the Catford Regeneration Programme Board 
chaired by the Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration. The 
board has executive representation from the Customer and Community 
Services Directorates as well as relevant Heads of Service. The board is 
also designed to have external participation as necessary, including 
attendance by the GLA as part of the Housing Zone governance 
arrangement. 

 
5.2.3 Actual day-to-day management of the delivery of the programme sits 

within the Regeneration and Place Division, where a dedicated team has 
now been established to deliver this phase of the regeneration 
programme. The team will be working through the Programme Board in 
driving the programme forward and in ensuring that the regeneration 
programme is properly planned and carefully structured in order to fully 
realise the Council’s ambitions for a successful and sustainable town 
centre. 

 
5.2.4 The team’s work will be supported by a wider network of key internal and 

external teams and people who will be essential in delivering the 
regeneration programme. As part of this wider network, a Catford 
Regeneration Programme Working Group has been established for the 
proposed Masterplanning Stage of the programme. The membership of 
the officer working group, which reports to the programme board, is 



6 
 

expected to change over time to meet the changing requirements of 
different stages of the programme. 

 
5.2.5 As part of ongoing work, officers recently commissioned a consultant to  

forward the council’s aspirations for the programme. An outcome of that 
commission is the need for a clear masterplan (as noted in 5.1.4 above), 
resource profile and timeline for delivering the masterplan. A breakdown 
of the external resource profile together with the estimated cost required 
to develop the masterplan is outlined below. 

 
Activity/Item Estimated Cost 

Development Management £96,000 

Land VDP and Transfer rights etc. £48,000 

Agency tasks £100,000 

Masterplan Architects £120,000 

Transport advice £30,000 

Other specialist advisors £50,000 

Stakeholder management £60,000 

Project management and admin £40,000 

Total £544,000 

 
5.2.6 A high level programme outlining the next stages of work to be carried 

out between now and the end of 2017 and is attached as Appendix 2 – 
Catford Regeneration (Next Phase Programme). This focuses on the 
Master-planning work that will be undertaken as part of the recommended 
planning approach, some urgent work to Broadway Theatre, and the 
development of meanwhile uses as a means of continuing to ‘animate’ 
the town centre while the regeneration proposals continue to be 
developed and implemented. 

 
5.2.7 It is acknowledged that a longer term programme for the delivery of the 

whole regeneration scheme is essential, however, and in light of the 
recommended planning approach set out above, it would be premature 
to commit to such a programme at this stage. The Masterplan will identify 
site specific development packages within a phased programme. The 
delivery of the phased programme will be dependent on a number of 
factors, including decant, negotiations with landowners, viability, 
financing and delivery strategy. It will also take into account factors such 
as TfL lead-in times for delivering major road projects; other relevant land 
assembly considerations; detailed community engagement and 
consultation and individual site planning applications.  

 
5.3 TfL Options Analysis for A205 Alignment 
 

5.3.1 Officers previously provided an update to Mayor & Cabinet on 28th 
September 2016 as to progress on discussions with TfL with regards to 
the realignment of the A205 in Catford. TfL are due to finish their 
modelling and costing analysis in mid-November, following which, officers 
will assess the options and aim to present a report with recommendations 
to Mayor  & Cabinet in February 2017.  

 
5.4 Early Interventions 
 



7 
 

5.4.1 Catford Stations Improvement Works: 
 

The £30m grant approval for the Catford Housing Zone includes 
allocations for infrastructure enhancements to benefit the town centre. 
£1.3 million is allocated to improving the rail station arrival experience and 
interchange. A series of potential interventions were scoped in 2014 with 
Network Rail, TfL and the train operating company which can now be 
reviewed and implemented thanks to the grant award. Enhancements 
may include:  

 

 Improved station square – between Catford and Catford Bridge 
Stations 

 Catford Station building improvements 

 Potential widening of Catford Road (north side) pavement using 
cantilever from bridge 

 Westdown and Bournville Road station approach improvements 

 Restore/reuse arches under Catford Road 

 Signage improvements 

 New taxi rank 

 Improved Catford Bridge Station forecourt 

 Improved underpasses 

 Accessibility improvements lift/stair enhancements 
 

5.4.2  Flood Resilience: 
 

£1.5 million of the Housing Zone grant is allocated towards improving 
flood resilience of the rail infrastructure and key redevelopment sites in 
the town centre which are susceptible to flooding from the river 
Ravensbourne. The allocation of funding will ensure that the flood 
alleviation scheme for the Ravensbourne which the Council has been 
working on with the Environment Agency can be implemented as planned 
in 2018 and 2019. 
 

5.4.3 On 28th September, Mayor and Cabinet agreed to progress these 
interventions while detailed plans for the regeneration of the town centre 
continue to be developed. The bulk of the Housing Zone grant is geared 
towards improving the level of affordable housing within the regeneration 
programme. That element of the grant will therefore not be available to 
be drawn down until details of for example, the quantum of housing and 
timing of delivery of housing etc are known. 

 
5.4.3 Broadway Theatre: 

 
The delivery team have been working closely with the Culture & 
Community Department in the Community Services Directorate to bring 
forward positive change for the Broadway Theatre. The following items 
are currently being progressed: 
 

 The need for a Conservation Management Plan has been identified, 
and a tender is being prepared to secure a consultant to prepare the 
plan. A comprehensive Conservation Management Plan will ensure 



8 
 

that any works undertaken are in line with the conservation 
requirements for the Grade II listed Theatre. 
 

 A minor works programme identifying and prioritising repair and 
refurbishment works, has been compiled. Costs are due to be sourced, 
and works undertaken accordingly. The minor works will be undertaken 
with regards to the Conservation Management Plan, and the Access 
Audit commissioned by the Culture and Community Department. 

 

 Officers have also begun work to find a new temporary operator for the 
café/bar. As noted above, this will be on the basis of a licence until 
longer term proposals for the Theatre and its place in the regenerated 
Catford town centre are developed and agreed. It is expected that an 
operator will be in place and the café/bar open to the public by summer 
of 2017. 

 

 Work has also begun on a bid for Heritage Enterprise Funding, which 
will support the more major investments in the building fabric required. 

 
5.4.4. Meanwhile Use: 
 

 The delivery team are currently investigating short and medium term 
plans for the implementation of other meanwhile uses within the town 
centre, including pro-active management of CRPL assets and a 
creative approach to empty retail and other units within the Catford 
Centre. The location of Bow Arts and Catford Dek on the 4th and 5th 
floor of the Old Town Hall are an early success in this respect. 
  

 The Thomas Lane Depot site offers good potential for meanwhile use, 
and options are being investigated as to how best to bring this forward, 
with the aim of having a meanwhile use in operation by summer 2017. 
Other potential meanwhile use opportunities have been identified at 17-
18 Catford Broadway, and the Brookdale Club, and these are also 
being investigated, with the aim of bringing them forward during 2017.   

 
6.  Community Engagement and Communications: 
 

 Officers previously reported on 28th September (Housing Zone) that 
some initial work has been undertaken by Urban Narrative, who 
specialise in exploring how people relate to the places they inhabit. 
Urban Narrative have undertaken an initial workshop with officers, and 
are now planning a series of workshops with Members and the public 
to explore the most important factors necessary for creating a 
successful town centre in Catford.  
 

 More generally, the stakeholder profile developed as part of the earlier 
work on Catford is being refreshed with a view to creating an 
engagement and communication strategy for the programme. Further 
development of a communications and community engagement 
strategy is expected over the next 3 months with input from corporate 
communications in determining appropriate means of communicating 



9 
 

and engaging with all stakeholders in particular the community during 
the masterplanning phase of the programme.   

 
 
7. Financial Implications –  

 
7.1 The report provides an update on progress of the Catford Regeneration 

Programme since the withdrawal of the Catford Town Area Action Plan 
2013. It recommends a new masterplanning approach for progressing the 
regeneration of the Town Centre and sets out resource required (both 
internal and external) over the course of the next year to December 2017. 

 
7.2 The resource required is in two parts – internal and external. The internal 

element covers the cost of the dedicated delivery team and the external 
consultancy support based on the schedule provided at section 5.2.5, 
aimed specifically at the delivery of the masterplan. Taken together the 
anticipated budgetary requirement to support the programme over the 
course of the next year is approximately £1M. This will be funded from 
current allocations in the Capital Programme. 

 
8. Legal Implications: 
  
 There are no specific legal implications arising out of this report.  
 
9. Equalities Implications 
 
9.1 There are no specific equalities implications arising out of this report.  
10. Environmental Implications 
 
10.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising out of this report. 

 
 
11. Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
11.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising out of this 

report. 
 

 
12. Human Rights Implications 

 
12.1 There are no specific human rights implications arising out of this report 

 
 

For further information please contact Kplom Lotsu, SGM Capital 
Programme Delivery on 020-8314-9283.  

 
Appendices: 
 
APPENDIX 1 – Catford Town Centre Masterplanning Redline Plan. 

 
APPENIDX 2 - Catford Regeneration (Next Phase Programme) 
  



10 
 

 
Appendix 1 – Catford Town Centre Masterplanning Redline Plan. 
 

 
 
 
 



 

   

APPENDIX 2 - Catford Regeneration (Next Phase Programme) 

                 

 2016 2017 

2018  Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Programme Re-invigoration                                 

Development Management Advice                                 

Catford Team Assembly (internal and external resources)                                 

TfL & A205 Realignment                                 

TfL Options Appraisal                                 

LBL internal assessment of TfL options                                 

Decision on LBL preferred A205 realignment                                 

Housing Zone                                 

Overarching Borough Agreement approved                                 

Station Improvement Design & Works                                 

Flood Alleviation Works                                 

Masterplanning                                 

Consultation with Members - Workshop sessions                                 

Consultation with Public                                 

Consultation with Members - Update sessions                                 

Masterplan Design                                 

Masterplan approved by M&C                                 

Catford Broadway Theatre                                 

Minor Works Programme - scoped and costed                                 

Minor Works undertaken                                 

Conservation Management Plan procured and created                                 

Café/Bar re-opens to the public                                 

Bid for Heritage Enterprise Funding worked up and applied for                                 

Meanwhile uses in vacant CRPL assets                                 

De-risking works scoped, costed, undertaken & meanwhile use agreed                                 

Meanwhile use in occupation                                 

 





 

 

APPENDIX 3 
 
A205 Realignment Top Level Assessment Criteria       

          

Criteria: 
TfL 
Perspective 

Urban 
Design, 
Heritage & 
Conservatio
n 

LBL 
Transport & 
Highways Costs 

Development 
Capacity 

Developm
ent 
Viability 

Phasing & 
Deliverability 

Corporate/Regener
ation Objectives Risk 

What is 
being 
assessed? 

Various 
standard TfL 
Criteria 

Performance 
of each 
option 
against a set 
of 15 
standards of 
urban 
design, 
heritage and 
conservation 
criteria 

Performance 
of each 
option 
against LIP 
objectives. 
To include 
scoring on 
traffic flow 
and air 
quality. 

The different 
costs for each 
option: Whole 
Cost of road 
build (incl. 
services 
moves); Land 
acquisition 
costs; Office 
relocation costs 

The differing 
development 
capacity (floor 
areas and unit 
numbers) for 
each option. 

The 
differing 
land/develo
pment 
values as 
applied to 
each option 

The effect of 
each option on 
the development 
programme and 
key milestone 
dates 

Effect on Council 
office 
accommodation and 
workforce; 
Performance against 
objectives outlined in 
previous plans for 
Catford (e.g. 
withdrawn Town 
Centre Plan); 
Performance against 
any other wider 
policy objectives e.g. 
GLA, Housing Zone 
etc. 

The number, 
type and 
severity of 
risk 
applicable to 
each option. 

How will it 
be 
assessed? 

Using TfL's 
own standard 
matrix 

Using LBL 
Planning's 
Placemaking 
Assessment 
Matrix 

Using the list 
of LIP 
objectives 

Using cost 
information from 
TfL, acquisition 
values from 
property advice 
to be procured, 
relocation costs 
from 
comparable 
office market 
evidence 

Performance of 
each option with 
regards to: Total 
floor areas 
provided for 
each option, 
standard % 
splits applied for 
predicted types 
of space 
(residential/non-
residential), 
average unit 
size applied. 

Using 
residual 
valuations 
based on 
the 
Developme
nt Capacity 
studies. 

Using estimated 
development 
programmes 
applied to each 
option, and 
scoring based 
on ability to 
complete 
programmes 
efficiently and 
quickly 

Using a list of 
determined criteria 
from various 
objectives as 
outlined above, and 
scoring each option 
against these criteria 

A list of risks 
will be drawn 
up and each 
option will be 
scored as to 
performance 
against these 
risks. Use 
template risk 
assessment 
matrix. 





Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Title Update on proposed changes to waste & recycling services (information item) 

Contributor Executive Director Customer Services Item 7 

Class Part 1 (open) 24 January 2017 

 
1. Summary 
 
1.1. This paper updates on the progress taken to plan and implement the new waste & recycling 

services following Mayor  & Cabinet approval to introduce new services in February 2016. 
There has been some movement in the original projections and this report outlines these.  

 
2. Purpose 
 
2.1. The purpose of this report is to update Sustainable Development Select Committee on the 

progress of the new waste and recycling services and to propose a timetable for 
implementation. 

 
3. Recommendations 
 

The Sustainable Development Select Committee is recommended to: 
 

3.1 Note the contents of this report including the progress to date. 
3.2 Note the operational implications for the new service. 
3.3 Note the proposed timetable for implementing the new services. 
3.4 Note the proposed service policies. 

 
4. Policy Context 
 
4.1. The Government has stretching recycling targets to recycle and compost 50% by 2020.  

Further, there is an increasing requirement to improve the quality as well as the quantity of 
recycling, and this is partly being facilitated through the Waste Regulations 2012. From 1st 
January 2015, this piece of legislation required local authorities to separately collect paper, 
glass, plastics and metal unless it is not necessary to do so, or it is technically, environmentally 
or economically impractical to do so. This was discussed in detail at Select Committee in 
November 2015 and updated in June 2016. 

 
4.2. The proposed new services contribute towards delivering the council’s corporate and 

sustainable community priorities, especially in respect of ‘clean, green and liveable’ and 
‘inspiring efficiency, effectiveness and equity’. 

 
5. Background 
 
5.1. Previous reports have detailed the drivers for a potential change in Lewisham’s waste & 

recycling services, but an outline of what these are, are detailed below. 
 
o Improved environmental performance – Lewisham’s recycling rate is one of the lowest 

in the country and by changing the services that are offered could have a significant 
impact on reducing waste in the first instance, increasing the amount that is recycled or 
composted and reducing the carbon footprint of waste and recycling collected and 
disposed of.  
 

o Financial – the waste & recycling services have had an efficiency review undertaken 
against the backdrop of identifying savings moving forward given the current climate of 



austerity. Further, the Council could face fines from Central Government if contribution 
to the 50% target is not improved upon. 

 
o Legislative – the key legislative drivers are ensuring compliance with the Waste 

Regulations, which include applying the Waste Hierarchy (Regulation 12) and 
separately collecting paper, glass, metals and plastics (Regulation 13). There is a 
further requirement that the authority contributes to the London and national recycling 
targets.  

 
o Future waste planning – The SELCHP Energy from Waste (EfW) contract ends in early 

2024. The contract prices for EfW tend to be much higher than other forms of waste 
treatment and with a growing population producing more waste and recycling, it is 
necessary to explore all options for managing waste and recycling effectively and 
efficiently. 
 

5.2. Resulting from the above drivers the Council modelled a number of potential service scenarios 
and the option approved at Mayor & Cabinet in February 2016 were: 
 

o Introduction of a subscription garden waste service; 
o Introduction of a weekly food waste service; 
o Reduction in the collection frequency of residual waste to fortnightly, and; 
o Keeping the recycling collections comingled and weekly. 

 
5.3. The below section provides information on progress to date with regards to the garden waste 

service and the estates lumber service. 
 

6. Garden Waste Service 
 

6.1. The garden waste subscription service was launched in February 2016. The service was 
offered at a ten month price of £45 from June 2016 until March 2017. Following an intensive 
communications campaign, subscribers at the start of the service going live in June reached 
5,657. The majority of subscribers, at that time, came from a letter delivered with Lewisham 
Life. The number of subscribers at the end of November 2016 has reached over 8,200. 
Subscribers will be contacted in the new year to renew their subscription and further 
communication will take place to enlist new subscribers. 

 
6.2. The graph below shows the tonnage that has been collected through the sack service, the 

Reuse and Recycling Centre and, from June, the new subscription service. At the end of 
November the new service had collected over 1,200 tonnes.  
 

 
 



7. Estates Lumber Service 
 

7.1. The estates lumber service was transferred to Lewisham Homes in April. The corresponding 
budget allocation for this service has reduced, contributing to the directorate’s saving target.  
 

7.2. The below section provides information on the performance monitoring and benchmarking that 
has taken place to inform the new services. 

 
8. Performance and Benchmarking 

 
8.1. Officers have looked at historic performance data to identify trends and potential issues that 

may affect the implementation of the new services, for example how much residual waste is 
being reduced and how this may impact on capacity issues when reducing the residual waste 
collection frequencies.  
 

8.2. The graph below shows that there is a general downward trend in all waste collected by the 
local authority. There is also a downward trend in the amount of residual waste collected from 
households, which is linked to an upward trend in the amount of recyclables collected from 
households. 
 

 
 

8.3. It should be noted that there has been over an 11% increase in the number of households in 
Lewisham from 110,741 in 2002/3 to 123,252 in 2015/16, and despite this growth in number 
of households, waste growth has been contained.  
 

8.4. Whilst a number of services have been introduced or efficiencies and improvements identified, 
the reason for this reduction in residual waste could also relate to a number of external factors 
such as smaller households and people producing less waste due to the economic climate.  
 

8.5. The graph also shows the recycling rate. Whilst the recycling rate has increased over the years, 
it also shows the fluctuations which could have been influenced by purchasing habits changing 
e.g. not as many newspapers, and packaging technology changing such as plastic pouches 
instead of plastic bottles. Impacts to the recycling rate are also influenced by changing 
contracts, new materials that can (or can’t) be collected as part of the contract, the impact of 
the commodities market and the subsequent effect of that on contamination levels.  
 

8.6. The street cleansing and fly tipping has been plotted to identify whether the reduction in 
residual waste has been pushed to the street cleansing service and collected as side waste or 



fly tipped waste. The graph shows that this is unlikely to be the case and that the tonnage for 
street cleansing and fly tipping has remained fairly constant for the past few years. When 
compared to household growth, levels of litter and fly tipping have reduced per household in 
real terms.  

 
8.7. In terms of moving forward tonnage and performance modelling has been undertaken, which 

shows the impact of the proposed new services on the recycling rate. The performance is 
shown in two ways, the top three bars show the impact on the kerbside recycling rate, as these 
are the services that will be impacted by the changes. The baseline modelling bar is taken from 
the original modelling in the efficiency review. The middle bar is based on the number of garden 
waste subscriptions at 15% take-up, and is the current take up of garden waste subscriptions. 
The top bar shows the rate if there is a 5% increase in the take up of garden waste 
subscriptions, the introduction of food waste and reducing the residual waste to fortnightly. The 
bottom three bars shows the impact on the recycling rate for the borough as a whole.  

 

 
 

8.8. To further assist in the understanding of impacts, best practice in rolling out services and 
mitigating factors, officers have been undertaking benchmarking of London boroughs. 
Discussions have taken place with Ealing and Croydon who have recently undertaken 
changes, as well as Bexley who have high recycling rates. Benchmarking data has also been 
collated for most of the London boroughs. 

 
8.9. Key points to come out of the benchmarking include: 
 

 Provide additional capacity for larger families and HMO properties; 

 Implement a no side waste policy; 

 There are no significant impact on levels of participation in food waste services 
when householders have to purchase their own caddy liners; 

 Use an experienced distribution company to distribute caddies; 

 Have people on the ground that can advise, assist and handle complaints in the 
initial roll out; 

 No food wastes stickers on refuse bins assists with householders using the food 
waste service; 

 Certain properties such as those on high density red routes, flats above shops and 
properties where there is no frontage should remain on a weekly residual collection; 

 Don’t assume behaviour change. 
 



8.10. These key learning points have been embedded in the implementation timetable, the 
communication plan and the policies for the new services.  
 

8.11. The below sections provide an update on the movement from the original proposal, progress 
made to date and puts forward proposals for the communications, policies and implementation 
timetable. 
 

9. Movement from original proposal 
 

9.1. The original proposal put forward and agreed at Mayor and Cabinet in February 2016 stated 
that the new service to kerbside properties would run with eight refuse vehicles, seven 
recycling vehicles and seven food and garden waste vehicles. The below table details the 
requirements of the current service, the service as agreed at Mayor & Cabinet and an updated 
service. 
 

 Current Service 

Approved Service 
at M&C 

Proposed New 
Service 

Difference between 
Approved Service and 
Proposed New Service 

Residual 
13 Vehicles  

52 Operatives 
8 Vehicles  

32 Operatives 
8 Vehicles  

32 Operatives 
None 

Recycling 
7 Vehicles  

35 Operatives 
7 Vehicles  

35 Operatives 
7 Vehicles  

35 operatives 
None 

Food & Garden 
Waste 

N/A 
7 Vehicles  

21 Operatives 
8 Vehicles  

32 Operatives 
1 Vehicle 

11 Operatives 

Net Costs £8.1m £7.7m £8.1m  

Movement from 
Current 

- -£0.4m £0m  

 
9.2. Officers have benchmarked the operational requirements with other authorities, and have 

adjusted the resources for the provision of the food and garden waste service to allow for any 
potential issues with capacity throughout a transitional period. Once the service has bedded in 
the resource requirements will be reviewed. 
 

9.3. The original approved service at Mayor & Cabinet offered a saving of £0.4m. Following the 
adjustments the service will not offer an immediate saving. 
 

9.4. However, there are potential future avoided disposal cost savings to take into account. The 
below graph demonstrates this. The disposal costs for the current service show the disposal 
costs of the service before the garden waste subscription service was introduced at just below 
£3.9m. The introduction of fortnightly collections and the food and garden waste collections 
brings the disposal costs up to £4.2m. If the service continued as is, i.e. garden waste 
subscription, weekly recycling, weekly refuse and no food, and an average market rate at 
today’s gate fees for energy from waste applied, the disposal costs would be £4.9m. 
 

9.5. Therefore if the new services aren’t implemented, the disposal costs are likely to increase. By 
implementing the new services, whilst in the short term disposal costs are slightly higher than 
the current costs, in the longer term the Council is ensuring future disposal cost avoidance. 

 



 
 
10. Weekly Food Waste Collections 

 
10.1. The weekly food waste collection service would be provided to those properties that currently 

have a wheeled bin collection, except high density red routes. Properties will receive a 23 litre 
outside food caddy and a smaller 5 litre indoor kitchen food caddy.  
 

10.2. An initial supply of biodegradable liners would be provided. Thereafter residents can purchase 
liners in supermarkets. It should be noted that the food waste will be going to an In Vessel 
Composting facility and the use of plastic bags as liners will therefore be a contaminant, 
although the use of newspaper and paper bags will be acceptable. 

 
10.3. The food waste should be presented in the 23 litre caddy at the edge of the property on the 

day of collection. The food waste should not be mixed with the garden waste. Although this will 
be going in the back of the same collection vehicle, and going to the same processing plant, 
requesting the householder presents them separately will aid the cleanliness of the garden 
waste bin and ensure that messaging in the future should disposal options change be easier. 

 
10.4. The new weekly food waste service is proposed to begin in June 2017.  

 
11. Restricting Residual Waste Collection Frequency 

 
11.1. As householders start to use the food waste service, the spare capacity in the residual (black) 

bin will increase and collection frequencies can therefore be reduced. The below chart details 
what the bin capacity has been for residents since 2002/3 over a two week period, i.e. 
householders in 2002/3 had a 240 litre refuse bin, equating to 480 litres over the two week 
period. 
 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

Current £ New Service £ No service change / Market
EFW Rate £

Disposal Costs

Residual Recycling Food & Garden



 
 

11.2. In 2004/5 55 litre recycling boxes were provided for residents to recycle paper, and in 2005/6 
householders could request a 240 litre recycling bin for their recyclables as we introduced a 
number of additional materials such as plastic bottles, glass and cans. 
 

11.3. In 2010/11 the Council rolled out to approx. 20,000 households 180 litre bins for refuse, and 
from that point the bin replacement programme stocked only 180 litre bins, which remains the 
current position today. 

 
11.4. Since 2002/3 there has been an overall capacity increase of 75% (to 2015/16), with a residual 

bin capacity reduction of 25% over the same period. 
 

11.5. The bars for 2017/18 show what the capacity will be for households when the new services 
will be implemented, and this equates to a reduction in overall capacity of 16%.  

 
11.6. However, there will be instances whereby some households are unable to cope with that bin 

capacity, for example, large families, people living in HMO’s, people with children in nappies 
or people with medical conditions. As such there would be provision to enable people to apply 
for additional capacity and the bar labelled 2017/18 L shows capacity of a 240 litre refuse bin 
and an additional food waste caddy. This will be a reduction of 3% on the capacity that they 
currently have. Although not shown in the bar above, these households can also request 
additional recycling capacity. 
 

11.7. The changes to waste & recycling services being proposed present an adjustment to the status 
quo and this is likely to result in an initial backlash or rejection by some people. However, for 
the new services to be successful, there has to be a shift in behaviour. This is particularly 
important around getting residents to use the new food waste service. Waste compositional 
analysis in 2014 showed that 38% of what was in the black bin was food waste.  
 

11.8. The potential risks around behaviour change include: 
 

 No change in recycling behaviour (undermining the benefit of the service change); 

 Deterioration in recycling behaviour, where people deliberately refuse to engage or 
find the changes too confusing; 

 Ill-feeling towards the local authority, possibly resulting in complaints; 

 Ill-feeling towards recycling processes, possibly resulting in increased cynicism about 
recycling in general, which could lead to stasis or deterioration in recycling behaviour 
in the future. 

 



11.9. In implementing the new services there is a need to recognise the triggers that may result in 
negative attitudes and behaviour, but also ensure that there is spare capacity for those that 
need it and support householders with the change through education and awareness raising. 
 

11.10. There are, of course, tangible benefits to the service change and some people will recognise 
this and be supportive of the new services. 

 
12. Weekly Recycling Collections 

 
12.1. Under the proposed service changes recycling collections will remain weekly with all the 

materials collected in the same bin.  
 

13. Communications 
 

13.1. A comprehensive communications plan has been drawn up, and incorporates lessons from 
other boroughs as well as from Resource London and the Waste Resources Action 
Programme.  
 

13.2. The communication required is for three different service changes and needs to be tightly 
controlled to ensure the messages are communicated effectively and that this instils behaviour 
change. The three service changes are: 

 
o New food waste service is being introduced to some households; 
o Collection days will be changing for some households; 
o Refuse collections will now take place fortnightly to some households. 

 
13.3. The illustration below shows the property types and how they will be affected by the service 

changes. 
 

 
 

13.4. There is external funding for some communications elements and Lewisham is working on a 
joint project with Resource London to produce communication templates for food waste and 
restricting residual waste i.e. reducing refuse collections to fortnightly. 



 
14. Policies 

 
14.1. As discussed earlier, other boroughs have implemented policies to aid the implementation and 

potential success of their service changes. The proposed policies for the new services are 
outlined below. 
 

14.2. Food Liner Policy 
 

 Free initial supply of biodegradable bags issued with food caddies. 
 

14.3. Additional Capacity Policy 
 

 If the following criteria are met then households can request additional capacity: 
o Five or more permanent residents living in the property (4 or more for HMO’s); 
o If there are two or more children in nappies; 
o If additional waste is being generated due to medical reasons (e.g. adult nappies, 

incontinence pads, cardboard boxes).  
 

 The additional capacity provided, if the householder applies, will be: 
o Larger bin provided for refuse; 
o Additional food bin; 
o Additional bin provided for recycling. 
 

14.4. Side Waste Policy 
 

 Advise resident of side waste and do not collect. 
 

14.5. Contamination Policy 
 

 Recycling – Three stage contaminated bin process. 

 Food – Resident informed to put contaminated food bin into refuse bin. 

 Garden waste – resident to remove before next collection. 

 Refuse – Resident informed that bin not emptied if too heavy or has DIY or electrical 
waste in. Resident to remove before next collection.  

 
14.6. Placement of Bin Policy 

 

 Resident to put on the edge of property for collection; 

 Resident to return on to property after collection; 

 There will be some instances where bins have to be kept on the street e.g. for 
health and safety reasons. 

 
15. Implementation Timetable 

 
15.1. The proposed timetable for rolling out the services is detailed in the table below. 
 



 
 
16. Financial Implications 

 
16.1 As a part of the 2016/17 and 2017/18 budget strategy, the Environment Division offered an 

expected saving of £1m over 2 years arising from a review of the Council’s waste strategy. To 
date, £0.6m has been successfully achieved by reducing the cost to the Council of lumber 
disposal costs from housing estates and the introduction of a garden waste service. 

 
16.2 In working towards implementing the major services changes agreed as a part of the new 

strategy, the division has identified changes to the original plan necessary to ensure a smooth 
transition to the new service.  

 
16.3 Implementing these changes, set out in paragraph 9, means that achieving the £0.4m balance 

of the savings will not be possible in the initial stages of the new service. Once the service 
transition to the new service is successfully completed, costs will be reviewed again.  

 
16.4 By this time, the garden waste service would also have been in operation for a full year and a 

clear picture of the income earned by the service will have emerged. This will enable the service 
to reassess the achievability of the balance of the savings target. 

 
17. Legal Implications 

 
17.1. The revised Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC) (“The Directive”) requires EU member 

states to set up separate waste collection where necessary and practicable.  Where waste 
paper, metal, plastic or glass has been collected separately all reasonable steps must be taken 
to keep that stream separate from other waste streams wherever this is necessary to provide 
high quality recyclables. 
 

17.2. Article 4 of The Directive sets out five steps for dealing with waste, ranked according to 
environmental impact – the ‘waste hierarchy’.  The ‘waste hierarchy’ has been transposed into 
UK law through The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 (as amended by the Waste 
(England and Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2012).  Consequently, from 1st January 2015, 
waste collection authorities, (LB Lewisham as a Local Authority is defined as a “waste collection 
authority”,) must collect waste paper, metal, plastic and glass separately.  It also imposes a 
duty on waste collection authorities, from 1st January 2015, when making arrangements for the 
collection of such waste, to ensure that those arrangements are by way of separate collection.  
 

17.3. The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality duty or 
the duty).  It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, 
sex and sexual orientation. 
 

17.4. In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 



 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act. 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
17.5. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation 

or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster good relations 
between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. It is a duty to 
have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed above.  
 

17.6. The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision and the 
circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of 
relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must understand the impact or likely impact of the 
decision on those with protected characteristics who are potentially affected by the decision. 
The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from case to case and due regard is such regard 
as is appropriate in all the circumstances. 
 

17.7. The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on the Public 
Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public 
Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have regard to the 
statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which 
deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public 
authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as 
recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless regard 
should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. 
The statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice 
and https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-
guidance  
 

17.8. The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides for 
public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:  

 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 
 Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making 
 Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities 
 Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities 
 Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities 

17.9. The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the 
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public authorities 
should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as recommended 
actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice 
on good practice. Further information and resources are available at: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-
guidance#h1 
 

18. Equalities Implications 
 
18.1. An Equalities Analysis Assessment has been conducted relating to the potential changes to 

the waste & recycling services and was detailed in the February 2016 Mayor & Cabinet Report.  
 
 
19. Environmental Implications 
 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/691
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/562
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/820
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/1461
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/838
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1


19.1. Environmental considerations have been taken into account as part of the drivers for change, 
and were detailed in the February 2016 Mayor & Cabinet Report.  

 
20. Crime & Disorder Implications 
 
20.1. There are no direct crime and disorder implications. 
 
21. Conclusion 

 
21.1. This report has updated Sustainable Development Select Committee on the progress of the 

planned waste & recycling service changes. It further proposes an implementation timetable 
of as described in Section 15. 
 

22. Background Papers and Further Information 
 
22.1. Background papers include: 

 
a) ‘Let’s Talk Rubbish’ Consultation Results & Waste Regulations Assessment for 

Proposed Changes to Waste & Recycling Service, Mayor & Cabinet Report February 
2016 

b) Consultation on Potential Waste & Recycling Service Collections, Mayor & Cabinet 
Report, July 2015 

c) Let’s Talk Rubbish Focus Group Report, October 2015 
d) Lewisham Citizen Forum Project Report, Ricardo E&E, October 2015 
e) Waste Regulations (TEEP) Assessment of Kerbside Collection Options, Anthesis, 

November 2015 
f) Equalities Analysis Assessment, November 2015 

 
22.2. For further information relating to the report, please contact Sam Kirk, Strategic Waste & 

Environment Manager on 020 8314 2076 or email sam.kirk@lewisham.gov.uk. 

mailto:sam.kirk@lewisham.gov.uk


Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Title Select Committee work programme 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 8 

Class Part 1 (open) 24 January 2017 

 
1. Purpose 
 

To advise Members of the proposed work programme for the municipal year 2016-
17 and to decide on the agenda items for the next meeting. 

 
2. Summary 
 
2.1 At the beginning of the new administration, each select committee drew up a draft 

work programme for submission to the Business Panel for consideration. 
 
2.2 The Business Panel considered the work programmes of each of the select 

committee on 24 May 2016 and agreed a co-ordinated overview and scrutiny work 
programme. However, the work programme can be reviewed at each Select 
Committee meeting so that Members are able to include urgent, high priority items 
and remove items that are no longer a priority. 

 
3. Recommendations 
 
3.1 The Committee is asked to: 
 

 note the work plan attached at Appendix B and discuss any issues arising from 
the programme;  

 specify the information and analysis required in the report for each item on the 
agenda for the next meeting, based on desired outcomes, so that officers are 
clear about what they need to provide; 

 review all forthcoming key decisions, attached at Appendix C, and consider any 
items for further scrutiny; 

 
4. The work programme 
 
4.1 The work programme for 2016-17 was agreed at the Committee’s meeting on 18 

April 2016. 
 
4.2 The Committee is asked to consider if any urgent issues have arisen that require 

scrutiny and if any existing items are no longer a priority so they can be removed 
from the work programme. Before adding additional items, each item should be 
considered against agreed criteria. The flow chart attached at Appendix A may 
help Members decide if proposed additional items should be added to the work 
programme. The Committee’s work programme needs to be achievable in terms of 
the amount of meeting time available. If the Committee agrees to add additional 
item(s) because they are urgent and high priority, Members will need to consider 



which medium/low priority item(s) should be removed in order to create sufficient 
capacity for the new item(s). 

 
5. The next meeting 
 
5.1 The following reports are scheduled for the meeting on 8 March: 
 

Agenda item Review type Link to corporate priority Priority 
 

Modern roads review: 
update 

In-depth 
review 

Clean, green and liveable High 

High streets review: 
update 

In-depth 
review 

Clean, green and liveable High 

Sustainable energy Standard item Clean, green and liveable Medium 

 
5.2 The Committee is asked to specify the information and analysis it would like to see 

in the reports for these items, based on the outcomes the Committee would like to 
achieve, so that officers are clear about what they need to provide for the next 
meeting. 

 
6. Financial implications 
 

There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

7. Legal implications 
 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year. 

 
8. Equalities implications 
 
8.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 

Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing 
the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came 
into force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

8.2 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 



8.3 There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and 
all activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration 
to this. 
 

9. Date of next meeting 
 
The date of the next meeting is Wednesday 8 March 2017. 
 
Background Documents 

 
Lewisham Council’s Constitution 

 
Centre for Public Scrutiny: the Good Scrutiny Guide 

 



Appendix A 
 

 

 



Programme of work

Work Item Type of item Priority
Strategic 

Priority

Delivery 

deadline
18-Apr-16 12-May-16 29-Jun-16 14-Sep-16 25-Oct-16 29-Nov-16 24-Jan-17 08-Mar-17

Election of the Chair and Vice-Chair
Constitutional 

requirement
High CP6 Apr

Select Committee work programme 2016/17
Constitutional 

requirement
High CP6 Ongoing

Street lighting - proposals for variable lighting as part of improving 

efficiency

Performance 

monitoring
CP3 Apr

Modern Roads review - M&C response and update In-depth review CP 3 Mar update

Catford Town Centre Regeneration quarterly updates
Performance 

Monitoring
CP3 Ongoing

Lewisham Community Trust - use of section106 and CIL
Policy 

development
CP3, CP 5 May

High Streets review - M&C response and update In-depth review CP 5 Mar update

Catford Regeneration Programme Review interim report In-depth review CP3 Jun Report

Asset Management System (AMS) and Asset Register Update
Performance 

monitoring
CP3 Jun

Waste Strategy communications plan
Performance 

monitoring
CP3 Jun

Lewisham Future Programme Standard item CP 10 Ongoing

Lewisham Cyclists' cycling strategy 
Policy 

development
CP3 Jun

Housing action zones Standard item CP6 Oct

Planning obligations and regulations - Update
Performance 

monitoring
CP3, CP5 Nov

Planning key policies and procedures
Policy 

development
CP10 Nov

Annual parking report Information item CP 3, CP5 Nov Information

Air quality action plan Information item CP3 Oct

Planning enforcement

Performance 

monitoring, policy 

development

CP10 Nov

Planning service annual monitoring report Information Item CP3, CP 5 Nov

Work and skills strategy implementation Standard item CP5 Jan  

Waste strategy implementation and performance monitoring
Performance 

monitoring
CP3 Jan Information

Animal welfare charter
Policy 

development
CP3 Jan

Sustainable energy Standard item CP 3 Mar

Item completed

Item ongoing 1) Mon 18-Apr 5) Tues 25-Oct

Item outstanding 2)  Thu 12-May 6) Tues 29-Nov

Proposed 3) Wed 29-Jun 7) Tues 24-Jan

Item added 4) Wed 14-Sep 8)  Wed 08-Mar

Sustainable Development Select Committee work programme 2016-17

Meeting Dates:



 

1 SCS 1 1 CP 1

2 SCS 2 2 CP 2

3 SCS 3 3 CP 3

4 SCS 4 4 CP 4

5 SCS 5 5 CP 5

6 SCS 6 6 CP 6

7 CP 7

8 CP 8

9 CP 9

10 CP 10

Active, healthy citizens

Inspiring efficiency, effectiveness and 

equity 

Healthy, active and enjoyable Strengthening the local economy

Dynamic and prosperous Decent homes for all

Protection of children

Caring for adults and older people

Safer

Young people's achievement and 

involvement

Empowered and responsible Clean, green and liveable

Clean, green and liveable Safety, security and a visible presence 

Shaping Our Future: Lewisham's Sustainable 

Community Strategy 2008-2020
Corporate Priorities

Priority Priority

Ambitious and achieving Community Leadership



 
  

 
 

 

  
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 

   
 

Forward Plan February 2017 - May 2017 
 
 
This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months.  
 
Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent to Kevin Flaherty, the Local Democracy Officer, at the Council 
Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

November 2016 
 

Budget Update 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

September 2016 
 

Ashmead Primary School 
expansion and Addey & 
Stanhope School expansion 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 

 
  

 

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to: 
 
(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 

decision relates; 
 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards. 

 
 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

results of consultations 
 

Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

December 2016 
 

Council Tax Base Second 
Homes Discount and Income 
Review 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

August 2016 
 

Discretionary Rate Relief 
Review 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Governing Bodies 
Reconstitution Rathfern 
Primary School 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

September 2016 
 

Lewisham Music Business 
Plan and Transfer Terms 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

January 2016 New Bermondsey Housing 11/01/17 Janet Senior, Executive   



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Zone Bid Update 
 

Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

  

April 2016 
 

New Homes Programme 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

August 2016 
 

Regionalising Adoption 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

School Health Service - Award 
Report 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

May 2016 
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2017-18 
 

18/01/17 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Council Tax Base Second 
Homes Discount and Income 

18/01/17 
Council 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 

 
  

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Review 
 

 Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

January 2017 
 

Mayoral Response Broadway 
Theatre 
 

18/01/17 
Council 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Transforming Construction 
Skills - Lewisham Construction 
Hub, Training, Apprenticeship 
and Employment Service 
 

31/01/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Transforming Construction 
Skills - Lewisham Construction 
Hub, Local Supply Chain 
Development Services 
 

31/01/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Contract Award Provision of 
School Kitchen Condition 
Surveys 
 

31/01/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Education 
Business Panel 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Animal Welfare Charter 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 

 
  

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

December 2016 
 

Caretaker properties Disposal 
and Lease Award 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

Determination of Admission 
Arrangements 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

Approval to Transfer Our Lady 
& St Philip Neri Primary School 
to Catholic Archdiocese of 
Southwark 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Results of Handypersons 
consultation 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

IT Strategy 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 

 
  

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

December 2016 
 

Library Savings Programme 
update - Manor House 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Pay Statement 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Phil Badley and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

2017/18 Budget 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Waste & Recycling Services 
Update 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Agreement to consult on 
changes to  Targeted Short 
Breaks Offer for children and 
young people with complex 
needs 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 

 
  

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

People 
 

August 2016 
 

The Wharves Deptford - 
Compulsory Purchase Order 
Resolution 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Community Equipment 
Contract Award under London 
Consortium Framework 
Agreement 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Health Visiting and Children's 
Centres - Award Report 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Award of Contract for 
Specialist Short Breaks 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Stage 1 of  2-stage 
procurement for the proposed 
expansions of Ashmead 
Primary School and Addey & 
Stanhope Secondary School 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 

 
  

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

(Mornington Centre) and to 
enter into a Pre-Construction 
Services Agreement. 
 

Children and Young 
People 
 

November 2016 
 

Young Person's Health and 
Wellbeing Service Award 
Report 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Budget Update 
 

15/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

Award of contract for Sexual 
Health clinics 
 

21/02/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

May 2016 
 

Council Budget 2017-18 
 

22/02/17 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Pay Statement 
 

22/02/17 
Council 

Phil Badley and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 

 
  

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

November 2016 
 

Opting in to the Public Sector 
Audit Appointments Limited 
(PSAA) framework 
 

22/02/17 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Jonathan 
Slater 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Brasted Close development 
 

01/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

New Homes Programme 
 

01/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Lewisham Homes Management 
Agreement and Articles of 
Association 
 

01/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Proposed  Heathside and 
Lethbridge Estate, Lewisham - 
Phase 6 Compulsory Purchase 
Order 2017 
 

01/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Lewisham Construction Hub 
Contracts 
 

01/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 

 
  

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

December 2016 
 

Statutory Funerals Contract 
 

14/03/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

Award of contract for Sexual 
Health e-service 
 

14/03/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Lewisham Place Planning 
Strategy 2017-2022 
 

22/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

Catford Regeneration 
Programme Parts 1 and 2 
 

22/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

August 2016 
 

Community Premises 
Management Contract Award 
 

19/04/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 

 
  

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community 
 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

      

      


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2016
	2 Declarations of interest
	3 Responses from Mayor and Cabinet
	Response to SDSC - Catford Regeneration Programme, 11/01/2017 Mayor and Cabinet

	4 Work and skills strategy implementation
	04 Appendix A - work and skills strategy 2016-18
	04 Appendix B - Work and skills strategy action plan 2016-2018

	5 Animal welfare charter
	6 Catford Town Centre update
	06 Appendix 1 - Catford Regeneration Programme Update and Housing Zone (1)
	06 Appendix 2 - Catford Regeneration Programme Update
	06 Appendix 3 – A205 Realignment Top Level Assessment Criteria

	7 Waste and recycling services update
	8 Select Committee work programme
	08 Appendix B - work plan 240117
	08 Appendix C - key decision plan 240117


